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General Corporate Information

Headquarters, Branch Offices, and Divisions

ANNUAL MEETING
The annual meeting of shareholders of F&M Bank Corp. 
will be held on Saturday, May 18, 2024, at 5:00 PM at  
The Barn at Klines Mill, 5379 Klines Mill Road, Linville, Virginia 
22834. Dinner will be served immediately following the 
meeting. All shareholders are invited to attend.

STOCK INFORMATION
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 3,485,570 
shares of Common Stock outstanding, which were held by 
approximately 2,583 shareholders of record. The Company’s 
Common Stock is quoted on the OTC Market’s OTCQX tier 
under the symbol FMBM.                     

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Yount, Hyde & Barbour, P.C.
50 South Cameron Street
Winchester, VA 22601

REGULATORY AND SECURITIES COUNSEL
Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP
4101 Lake Boone Trail, Suite 300
Raleigh, NC 27607

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
A copy of F&M Bank Corp.’s Audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023, 
and 2022 is available without charge to shareholders upon 
written request to Lisa F. Campbell, Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, F&M Bank, P.O. Box 1111, Timberville, 
VA 22853, and is on our website at fmbankva.com. 

This Annual Report and the above referenced Audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements have not been reviewed or 
confirmed for accuracy or relevance by the FDIC or any other 
governmental agency. 

HEADQUARTERS

Corporate Headquarters 
205 S. Main Street
Timberville, VA 22853
(540) 896-8941

BRANCH OFFICES

BRIDGEWATER
100 Plaza Drive
Bridgewater, VA 22812

BROADWAY
126 North Timberway (Rte. 259)
Broadway, VA 22815

EDINBURG
300 Stoney Creek Boulevard
Edinburg, VA 22824

ELKTON
127 West Rockingham Street
Elkton, VA 22827

HARRISONBURG

Coffman’s Corner
2030 Legacy Lane
Harrisonburg, VA 22801

Crossroads
80 Cross Keys Road
Harrisonburg, VA 22801

STAUNTON

Myers Corner
30 Gosnell Crossing
Staunton, VA 24401

N. Augusta Street
2813 N. Augusta Street
Staunton, VA 24401

STUARTS DRAFT
2782 Stuarts Draft Highway
Stuarts Draft, VA 24477

TIMBERVILLE
165 New Market Road
Timberville, VA 22853

WAYNESBORO
2701 W. Main Street
Waynesboro, VA 22980

WINCHESTER

Amherst Street
1738 Amherst Street
Winchester, VA 22601

Old Town
3 South Cameron Street
Winchester, VA 22601

Loan Production Office
45 E. Boscawen Street
Winchester, VA 22601
   
WOODSTOCK
161 South Main Street
Woodstock, VA 22664

DIVISIONS

Automotive Dealer Finance
4759 Spotswood Trail 
Penn Laird, VA 22846

F&M Mortgage
2040 Deyerle Avenue
Suite 207
Harrisonburg, VA 22801

VS TITLE OFFICES

2040 Deyerle Avenue
Suite 103
Harrisonburg, VA 22801

154 Hansen Road
Suite 202-C
Charlottesville, VA 22911
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IMPORTANT NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: This report contains forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements generally relate 
to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance or business. They 
usually can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as “believes,” “expects,” or “are expected to,” 
“plans,” “projects,” “goals,” “estimates,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “intends to,” “outlook” or “anticipates,” or 
variations of these and similar words. Forward-looking statements are based on current management  
expectations and, by their nature, are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ  
materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Factors which may  
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in such  
forward-looking statements include those identified in the  
Company’s most recent Form 10-K and  
subsequent SEC filings.
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The past year, in many ways, represented a new beginning for 
F&M. I am extremely proud of the dedication and commitment 
our employees put forth in serving you and our communities, 
as we positioned our bank for the future.

When looking back at 2023, there are meaningful financial 
highlights, specifically, that we grew loans by $78.5 million and 
deposits by $49.9 million. Even with this growth in loans and 
deposits, our earnings were impacted due to the challenges 
of high interest rates, inflation, economic uncertainty, and 
nonrecurring expenses.

Other accomplishments for 2023 include the renovation 
and modernization of our Woodstock office, approximately 

Dear Shareholders, Customers, 
Employees, and Friends:

Mike Wilkerson
Chief Executive Officer

“I am extremely proud 
of the dedication 

and commitment our 
employees put forth 

in serving you and our 
communities, as we 

position our bank  
for the future.”
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a $700,000 investment in this legacy market that continues 
to show steady organic growth. We also opened our first 
full-service office in Winchester, a $2.5 million investment 
that builds upon our successful 2021 expansion into that 
community.

In 2023, we faced industry challenges that included high 
interest rates, which have increased eleven times since March 
17, 2022, their highest and longest sustained level in twenty-
one years. Add to this, the impact of inflation levels that 
peaked at 9.1% in mid-2022 and averaged 6.4% in 2023. The 
current outlook for interest rates is that they will remain at, or 
close to, their current levels for most of 2024, which continues 
to create significant margin pressure on the banking industry, 
as well as slower loan demand.

In my 42-year banking career, I have learned many important 
lessons. Two that resonate with me during our current times 
are: “Waiting for things to change is not an effective business 
strategy,” and “As a leader you make decisions based upon what is 
best over the long term,” – which I refer to as “driving by looking 

out the windshield.”  This past year we 
took a top-down approach and reviewed 
all business lines and operations within F&M Bank. 
As a result, we made decisions intended to position F&M Bank 
to generate “sufficient and sustainable profit,” our number one 
priority, going forward. As part of this initiative, we improved 
operations and reduced expenses. At the same time, we 
reinvested in key areas, such as our branch network, by adding 
service staff to provide improved customer service. And we 
invested in technology to meet the needs of customers—
when, where, and how they prefer.

The combination of dedicated employees and up-to-date 
technology is critical in meeting the needs of our customers 
now and in the future. During the past year, we enhanced 
the capabilities of our Core Banking System and invested 
in all of our markets by implementing a new “smart ATM” 
network. This includes our Timberville Corporate Office and 
fourteen branch locations. These fifteen ATMs give customers 
the ability to conduct most banking transactions at their 
convenience—24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year.

Mike Wilkerson
Chief Executive Officer

The F&M Bank Team
February 19, 2024
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Our investment in technology has also allowed us to better 
serve our commercial customers, through offering more 
advanced treasury products, and to be creative in supporting 
the farming community. During 2023, we established a 
partnership with the Shenandoah Valley Produce Auction in 
Dayton, Virginia. This partnership included the installation 
of our sixteenth “smart ATM,” resulting in our providing 
convenient access to F&M Bank directly in the local farming 
community.  

If I point to what I am particularly proud of in 2023, it is our 
team . . . our people. They are talented and they are community 
minded. They are living examples of what community banking 
means. One of the things that impresses me about our people 
is their “spirit of volunteerism.” They understand we are building 
and sustaining a community bank, and also helping to build 
and sustain the communities in which we live. At just about 
any community effort within our marketplace, you’ll find one 
or a host of F&M team members involved—walking or running 

for a local cause, raising money, gathering food donations, or 
hammering a nail—serving our communities through what 
we refer to as “Deeds and Dollars.”

In closing, 2023 was not an easy year. Our resulting earnings 
were not acceptable to me or to others on our team. Since I 
became CEO last April, our number one goal has been, and 
will continue to be, to generate “sufficient and sustainable 
profitability.” We have taken steps to position our bank to 
do so, in order to provide a meaningful return to you, our 
shareholders, those who trust in us and believe in the future of 
F&M Bank. In order to do that, we will take care of business—
providing banking and great customer service to individuals 
and businesses—and do so in a manner that is consistent with 
our community bank-focused culture and values.

On behalf of everyone here, thank you for your investment, 
trust, and support in F&M Bank Corp. If you bank with us, your 
business is appreciated. Banking with us is one of the best 

Executive Management Team, L to R:  
Lisa Campbell, Kevin Russell, 
Jason Withers, Mike Wilkerson, 
Paul Eberly, Melody Emswiler, 
Charles Driest, Barton Black



 2 02 3 F & M  B A N K  C O R P.  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 7

ways for you to support your investment. If you do not bank 
with us yet, we hope you will do so soon. Stop by or call any 
one of our offices. We’ll be glad to help. 

Please plan to attend our Annual Meeting on Saturday,  
May 18, 2024, at 5:00 PM at The Barn at Klines Mill, 5379 Klines 
Mill Road, Linville, Virginia 22834. We look forward to seeing 
you and to enjoying dinner with you immediately following 
the meeting. During the meeting, we will share with you our 
2024 progress to-date.

Sincerely,

 
Mike Wilkerson 
Chief Executive Officer

“We have taken 
steps intended to 
position our bank to 
generate sufficient and 
sustainable profitability 
in order to provide a 
meaningful return to 
you, our shareholders, 
those who trust in 
us and believe in the 
future of F&M.”
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
 

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of F&M Bank Corp.
 
We have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of F&M Bank Corp. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (not presented 
herein); and in our report, dated March 27, 2024, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated 
financial statements.
 
In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived.
 
 

Roanoke, Virginia
March 27, 2024
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Key Financial Graphs
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Selected Financial Highlights 
          
           
 
                           As of or for the Year Ended December 31,

   2023     2022  2021       2020            2019    
                                  (Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
Operating Data:      
Total interest income  $        56,326 $         42,139   $        35,576   $        36,792   $        38,210  
Total interest expense  24,665            7,245         4,302         5,728           6,818 
Net interest income  31,661  34,894   31,274   31,064   31,392 
Provision for (recovery of) credit losses  1,025               866         (2,821)          3,300           7,405 
Net interest income after provision  
  for (recovery of) credit losses  30,636  34,028   34,095   27,764   23,987  
Noninterest income   10,154  11,292   13,261   13,941   10,963 
Noninterest expense    38,765       36,522      35,295      31,670      30,561  
Income tax expense (benefit)  (746) 480 1,323 1,142 (250)
Net income attributable 
  to noncontrolling interest    -   - - (105) (130)
Net income attributable
  to F&M Bank Corp.   $           2,771 $           8,318 $        10,738 $          8,788 $          4,509 

Per Share Data:          
 Earnings per share - basic   $             0.80 $             2.41 $             3.25 $             2.66 $             1.32
          
Weighted average shares outstanding:       
 Basic  3,476,326  3,449,343   3,245,086   3,199,883   3,189,288    

Selected Year-End Balance Sheet Data:         
 Total assets  $   1,294,596 $   1,245,902   $   1,219,342   $      966,930   $      813,999  
 Loans - held for sale   1,119  1,373   4,887   58,679   66,798  
 Loans  822,092  743,604   662,421   661,329   603,425  
 Allowance for credit losses  8,321  7,936   7,748   10,475   8,390  
 Deposits   1,133,236  1,083,377   1,080,295   818,582   641,709  
 Borrowings  66,932  76,890   21,772   33,202   63,201  
 Shareholders’ equity  78,323  70,792   100,456   95,629   91,575  
        
Selected Average Balances:         
 Total assets   $   1,270,359 $   1,234,341   $  1,094,569   $      921,284   $     796,871   
 Loans - held for sale   1,246  3,130   3,844   45,784   58,307  
 Loans  778,631  686,524   667,082   659,109   635,110  
 Total interest-earning assets  1,192,009  1,158,414   1,046,095   863,072   726,586  
 Deposits  1,105,468  1,100,632   951,448   739,757   611,312  
 Borrowings  66,097  38,872   28,770   74,168   78,180  
 Total interest-bearing liabilities   904,535  847,252   716,307   610,613   523,661  
 Shareholders’ equity  71,936  79,381   99,093   92,875   91,488  



 2 02 3 F & M  B A N K  C O R P.  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 11

Selected Financial Highlights 
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Noninterest expense    38,765       36,522      35,295      31,670      30,561  
Income tax expense (benefit)  (746) 480 1,323 1,142 (250)
Net income attributable 
  to noncontrolling interest    -   - - (105) (130)
Net income attributable
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 Basic  3,476,326  3,449,343   3,245,086   3,199,883   3,189,288    
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 Total assets  $   1,294,596 $   1,245,902   $   1,219,342   $      966,930   $      813,999  
 Loans - held for sale   1,119  1,373   4,887   58,679   66,798  
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 Total assets   $   1,270,359 $   1,234,341   $  1,094,569   $      921,284   $     796,871   
 Loans - held for sale   1,246  3,130   3,844   45,784   58,307  
 Loans  778,631  686,524   667,082   659,109   635,110  
 Total interest-earning assets  1,192,009  1,158,414   1,046,095   863,072   726,586  
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                            As of or for the Year Ended December 31,   

      2023     2022    2021          2020     2019       

                                                                   (Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
Selected Performance Ratios:        
 Return on average assets  0.22% 0.67% 0.98% 0.95% 0.57%
      Return on average equity  3.85% 10.48% 10.84% 9.46% 4.93% 
 Net interest spread   2.01% 2.79% 2.81% 3.33% 3.97% 
 Net interest margin  2.67% 3.03% 3.00% 3.61% 4.33% 
 Noninterest income to average assets  0.80% 0.91% 1.21% 1.51% 1.38% 
 Noninterest expense to average assets  3.05% 2.96% 3.22% 3.44% 3.84% 
         
Asset Quality Ratios:         
 Nonperforming loans to period-end loans 0.79% 0.30% 0.83% 0.99% 0.95% 
 Allowance for credit losses to period-end loans 1.01% 1.07% 1.17% 1.58% 1.39% 
 Ratio of allowance for credit losses 
     to nonperforming loans  128.63% 350.84% 140.67% 160.24% 146.45% 
 Nonperforming assets to total assets  0.50% 0.18% 0.45% 0.68% 0.89% 
 Net charge-offs (recoveries) to average loans 0.19% 0.10% (0.01%) 0.18% 0.67% 
          
Capital Ratios (Bank Only):         
 Total risk-based capital  11.68% 13.64% 15.00% 14.81% 14.55% 
 Tier 1 risk-based capital  11.68% 12.70% 13.95% 13.55% 13.30% 
 CET 1 risk-based capital  12.58% 12.70% 13.95% 13.55% 13.30% 
 Leverage  8.13% 8.22% 8.62% 9.93% 10.89% 
         
Other Data:        
 Number of banking offices  14 13 13 11 14 
 Number of full-time equivalent employees 151 143 152 151 173

     
 



12 2 02 3 F & M  B A N K  C O R P.  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

F&M Bank Corp. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022
ASSETS (Dollars in thousands)

Cash and due from banks $                          19,790                $                          17,926                
Money market funds and interest-bearing deposits in other banks 178 687
Federal funds sold               3,749               16,340 
      Cash and cash equivalents 23,717 34,953

Securities:
     Held to maturity, at amortized cost - fair value of $112 in 2022 - 125
     Available for sale, at fair value 368,674 392, 095

     Other investments 10,883 11,317
Loans held for sale, at fair value 1,119 1,373
Loans held for investment, net of deferred fees and costs 822,092 743,604
     Less: allowance for credit losses (8,321)              (7,936)
          Net loans held for investment 813,771 735,668

Bank premises and equipment, net 23,635 19,587
Other real estate owned 55 -
Interest receivable 5,034 3,995
Goodwill 3,082 3,082
Bank owned life insurance 22,878 23,554
Other assets 21,748               20,153                 
          TOTAL ASSETS $                  1,294,596 $                  1,245,902

LIABILITIES

Deposits:
     Noninterest bearing $                       264,254 $                       293,596
     Interest bearing 868,982             789,781
           Total deposits 1,133,236          1,083,377

Short-term debt 60,000 70,000
Long-term debt 6,932 6,890
Other liabilities 16,105               14,843              
         TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,216,273          1,175,110

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock $5 par value, 6,000,000 shares authorized,  
     3,485,570 and 3,456,237 shares issued and outstanding 17,263 17,149
Additional paid in capital – common stock 11,043 10,577
Retained earnings 81,034 83,078
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (31,017)              (40,012)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 78,323               70,792
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $                  1,294,596 $                  1,245,902
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F&M Bank Corp. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

December 31,
2023 2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME
     Interest and fees on loans held for investment $                   47,957 $                     34,268                      
     Interest from loans held for sale 88 106
     Interest from money market funds and federal funds sold 594 190
     Interest from debt securities 7,687                 7,575
     Total interest income 56,326               42,139

INTEREST EXPENSE
     Total interest on deposits 21,177 5,735
     Interest from short-term debt 3,029 760
     Interest from long-term debt 459                    750
     Total interest expense 24,665                 7,245

NET INTEREST INCOME 31,661               34,894

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES 1,025 866
NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES 30,636 34,028

NONINTEREST INCOME
     Service charges on deposit accounts 1,029 1,062
     Investment services and insurance income 1,732 1,472
     Mortgage banking income 1,973 3,024
     Title insurance income  1,334 1,578
     Net investment securities losses - (2,852)
     Gain on sale of limited partnership investment 232 3,785
     Other operating income 3,854                 3,223
     Total noninterest income 10,154                 11,292

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
     Salaries and benefits 23,000 21,754
     Occupancy and equipment expense 2,763 2,482
     Telecommunication and data processing expense 2,863 3,116
     Other operating expenses  10,139  9,170
     Total noninterest expenses 38,765 36,522

Income before income taxes 2,025 8,798
Income tax (benefit) expense (746)                    480
Net Income $                    2,771 $                       8,318

Per Common Share Data
     Net income $                      0.80 $                         2.41
     Cash dividends on common stock $                      1.04 $                         1.04
Weighted average common shares outstanding 3,476,326 3,449,343
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Corporate Board of Directors

Ray Burkholder
Owner
Balzer and Associates, Inc. 

Larry Caplinger
Chief Lending Officer (Retired)
F&M Bank

Hannah Hutman
Partner & Creditor/Debtor Attorney
Hoover Penrod, PLC

Anne Keeler
Vice President for Finance and Treasurer 
(Retired)
Bridgewater College

Michael Pugh
Chairman of the Board
F&M Bank Corp.
President
Old Dominion Realty, Inc.
President
Colonial Appraisal Service, Inc. 

Chris Runion
President
Eddie Edwards Signs, Inc.

Daphyne Saunders Thomas
Professor 
Department of Finance and Business Law
James Madison University

Mike Wilkerson
Chief Executive Officer
F&M Bank Corp. and F&M Bank

John Willingham, CPA
President
Stoneridge Companies

Dean Withers
Vice Chairman of the Board
F&M Bank Corp.
President & CEO (Retired)
F&M Bank

Peter Wray
Principal Broker
Triangle Realtors

 L to R: Ray Burkholder, Daphyne Saunders Thomas, 
Dean Withers, Michael Pugh, Mike Wilkerson,  
Peter Wray, Larry Caplinger, John Willingham,  
Anne Keeler, Hannah Hutman Not pictured: Chris Runion
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Local Advisory Boards         

AGRICULTURAL LENDING   

Beth Bazzle
Owner
Mountain Valley Farm
Broadway

Doug Berry, CPA
Owner
Douglas L. Berry Accounting  
  and Tax Service 
Wolf Run Farms, LLC
Elkton

John Bowman
Realtor and Auctioneer
Old Dominion Realty
Harrisonburg
Bowman Auctions
Dayton

Jared Burner
Vice President
Trio Farms, Inc.
Owner 
Burner’s Beef, LLC
Luray

Jeff Germroth
Manager
Whitesel Brothers, Inc.
Chairman of the Board
Rockingham Petroleum
Harrisonburg

Levi Gore
Manager
Gore’s Meat
Stephen City

Bill Meyerhoeffer
Dairy Nutritionist
Bridgewater

Brennan Miller
Farm Manager
Miller Farm
Hinton

Larry Powell
Beef Farmer
Owner/Operator
L. P. Solutions
Fort Defiance

Rick Reeves
Turkey Farmer
G&M Sales, Inc.
Mt. Solon

Brian Showalter
Co-Owner
Integrity Insurance
Weyers Cave

Buff Showalter
Vice President
Poultry Specialties, Inc.
Dayton

Kim Showalter
Bookkeeper
Bridgewater

Kenny Unger
Owner
Clearbrook Feed & Seed
Berryville Farm & Pet Supply, 
  LLC
Clearbrook

Byron Wightman, DVM
Veterinarian
Edinburg

AUGUSTA COUNTY

Richard “Dickie” Bell
Retired Representative
Virginia 20th District House 
  of Delegates
Staunton

Carolyn Bragg
Retired Vice Chairman
Augusta County Board of 
  Supervisors
Verona

Joel Carter
Founder and Managing Partner
Verdant Heights Global, LLC
Waynesboro

Roger Decker
Principal, Broker, and Owner
Decker Realty
Staunton

Meineka Garber
Chief Operations Officer
Community Foundation of   
  the Central Blue Ridge
Staunton 

Larry Howdyshell
Owner
Scenic View Farms
Mt. Solon
Member
Augusta County Planning 
  Commission
Mt. Solon 

Steve McDonough
Owner
McDonough Toyota
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Greg See
Self-Employed
Verona

Jeff Slaven
Owner
Cattleman’s Supply
Weyers Cave

Rick Williams
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Thomas White, CPA
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  & Cannaday, P.C.
Staunton

Angela V. Whitesel
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Real Estate Broker 
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Gary Crummett
Owner
Gary Crummett & Sons, LLC
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Alisa Eberly
Realtor
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Ronald Flores
Realtor
Funkhouser Real Estate 
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Jeremy Litwiller
Associate Broker
Kline May Realty
Cottonwood Commercial
Harrisonburg

Jill McGlaughlin
President
Classic Kitchen & Bath
Harrisonburg

JM Monger
Owner
R S Monger & Sons, Inc. 
Harrisonburg

Kathie See
Realtor
Kline May Realty
Broadway

JM Snell
Executive Vice President
Valley Renovators, Inc.
Penn Laird

Nick Whitelock
Realtor
Massanutten Realty
Elkton

Scott Williams
Managing Partner
Crescent Development 
  Group
Staunton
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HARRISONBURG/
ROCKINGHAM

Seth Berkey
President
Partners Excavating 
  Company
Harrisonburg

Jack Broaddus
Retired President & CEO
Sunnyside Retirement
Harrisonburg

Quinton Callahan
Partner, Business &  
  Construction Attorney
Clark & Bradshaw, P.C.
Harrisonburg

Christian Herrick
CEO
Randy’s Do It Best 
  Hardware
Timberville

Braydon Hoover
Director of Development & 
  Annual Giving
Eastern Mennonite 
  University
Harrisonburg

Lindsay King 
Marketing Lecturer
James Madison University
Harrisonburg

Byard Luebben
Owner
Edge-ITM Inc.
Harrisonburg

Tish McCoy-Ntiamoah
Owner
PrePopsterous
Bridgewater

Andy Myers
CEO
Dick Myers Chrysler Dodge 
  Jeep Ram
Harrisonburg

Danielle Ropp   
President
SFS Tools & Safety 
Harrisonburg

Abbey Dobes Smith
Owner
Siren Song Marketing 
  Group
Verona

Renee Whitmore
Associate Broker, Realtor
Old Dominion Realty
Penn Laird

WINCHESTER

Jackie Bates
Executive Vice President 
Annandale Millwork and 
  Allied Systems
Winchester

Erik Beatley
President
Enterprise Hospitality 
  Group
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Founder/Executive Director
I’m Just Me Movement
Councilwoman
Town of Stephens City
Stephens City

Hal Duff
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Emmart Oil Company
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Owner/Certified Diversity 
  Executive
GTH Consulting, LLC
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Nicole Klebieko
President
PRK Drilling & Blasting, Inc. 
Winchester

Jeanne Mezzatesta
Realtor
Colony Realty
Winchester

F. William Perry
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Perry Engineering
Winchester

Madelyn Rodriguez
Discharge Planner
Valley Health
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FIVE YEARS
Jacob Baugher
Renee Hartless
Nicky Lam
Lori Meinhold
Rhonda Sharp
Kimberly Turner

TEN YEARS
Veronica Amato
James Beckman
Ashley Lam
Dianne Nelson
Charles Nesler
Carlton Sampson
Holly Thorne
Erin Williams

FIFTEEN YEARS
Candy Barkley
Melanie Drumheller
Teri Hasley
Karen Rose
Kevin Russell

TWENTY YEARS
Kimberly Breeden
Christina Humphries
Tina Weaver

TWENTY-FIVE YEARS
Teresa Helmick

THIRTY-FIVE YEARS
Kathy Grubbs
Anthony Keyser

STAFF
SERVICE 
AWARDS
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Management Team and Staff
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Executive Vice President
Chief Human Resources Officer
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President
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Executive Vice President
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F&M Bank Employees

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
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Sara Berry
Area Market Manager
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Katherine Preston
Valley Market Executive
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Jonathan Reimer
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  Manager I
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Craig Richards
Director of Risk Management
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Karen Rose
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  Officer
Deposit Operations

John Sargent 
North Valley Market Executive
Winchester

Cynthia Sherman
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Loan Operations

Krista Suter
Finance Director
Administration

Holly Thorne
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Marketing
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  Leader
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

VICE PRESIDENT

Amy Channell
Branch Manager
Broadway

Robyn Good
Treasury Management Officer
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Kathy Grubbs
Collections Manager
Dealer Finance

Chris Gunter
Consumer Real Estate Loan 
  Specialist
F&M Mortgage

Renee Hartless
Branch Manager
Myers Corner/Staunton

Teri Hasley
Deposit Operations Manager
Deposit Operations

Teresa Helmick
Branch Manager III
Elkton

Calen Jansen
Investments Representative
Investment Services

Jacob Mowry
Marketing Manager
Marketing

Charles Nesler
IT Manager
IT

Erica Sayers
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  Manager
Myers Corner/Staunton

Brooke Zirk
Commercial Relationship 
  Manager I
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT

Saul Castaneda 
Human Resources Manager
Human Resources

Jason Crum
Branch Manager I
Stuarts Draft

Joey Dove
Branch Manager
Coffman’s Corner/
Harrisonburg

Jessica Fletcher
Dealer Relationship Manager I
Dealer Finance

Trina George
Branch Manager
Woodstock/Edinburg

Alice Grow
Loan Operations Manager
Loan Operations

Amanda Hensley
New Accounts Coordinator
Deposit Operations

Kristin Jackson
Talent and Development 
  Coordinator
Human Resources

Anthony Keyser
Network Administrator
IT

Ashley Lam
Branch Manager III
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Brenton Langston
Credit Manager
Credit Administration

Eduardo Santiago Lopez
Branch Manager
Amherst/Winchester 

Ashley McClure
Branch Manager II
Bridgewater

Daniel Scott
Commercial Relationship 
  Manager I
Myers Corner/Staunton

Angela Smith
Branch Manager
North Augusta/Staunton

Benjamin Thompson
Commercial Relationship 
  Manager I
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

BANK OFFICER

Candy Barkley
Corporate Secretary 
Administration

Robin Layman
Branch Coordinator
Edinburg

Yvette McCoy
Loan Processor II
Loan Operations

Dianne Nelson
Branch Coordinator
Bridgewater

Donna O’Byrne
Investments Representative
Investment Services

Katlyn Robertson
Assistant Branch Manager
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Breanna Rodgers
Assistant Branch Manager
Coffman’s Corner/
Harrisonburg
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Niki Secrist
BSA Officer
Deposit Operations

Jill Taylor
Operations Supervisor
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Christy Trail
Branch Coordinator
Woodstock

STAFF

Kelly Alger
Business Relationship Specialist II
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Trey Alger
Lead Branch Specialist
Broadway

Deonta Allen-Wright
Branch Specialist
Coffman’s Corner/
Harrisonburg

Debbie Baker
Branch Specialist
Timberville

Jaezlyn Baker
Branch Specialist
Woodstock

Jacob Baugher
Facilities Assistant
Facilities

Cathy Beam
Accounting Specialist II
Administration

James Beckman
Courier
Administration

Katrina Bowman
Operations Specialist I
Deposit Operations

Kimberly Breeden
Business Relationship Specialist
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Tara Byers
Lead Branch Specialist
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Kristina Callender
Lead Branch Specialist
Waynesboro

Glenda Campbell
Branch Specialist
Stuarts Draft

Samuel Alvarez Ceballos
Credit Analyst
Credit Administration

Jessica Chandler
Deposit Operations Specialist
Deposit Operations

Rachel Dale
Credit Analyst
Credit Administration

Jill Davis
Branch Coordinator
Stuarts Draft

Michael Deeds
Courier
Administration

Destiney Dellinger
Operations Specialist
Deposit Operations

April Diaz
Branch Specialist
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Maddy Drake
Branch Specialist
Edinburg

Cathy Duncan
Assistant Branch Manager
Broadway

Sandra Espinal
Branch Specialist
Broadway

Christian Everidge
Business Relationship Specialist
Myers Corner/Staunton

Desma Flagle
Head Teller
Edinburg

Lori Flick
Senior Loan Processor
Loan Operations

Doris Funk
Branch Specialist
Timberville

Melissa Funkhouser
Operations Specialist I
Deposit Operations

Judy Getz
Operations Specialist III
Deposit Operations

Mason Gilmer
Branch Coordinator
Myers Corner/Staunton

Mary Gira
Teller II
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Felicia Goode
Lending Processor
Dealer Finance

Ashley Griffith
Senior Teller
Elkton

Jessica Guyer
BSA Support Specialist I
Deposit Operations

Saera Harlow
Branch Specialist
Stuarts Draft

Shelby Harper
Lead Branch Specialist
North Augusta/Staunton

Hannah Sweeney
Assistant Branch Manager
Timberville

Dennis Hohenstein
Courier
Administration

Christina Humphries
Teller II
Bridgewater

Bimansha “Beam” Huseni
Teller
Bridgewater

Aaron Johns
Branch Specialist
Waynesboro

Kaley Kyger
Credit Analyst
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Rebecca “Nicky” Lam
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Dealer Finance

Taylore Life
Branch Specialist
Elkton

Liliya “Lily” Mazur
Accounting Specialist
Finance

Eva Meadows
Branch Specialist
Bridgewater

Kiara Mendez
Branch Specialist
Amherst/Winchester

Robin Miller
Loan Operations Assistant
Loan Operations

Maria Cortes Miramontes
Branch Specialist
Amherst/Winchester

Sarah Osborn
Branch Specialist
Myers Corner/Staunton

Tonja Painter
Cash Management II
Coffman’s Corner/
Harrisonburg

Bri Perez
Lead Branch Specialist
Amherst/Winchester

Gail Pryde 
Business Relationship Specialist II
Winchester

Donna Randolph
Operations Specialist III
Deposit Operations

Eddie Reid
Courier
Administration

Carla Rhodes
Lead Branch Specialist
Coffman’s Corner/
Harrisonburg

Ashley Riggleman
IRA Coordinator
Deposit Operations

Teresa Ritchie
Head Teller
Timberville

Justina Rutherford
Collections Manager
Credit Administration

Carlton Sampson 
Courier
Administration

Alma Azpeitia Santiago
Branch Specialist
Crossroads/Harrisonburg

Robert “Bob” Scott
Courier
Administration

Matthew Sengul
Lender I
Dealer Finance
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Hayley Sfarnas
Branch Specialist
Woodstock

Rhonda Sharp
Loan Processor II
Loan Operations

Jenny Shifflett
Assistant Branch Manager
Elkton

Jessica Shifflett
Branch Specialist
Elkton

Terri Shiflett
Branch Specialist
Edinburg

Allison Sicheri
Branch Specialist
North Augusta/Staunton

Samantha Siever
Customer Service Coordinator 
Deposit Operations

Amy Silvious
Branch Specialist
Broadway

Torie Smallwood
Lead Branch Specialist
Woodstock

Berlin Smith
Custodian
Broadway

Dana Smith
Lead Branch Specialist
Elkton

Jessica Smith
Lead Branch Specialist
Bridgewater

Kathryn Smith
Custodian
Broadway

Maura Stief
Branch Specialist
Bridgewater

Isaac Stroupe
Branch Specialist
Timberville

Jason Taylor
Facilities Assistant
Facilities

Lisa Taylor
Branch Specialist
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Kimberly Turner
Lending Processor
Dealer Finance

Cindy Ware
Courier
Administration

Tina Weaver
Business Relationship  
  Specialist II
Timberville

Scott Williams
Courier
Administration

Lynette Wine
Operations Specialist IV
Deposit Operations

Fallon Wright
Retail Loan Administrator
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SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

Terri Bradley
Operations
Mortgage Operations

STAFF

Gervasio Amato
Loan Partner
Production

Veronica Amato
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Jordan Branner
Mortgage Advisor
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Ashley Brown
Mortgage Advisor Assistant
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Senior Mortgage Advisor
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Dianna Clemmer
Branch Manager
Operations
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  Specialist
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Melanie Drumheller
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Tina Eppard
Post Closer
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Wendy Guzman
Loan Processor
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Jonathan Ischinger
Senior Mortgage Advisor
Production

Linda Labbe
Junior Underwriter
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Tina Lantz
Mortgage Advisor
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Jessica Luce
Loan Processor
Operations

Diane Oswald
Administrative Assistant
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Cynthia Rice
Mortgage Underwriter
Operations

Monica Shifflett
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Operations

Tonja Showalter
Senior Mortgage Advisor
Production

Dave Sweeney
Mortgage Advisor
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Patrick Wade
Mortgage Underwriter
Operations

VS Title Employees

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
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President
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STAFF

Michele Carter
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Harrisonburg

Darlene Cowart
Closing Agent
Harrisonburg

Devan Deeds
Title Examiner
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Mari Gambino
Closing Agent
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Title Examiner
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Karen McIntyre
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Closing Agent
Charlottesville

Mary Morris
Title Insurance Agent
Harrisonburg

Joseph Terrana
Branch Manager
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Jeanie Turner
Title Insurance Agent
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Erin Williams
Lead Closing Agent
Harrisonburg
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PART I 
 
Item 1.  Business. 
 
Business 
 
F & M Bank Corp. (the “Company”), incorporated in Virginia in 1983, is a one-bank holding company under the Bank 
Holding Company Act of 1956 that has elected to become a financial holding company.  The Company owns 100% of 
the outstanding stock of its banking subsidiary, Farmers & Merchants Bank (“Bank”) and VSTitle, LLC (“VST”).  VBS 
Mortgage, LLC (“F&M Mortgage”), and Farmers & Merchants Financial Services, Inc. (“FMFS”) are wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Bank. The Company dissolved TEB Life Insurance Company (“TEB”) on November 8, 2023. The 
Company’s and the Bank’s headquarters are located in Timberville, Virginia, and its primary operations centers are 
located in the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia. 
 
On April 15, 1908, the Bank was chartered as a state-chartered bank under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 
As a commercial bank, the Bank offers a wide range of banking services including commercial and individual demand 
and time deposit accounts, commercial and individual loans, internet and mobile banking, drive-in banking services, 
ATMs, as well as a courier service for its commercial banking customers. The Bank makes various types of commercial 
and consumer loans and has a large portfolio of residential mortgages and indirect auto loans. The local economy is 
diverse with strong employment in the agricultural, manufacturing, service and governmental sectors. 
 
On February 25, 1993, FMFS was incorporated as a Virginia chartered corporation. FMFS provides brokerage services, 
and commercial and personal lines of insurance to customers of the Bank. 
 
On November 3, 2008, the Bank acquired a 70% ownership interest in F&M Mortgage. On April 30, 2020, the Bank 
acquired the remaining 30% interest to have 100% ownership of F&M Mortgage. F&M Mortgage originates both 
conventional and government agency sponsored mortgages for sale in the secondary market and to be held in the Bank’s 
mortgage portfolio. 
 
On January 1, 2017, the Company acquired a 76% ownership interest in VST; F&M Mortgage owned the remaining 
minority interest and, on January 3, 2022, the Company purchased F&M Mortgage’s minority interest in VST to have 
100% ownership. VST provides title insurance services to the customers in our market area, including F&M Mortgage 
and the Bank. 
 
Filings with the SEC 
 
The Company files annual, quarterly and other reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The Company’s filings are available 
through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.  
 
Competition 
 
The Bank's offices face strong competition in the markets it serves.  The Company competes with large national and 
regional financial institutions, other independent community banks, nationally chartered savings banks, credit unions, 
consumer finance companies, mortgage companies, loan production offices, marketplace lenders and other financial 
technology firms and mutual funds. Competition for loans and deposits is affected by a variety of factors including 
interest rates, types of products offered, the number and location of branch offices, marketing strategies and the 
reputation of the Bank within the communities served. 
 
Human Capital 
 
On December 31, 2023, the Bank had 151 full-time equivalent employees. None of the Company’s employees are 
represented by a union or covered under a collective bargaining agreement. No one employee devotes full-time services 
to F&M Bank Corp. 
 
As a financial institution, our ability to attract, develop and retain highly qualified employees is critical to our success. 
We believe our people provide significant value to our Company and its shareholders. 
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Regulation and Supervision 
 
General. The operations of the Company and the Bank are subject to extensive federal and state laws and regulations, 
which apply to bank holding companies, financial holding companies and state member banks of the Federal Reserve 
System. The common stock of the Company is registered pursuant to and subject to the periodic reporting requirements 
of the Exchange Act. These include, but are not limited to, the filing of annual, quarterly, and other current reports with 
the SEC. As an Exchange Act reporting company, the Company is directly affected by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley”).   
 
The Company, as a bank holding company and a financial holding company, is subject to the provisions of the Bank 
Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (the "Act") and is supervised by the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System (the “Federal Reserve Board”).  The Act generally requires the Company to secure the prior approval of 
the Federal Reserve Board before the Company acquires ownership or control of more than 5% of the voting shares or 
substantially all the assets of another financial institution, including another bank.  
 
As a financial holding company, the Company is required to file with the Federal Reserve Board an annual report and 
such additional information as it may require pursuant to the Act.  The Federal Reserve Board may also conduct 
examinations of F & M Bank Corp. and any or all of its subsidiaries. Under the Act and the regulations of the Federal 
Reserve Board, a bank holding company and its subsidiaries are prohibited from engaging in certain tie-in arrangements 
in connection with an extension of credit, provision of credit, sale or lease of property or furnishing of services. 
 
The permitted activities of a bank holding company are limited to managing or controlling banks, furnishing services 
to or performing services for its subsidiaries, and engaging in other activities that the Federal Reserve Board 
determines by regulation or order to be so closely related to banking or managing or controlling banks as to be a proper 
incident thereto. In addition, bank holding companies that qualify and elect to be financial holding companies, such 
as the Company, may engage in any activity, or acquire and retain the shares of a company engaged in any activity, 
that is either (i) financial in nature or incidental to such financial activity (as determined by the Federal Reserve Board 
in consultation with the Secretary of the Treasury) or (ii) complementary to a financial activity and does not pose a 
substantial risk to the safety and soundness of depository institutions or the financial system generally (as solely 
determined by the Federal Reserve Board). Activities that are financial in nature include but are not limited to 
securities underwriting and dealing, insurance underwriting, and making merchant banking investments. Since 1994, 
the Company has entered into agreements with the Virginia Community Development Corporation to purchase equity 
positions in several Low-Income Housing Funds; these funds provide housing for low-income individuals throughout 
Virginia.  Approval of the Federal Reserve Board is necessary to engage in certain of the activities described above or to 
acquire interests in companies engaging in these activities. 
 
The Bank, as a state member bank, is supervised and regularly examined by the Virginia Bureau of Financial 
Institutions and the Federal Reserve Board; such supervision and examination by the Virginia Bureau of Financial 
Institutions and the Federal Reserve Board is intended primarily for the protection of depositors and not the 
shareholders of the Company. 
 
Payment of Dividends. The Company is a legal entity, separate and distinct from its subsidiaries. A significant portion 
of the revenues of the Company result from dividends paid to it by the Bank. There are various legal limitations 
applicable to the payment of dividends by the Bank to the Company. Under the current regulatory guidelines, prior 
approval from the Federal Reserve Board is required if cash dividends declared in any given year exceed net income 
for that year, plus retained net profits of the two preceding years. A bank also may not declare a dividend out of or in 
excess of its net undivided profits without regulatory approval.  The payment of dividends by the Bank or the Company 
may also be limited by other factors, such as requirements to maintain capital above regulatory guidelines. 
 
Bank regulatory agencies have the authority to prohibit the Bank or the Company from engaging in an unsafe or 
unsound practice in conducting their businesses. The payment of dividends, depending on the financial condition of 
the Bank, or the Company, could be deemed to constitute such an unsafe or unsound practice. Based on the Bank’s 
current financial condition, the Company does not expect that any of these laws will have any impact on its ability to 
obtain dividends from the Bank. 
 
The Company also is subject to regulatory restrictions on payment of dividends to its shareholders.  Regulators have 
indicated that bank holding companies should generally pay dividends only if the organization’s net income available 
to common shareholders over the past year has been sufficient to fully fund the dividends and the prospective rate of 
earnings retention appears consistent with the organization’s capital needs, asset quality, and overall financial 
condition.  Further, a bank holding company should inform and consult with the Federal Reserve Board prior to 
declaring a dividend that exceeds earnings for the period (e.g., quarter) for which the dividend is being paid or that 
could result in a material adverse change to the organization’s capital structure. 
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Capital Requirements.  The Federal Reserve Board and other federal banking agencies have issued risk-based capital 
requirements for assessing bank capital adequacy. Virginia chartered banks must also satisfy the capital requirements 
adopted by the Bureau of Financial Institutions. At December 31, 2023, the "Basel III" capital and leverage ratios 
were as follows: 

Ratio F&M Bank 
Adequately 
Capitalized 

Minimum Capital 
Requirements Including 

Conservation Buffer 

Well Capitalized 
Under Prompt 

Corrective Action 
Common equity Tier 1 (“CET1”) 11.68% 4.50% 7.00% 6.50% 
Tier 1 risk-based capital  11.68% 6.00% 8.50% 8.00% 
Total risk-based capital 12.58% 8.00% 10.50% 10.00% 
Tier 1 leverage 8.13% 4.00% 4.00% 5.00% 

 
An institution will be subject to limitations on paying dividends, engaging in share repurchases, and paying 
discretionary bonuses if its capital level falls below the buffer amount. These limitations will establish a maximum 
percentage of eligible retained income that can be utilized for such activities. 
 
The guidelines also provide that banking organizations experiencing internal growth or making acquisitions will be 
expected to maintain strong capital positions substantially above the minimum supervisory levels, without significant 
reliance on intangible assets. 
 
In July 2023, the Federal Reserve Board and the FDIC issued proposed rules to implement the final components of 
the Basel III agreement, often known as the “Basel III endgame.” These proposed rules contain provisions that apply 
to banks with $100 billion or more in total assets and that will significantly alter how those banks calculate risk-based 
assets. These proposed rules do not apply to holding companies or banks with less than $100 billion in assets, such as 
the Company and the Bank, but the final impacts of these rules cannot yet be predicted. 
 
As directed by the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act (the “Economic Growth Act”),  
the federal banking regulators in 2019 jointly issued a final rule that permits qualifying banks that have less than $10 
billion in total consolidated assets to elect to be subject to a 9% “community bank leverage ratio” (“CBLR”).  A 
qualifying bank that has chosen the proposed framework would not be required to calculate the existing risk-based 
and leverage capital requirements and would be considered to have met the capital ratio requirements to be “well 
capitalized” under prompt corrective action rules, provided it has a community bank leverage ratio greater than 9%. 
The Bank has elected to not adopt the CBLR framework.   
 
Pursuant to the Federal Reserve’s Small Bank Holding Company and Savings and Loan Holding Company Policy 
Statement, qualifying bank holding companies with total consolidated assets of less than $3 billion, such as the 
Company, are not subject to consolidated regulatory capital requirements. 
 
Source of Strength.  Federal Reserve Board policy has historically required bank holding companies to act as a source 
of financial and managerial strength to their subsidiary banks. The Dodd-Frank Act codified this policy as a statutory 
requirement. Under this requirement, the Company is expected to commit resources to support the Bank, including at 
times when the Company may not be in a financial position to provide such resources. Any capital loans by a bank 
holding company to any of its subsidiary banks are subordinate in right of payment to depositors and to certain other 
indebtedness of such subsidiary banks. In the event of a bank holding company's bankruptcy, any commitment by the 
bank holding company to a federal bank regulatory agency to maintain the capital of a subsidiary bank will be assumed 
by the bankruptcy trustee and entitled to priority of payment. 
 
Safety and Soundness.  There are a number of obligations and restrictions imposed on bank holding companies and 
their subsidiary banks by law and regulatory policy that are designed to minimize potential loss to the depositors of 
such depository institutions and the FDIC insurance fund in the event of a depository institution default. For example, 
under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991, to avoid receivership of an insured 
depository institution subsidiary, a bank holding company is required to guarantee the compliance of any subsidiary 
bank that may become "undercapitalized" with the terms of any capital restoration plan filed by such subsidiary with 
its appropriate federal bank regulatory agency up to the lesser of (i) an amount equal to 5% of the institution's total 
assets at the time the institution became undercapitalized or (ii) the amount that is necessary (or would have been 
necessary) to bring the institution into compliance with all applicable capital standards as of the time the institution 
fails to comply with such capital restoration plan.   
 
Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, the federal bank regulatory agencies have adopted guidelines prescribing 
safety and soundness standards. These guidelines establish general standards relating to internal controls and 
information systems, internal audit systems, loan documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate exposure, asset 
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growth and compensation, fees and benefits. In general, the guidelines require, among other things, appropriate 
systems and practices to identify and manage the risk and exposures specified in the guidelines. 

Transactions with Affiliates. Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and Federal Reserve Regulation W 
establish parameters for a bank to conduct “covered transactions” with its affiliates, with the objective of limiting risk 
to the insured bank. Generally, Sections 23A and 23B (i) limit the extent to which the bank or its subsidiaries may 
engage in “covered transactions” with any one affiliate to an amount equal to 10% of such bank’s capital stock and 
surplus, and limit the aggregate of all such transactions with all affiliates to an amount equal to 20% of such capital 
stock and surplus and (ii) require that all such transactions be on terms substantially the same, or at least as favorable, 
to the bank or subsidiary as those that would be provided to a non-affiliate. The term “covered transaction” includes 
the making of loans to the affiliate, purchase of assets from the affiliate, issuance of a guaranty on behalf of the affiliate 
and several other types of transactions. 

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, restrictions on transactions with affiliates are enhanced by (i) including among “covered 
transactions” transactions between bank and affiliate-advised investment funds; (ii) including among “covered 
transactions” transactions between a bank and an affiliate with respect to securities repurchase agreements and 
derivatives transactions; (iii) adopting stricter collateral rules; and (iv) imposing tighter restrictions on transactions 
between banks and their financial subsidiaries. 

Transactions with Insiders. The Federal Reserve Act and related regulations impose specific restrictions on loans to 
directors, executive officers and principal shareholders of banks. Under Section 22(h) of the Federal Reserve Act, 
loans to a director, an executive officer and to a principal shareholder of a bank, and some affiliated entities of any of 
the foregoing, may not exceed, together with all other outstanding loans to such person and affiliated entities, the 
bank’s loan-to-one borrower limit. Loans in the aggregate to insiders and their related interests as a class may not 
exceed two times the bank’s unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus until the bank’s total deposits equal or exceed 
$100,000,000, at which time the aggregate is limited to the bank’s unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus. 
Section 22(h) also prohibits loans, above amounts prescribed by the appropriate federal banking agency, to directors, 
executive officers and principal shareholders of a bank or bank holding company, and their respective affiliates, unless 
such loan is approved in advance by a majority of the Board of Directors of the bank with any “interested” director 
not participating in the voting. The FDIC has prescribed the loan amount, which includes all other outstanding loans 
to such person, as to which such prior board of director approval is required, as being the greater of $25,000 or 5% of 
capital and surplus (up to $500,000). Section 22(h) requires that loans to directors, executive officers and principal 
shareholders be made on terms and underwriting standards substantially the same as offered in comparable 
transactions to other persons. 
 
Limits on Incentive Compensation. The Federal Reserve reviews incentive compensation arrangements of bank 
holding companies such as the Company as part of the regular, risk-focused supervisory process. The federal banking 
agencies have also issued guidance designed to help ensure that incentive compensation policies at banking 
organizations do not encourage excessive risk-taking or undermine the safety and soundness of the banking 
organizations. The guidance, which covers all employees that have the ability to materially affect the risk profile of 
an organization, either individually or as part of a group, is based upon the key principles that a banking organization’s 
incentive compensation arrangements should (i) provide employees incentives that appropriately balance risk and 
reward and, thus, do not encourage risk-taking beyond the organization’s ability to effectively identify and manage 
risks, (ii) be compatible with effective internal controls and risk management, and (iii) be supported by strong 
corporate governance, including active and effective oversight by the organization’s board of directors. Any 
deficiencies in compensation practices that are identified may be incorporated into the organization’s supervisory 
ratings, which can affect its ability to make acquisitions or perform other actions. The guidance provides that 
enforcement actions may be taken against a banking organization if its incentive compensation arrangements or related 
risk-management control or governance processes pose a risk to the organization’s safety and soundness and the 
organization is not taking prompt and effective measures to correct the deficiencies. 
 
Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Regulations.  The Bank is subject to several federal laws that are designed to combat 
money laundering, terrorist financing, and transactions with persons, companies or foreign governments designated 
by U.S. authorities (“AML laws”). This category of laws includes the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970, the Money 
Laundering Control Act of 1986, the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, and the Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020.  The 
Anti-Money Laundering Act of 2020, the most sweeping anti-money laundering legislation in 20 years, requires 
various federal agencies to promulgate regulations implementing a number of its provisions. 
 
The AML laws and their implementing regulations require insured depository institutions, broker-dealers, and certain 
other financial institutions to have policies, procedures, and controls to detect, prevent, and report money laundering 
and terrorist financing. The AML laws and their regulations also provide for information sharing, subject to conditions, 
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between federal law enforcement agencies and financial institutions, as well as among financial institutions, for 
counter-terrorism purposes. Federal banking regulators are required, when reviewing bank holding company 
acquisition and bank merger applications, to take into account the effectiveness of the anti-money laundering activities 
of the applicants. The Company believes it has implemented appropriate internal practices, procedures, and controls 
to comply with these obligations. 
 
Dodd-Frank Act. The Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law in July 2010. Its wide-ranging provisions affect all federal 
financial regulatory agencies and nearly every aspect of the American financial services industry. The Dodd-Frank 
Act created a new agency, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), which has the ability to implement, 
examine and enforce compliance with federal consumer protection laws, which govern all financial institutions. For 
smaller financial institutions, such as the Company and the Bank, their primary federal regulators will continue to 
conduct examination activities.  
 
The Dodd-Frank Act contains provisions designed to reform mortgage lending, which includes the requirement of 
additional disclosures for consumer mortgages. In addition, the Federal Reserve has issued rules that have the effect 
of limiting the fees charged to merchants for debit card transactions. These rules limit the amount of interchange fee 
income available explicitly to larger banks and indirectly to us. The Dodd-Frank Act also contains provisions that 
affect corporate governance and executive compensation.  
 
In May 2018, the Economic Growth Act was enacted to modify or remove certain regulatory financial reform rules 
and regulations, including some of those implemented under the Dodd-Frank Act. While the Economic Growth Act 
maintains most of the regulatory structure established by the Dodd-Frank Act, it amends certain aspects of the 
regulatory framework for small depository institutions with assets of less than $10 billion, such as the Bank, and for 
large banks with assets of more than $50 billion.  
 
Among other matters, the Economic Growth Act expands the definition of qualified mortgages which may be held by 
a financial institution with total consolidated assets of less than $10 billion, exempts community banks from the 
Volcker Rule, and includes additional regulatory relief regarding regulatory examination cycles, call reports, mortgage 
disclosures and risk weights for certain high-risk commercial real estate loans. 
 
Consumer Financial Protection.  The Bank is subject to federal and state consumer protection laws that extensively 
govern its relationship with its customers. These laws include the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Credit 
Reporting Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Truth in Savings Act, the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the Expedited 
Funds Availability Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Real Estate Settlement 
Procedures Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Service Members Civil Relief Act, laws governing flood 
insurance, federal and state laws prohibiting unfair and deceptive business practices, foreclosure laws, and various 
regulations that implement some or all of the foregoing. These laws and regulations mandate certain disclosure 
requirements and regulate the manner in which financial institutions must deal with customers when taking deposits, 
making loans, collecting loans and providing other services.  
 
If the Bank fails to comply with these laws and regulations, it may be subject to various penalties. Failure to comply 
with consumer protection requirements may also result in failure to obtain any required bank regulatory approval for 
merger or acquisition transactions the Company may wish to pursue or being prohibited from engaging in such 
transactions even if approval is not required. 
 
On October 19, 2023, the CFPB issued a notice of proposed rulemaking to implement Section 1033 of the Dodd-Frank 
Act, which requires covered financial institutions to make consumer data about financial services and products more 
readily available to consumers and authorized third parties. The proposed rule adds consumer protection obligations 
on financial institutions and third parties authorized by the consumer to collect and use that data. Financial institutions 
would be responsible for making specified information available through an electronic interface including 24 months 
of transactional data available, account information (e.g., account balance, upcoming bills, basic account verification), 
information to initiate payment to and from accounts, and terms and conditions under which the account or card was 
provided.  The comment period for the proposed rule closed at the end of 2023.  The CFPB has not announced the 
timing for issuing the final rule. 
 
On March 30, 2023, the CFPB issued the Small Business Lending Rule, which amends provisions of the Equal Credit 
Opportunity Act to require covered financial institutions, including the Bank, to collect and report certain data in 
connection with credit applications made by small businesses, including women- or minority-owned small businesses.  
The CFPB will create a comprehensive public database of small business lending practices (those with $5 million or 
less in gross annual revenue for the preceding year) with information aggregated from covered financial institutions.  
The final rule contains additional requirements beyond small business lending data collection and reporting including 
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that financial institutions restrict access to demographic information about the principals of the small business to an 
employee involved in making any determination concerning the applicant’s credit application.   The CFPB used 
staggered compliance dates for initiating data collection divided into three tiers depending on the number of covered 
originations with the first beginning on October 1, 2024. The compliance dates have been delayed while the Supreme 
Court decides a separate case determining the CFPB’s funding structure.  We are working to comply with the 
provisions of the Small Business Lending Rule to meet the revised compliance dates pending the Supreme Court’s 
decision. 
 
Community Reinvestment Act. The Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”) requires depository institutions to assist 
in meeting the credit needs of their market areas consistent with safe and sound banking practice. Under the CRA, 
each depository institution is required to help meet the credit needs of its market areas by, among other things, 
providing credit to low- and moderate-income individuals and communities. Depository institutions are periodically 
examined for compliance with the CRA and are assigned ratings. Banking regulators consider CRA ratings when 
considering approval of a proposed transaction. The Bank received a rating of “satisfactory” in its most recent CRA 
examination. 
 
CRA regulations provide for certain disclosure obligations. Each institution must post a notice advising the public of 
its right to comment to the institution and its regulator on the institution’s CRA performance and to review the 
institution’s CRA public file. Each lending institution must maintain for public inspection a file that includes a listing 
of branch locations and services, a summary of lending activity, a map of its communities and any written comments 
from the public on its performance in meeting community credit needs. Applicable law requires public disclosure of 
a financial institution’s written CRA evaluations. This promotes enforcement of CRA requirements by providing the 
public with the status of a particular institution’s community reinvestment record. 
 
Furthermore, if after becoming a financial holding company and undertaking activities not permissible for a bank 
holding company, the company fails to continue to meet any of the prerequisites for financial holding company status, 
the company must enter into an agreement with the Federal Reserve to comply with all applicable capital and 
management requirements. If the company does not return to compliance within 180 days, the Federal Reserve may 
order the company to divest its subsidiary banks or the company may discontinue or divest investments in companies 
engaged in activities permissible only for a bank holding company that has elected to be treated as a financial holding 
company. 
 
On October 24, 2023, the federal bank regulatory agencies jointly issued a final rule to modernize CRA regulations 
consistent with the following key goals: (i) to encourage banks to expand access to credit, investment, and banking 
services in low to moderate income communities; (ii) to adapt to changes in the banking industry, including internet 
and mobile banking and the growth of non-branch delivery systems; (iii) to provide greater clarity and consistency in 
the application of the CRA regulations, including adoption of a new metrics-based approach to evaluating bank retail 
lending and community development financing; and (iv) to tailor CRA evaluations and data collection to bank size 
and type, recognizing that differences in bank size and business models may impact CRA evaluations and qualifying 
activities. Most of the final CRA rule’s requirements will be applicable beginning January 1, 2026, with certain 
requirements, including the data reporting requirements, applicable as of January 1, 2027. The Bank is evaluating the 
expected impact of the modified CRA regulations. 
 
Cybersecurity. The federal banking agencies have adopted guidelines for establishing information security standards 
and cybersecurity programs for implementing safeguards under the supervision of a financial institution’s Board of 
Directors. These guidelines, along with related regulatory materials, increasingly focus on risk management and 
processes related to information technology and the use of third parties in the provision of financial products and 
services. The federal banking agencies expect financial institutions to establish lines of defense and ensure that their 
risk management processes also address the risk posed by compromised customer credentials, and also expect financial 
institutions to maintain sufficient business continuity planning processes to ensure rapid recovery, resumption and 
maintenance of the institution’s operations after a cyber-attack. If the Bank fails to meet the expectations set forth in 
this regulatory guidance, it could be subject to various regulatory actions and any remediation efforts may require 
significant resources of the Bank.  
 
On November 18, 2021, the federal bank regulatory agencies issued a final rule to improve the sharing of information 
about cyber incidents that may affect the U.S. banking system. The rule requires a banking organization to notify its 
primary federal regulator of any significant computer-security incident as soon as possible and no later than 36 hours 
after the banking organization determines that a cyber incident has occurred. Notification is required for incidents that 
have materially affected—or are reasonably likely to materially affect—the viability of a banking organization’s 
operations, its ability to deliver banking products and services, or the stability of the financial sector. In addition, the 
rule requires a bank service provider to notify affected banking organization customers as soon as possible when the 
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provider determines that it has experienced a computer-security incident that has materially affected or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect banking organization customers for four or more hours. The rule became effective May 1, 
2022. With increased focus on cybersecurity, we are continuing to monitor legislative, regulatory, and supervisory 
developments related thereto. We had no material cybersecurity incidents in 2023.  See “Item 1C. Cybersecurity” for 
more information. 
 
Future Regulation.  Congress may enact legislation from time to time that affects the regulation of the financial 
services industry, and state legislatures may enact legislation from time to time affecting the regulation of financial 
institutions chartered by or operating in those states. Federal and state regulatory agencies also periodically propose 
and adopt changes to their regulations or change the application of existing regulations. The substance or impact of 
pending or future legislation or regulation, or the application thereof, cannot be predicted, although enactment of the 
proposed legislation could impact the regulatory structure under which the Company and the Bank operate and may 
significantly increase costs, impede the efficiency of internal business processes, require an increase in regulatory 
capital, require modifications to business strategy, and limit the ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient 
manner. Management expects that financial institutions will remain heavily regulated, and that additional laws or 
regulations may be adopted further regulating specific banking practices.  
 
Effect of Governmental Monetary Policies.  The Company’s operations are affected not only by general economic 
conditions but also by the policies of various regulatory authorities. In particular, the Federal Reserve uses monetary 
policy tools to impact money market and credit market conditions and interest rates to influence general economic 
conditions. These policies have a significant impact on overall growth and distribution of loans, investments, and 
deposits; they affect market interest rates charged on loans or paid for deposits and can significantly influence 
employment and inflation rates. Federal Reserve monetary policies have had a significant effect on the operating 
results of commercial banks, including the Company, in the past and are expected to do so in the future. 
 
Operating Revenue 
 
The following table displays components that contributed 15% or more of the Company’s total operating revenue for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

Period Class of Service Percentage of Total Revenues 
December 31, 2023 Interest and fees on loans held for investment 72.14% 
December 31, 2022 Interest and fees on loans held for investment 66.13% 

 
Executive Officers of the Company  
 
Aubrey Michael (Mike) Wilkerson, 65, has served as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Bank since April 
2023. Prior to that he served as Executive Vice President/Chief Lending Officer from January 2022 to April 2023, and 
Executive Vice President/Chief Strategy Officer and Northern Shenandoah Valley Market Executive since January 
2021.  Mr. Wilkerson began his banking career at Wachovia Bank on January 4, 1982.  Mr. Wilkerson’s banking 
includes experience in Dealer Financial Services, Retail Banking, Private Banking, Commercial Banking and senior 
strategic leadership positions.  From 2012 to 2018, Mr. Wilkerson was the Business Banking Division Executive for 
Virginia, Maryland and Washington, DC at Wachovia.  Most recently, Mr. Wilkerson served as the Commercial 
Banking Market Executive from 2018 through 2020 for Western Mid-Atlantic Region at Wells Fargo. 
 
Barton E. Black, 53, has served as the Executive Vice President/Chief Operating Officer of the Company and the 
Bank since June 2020. Prior to that he served as Executive Vice President/Chief Strategy & Risk Officer from March 
2019 to May 2020.  Prior to joining the Company, he served as Managing Director at Strategic Risk Associates, a 
financial services consulting company based in Virginia, from August 2012 through February 2019. 
 
Lisa F. Campbell, 56, has served as Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the Bank 
since October 2022. Prior to joining the Company, she served as Group Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
for Fidelity Bancshares N.C., Inc. in Fuquay-Varina, North Carolina from August 2014 to October 2022.  Previously, 
she served as Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer for New Century 
Bancorp, Inc. in Dunn, North Carolina from March 2000 to August 2014 and as Senior Vice President and Controller 
for Triangle Bancorp, Inc. in Raleigh, North Carolina from September 1997 to March 2000.  Ms. Campbell also 
worked in public accounting from September 1990 through September 1997.  
 
Charles C. Driest, 46, has served as Executive Vice President, Chief Experience Officer since April 2023. Prior to that 
he served as Senior Vice President, Director of Digital Banking of the Bank and the Company from January 2022 to 
April 2023. Prior to joining the company, he served as Senior Vice President, Director of Digital Banking at Essex 
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Bank from July 2017 to January 2022. Mr. Driest holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) – Finance from 
St. John’s University. 
 
Paul E. Eberly, 42, has served as Executive Vice President/Chief Development Officer since September 2022, 
Executive Vice President/Chief Credit Officer from September 2020 until September 2022, Senior Vice 
President/Agricultural & Rural Programs Leader from January 2020 until September 2020, and Vice 
President/Agricultural & Rural Programs Leader from January 2019 until January 2020.  He also served in various 
sales, lending, credit, risk management and other leadership roles within the Farm Credit System from June 2005 until 
January 2019.  Mr. Eberly has been in the banking and finance industry since 2005. 
 
Melody Emswiler, 50, has served as Executive Vice President/Chief Human Resources Officer since January 2022, 
Senior Vice President/Human Resources Director from January 2019 to December 2021, Vice President/Director of 
Human Resources from February 2015 to December 2018, and Assistant Vice President/Human Resources Manager 
from February 2011 to January 2015. Ms. Emswiler has been in the human resources profession since 1997. 
 
Kevin Russell, 47, has served as the Executive Vice President/President of Mortgage, Title and Financial Services at 
the Bank and the Company since June 16, 2020. Prior to that he served as the President of F&M Mortgage since 2000.   
 
Jason C. Withers, 41, has served as Executive Vice President/Chief Credit Officer since September 2022, and Senior 
Vice President/Credit Manager since March 2021. Prior to joining the Company, he served as a Senior Credit Analyst 
at Blue Ridge Bank, from April 2017 to March 2021, and as a Credit Analyst for CresCom Bank from March 2010 to 
March 2017. 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors. 
 
Not required. 
 
Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments. 
 
None 
 
Item 1C. Cybersecurity. 

Risk Management and Strategy 

The Company recognizes the importance of a cybersecurity risk management program designed to assess, identify, and 
manage risk associated with cybersecurity threats. Our cybersecurity risk management program (the “Program”) is 
consistent with the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (“FFIEC”) Cybersecurity Assessment Tool, which 
incorporates bank regulatory guidance and principles from the National Institute of Standards and Technology 
Cybersecurity Framework and includes the following risk-based principles: 

•  Identification, measurement, mitigation, monitoring and reporting of cybersecurity threats based on internal and 
external information sharing and resources; 
•  Safeguards designed to protect against identified threats, including documented policies and procedures, controls, 
and employee education and awareness; 
•  Processes to detect cybersecurity events and improve incident response, including routine testing of incident 
response, recovery and business continuity plans and processes; and  
•   Third-party risk management process to manage cybersecurity risk with service providers, suppliers, and vendors. 

The Program is designed to adapt to an evolving landscape of emerging cybersecurity threats and advancing technology 
to determine the Company’s cybersecurity preparedness. Through routine data gathering, emerging risks, internal 
incidents, technology investments and internal controls, our Program and overall cybersecurity risk strategy is adjusted 
as needed.  

The Program is supported by regular training of information security employees and awareness training and activities for 
executives, directors, and employees through which we communicate our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes, 
and practices to foster a culture of cybersecurity risk management across the Company.  
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Integrated Risk Management 

The Program is integrated into the Company’s enterprise risk management framework and functions to identify risk, 
form a strategy to manage risk, implement the strategy, test the implementation, and monitor our technology environment 
to control risk. The information technology team works closely with stakeholders across security, risk, compliance, 
operations, other business stakeholders, and senior leadership to conduct an annual cybersecurity risk assessment utilizing 
the FFIEC Cybersecurity Assessment Tool.  

Engagement of Third Parties in Connection with Risk Management 

The Company engages various third parties to evaluate the effectiveness and maturity of the Program. The Company 
engages an independent third party to audit the cybersecurity risk strategy and preparedness. The Company also maintains 
cybersecurity insurance, however, the costs related to cybersecurity threats or disruptions may not be fully insured. The 
Company also engages third parties to perform regular penetration tests, vulnerability scans, disaster recovery tests and 
cyber exercises to simulate threat actor attacks. Our relationships with third parties enable us to leverage their 
cybersecurity expertise and industry knowledge to assess our Program and adjust as needed.  

Oversight of Third-party Risks 

Our third-party service providers, suppliers, and vendors face their own risks from cybersecurity threats that could impact 
the Company in certain circumstances. In response, we have implemented processes for overseeing and managing these 
risks. The processes include limiting the exposure of our information systems to external systems to the least practical 
amount, assessing the third parties’ information security practices before allowing them to access our information systems 
or data, requiring third parties to implement appropriate cybersecurity controls in our agreements with them, conducting 
ongoing monitoring of their compliance with those requirements, and requiring third parties to agree to contractual 
requirements designed to ensure cybersecurity concepts are appropriately addressed. 

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats 

As of the date of this report, we have not encountered any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any 
previous cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, 
including its business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.  

Governance 

Board of Directors Oversight 

Our Board’s Operational Risk Committee oversees cybersecurity risk. 

Management's Role in Cybersecurity Risk Management 

Given the important role of technology in the Company’s operations and customer service, the Company has established 
an Information Technology Steering Committee, which consists of our IT Manager, President, Chief Financial Officer, 
Chief Experience Officer, Director of Risk Management and Information Security Officer. The Information Technology 
Steering Committee reviews, monitors, aligns, and prioritizes all significant strategic information technology initiatives 
and security risks. The Information Technology Steering Committee reports to the Operational Risk Committee and 
minutes of the committee’s meetings are subsequently reported by the Operational Risk Committee to the Company’s 
Board of Directors. Our IT Manager, in collaboration with our Information Security Officer, makes quarterly reports to 
the Information Technology Steering Committee. Such reports include updates related to key metrics, key risk indicators, 
key performance indicators, penetration test results, risk assessment results, project updates, incident reports, compliance 
matters, and operational issues. 

Risk Management Personnel 

The Information Security Officer has the primary responsibility for managing the Program to identify, assess, manage, 
and control cybersecurity risk. The Information Security Officer reports directly to the President. The Information 
Security Officer has approximately 15 years of experience in cybersecurity, information security risk management, 
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identity and access management, security architecture, vulnerability management, threat intelligence, security operations 
and incident management and response. 

Monitoring Cybersecurity Incidents 

The Information Security Officer is continually informed of and monitors cybersecurity risks and incidents. In the event 
of a cybersecurity incident, the Company has developed an incident response plan to timely report cybersecurity incidents 
to the executive management team, the Operational Risk Committee and Board of Directors, as necessary. In addition to 
facilitating timely evaluation, escalation and reporting of cybersecurity incidents, this plan also sets forth the process for 
identifying and assessing the severity of cybersecurity incidents, as well as monitoring post-incident mitigation and 
remediation. 

Reporting to Board of Directors 

The Operational Risk Committee receives reports from the President, Information Security Officer, and Director of Risk 
Management, and briefings on our information security and enterprise risk management programs at least quarterly, 
including the results of any external audits, bank regulatory examinations and evaluations, as well as maturity assessments 
of our information security program. 
 
Item 2.  Properties. 
 
The Company owns or leases buildings that are used in the normal course of business. The Company’s corporate 
headquarters are located at 205 South Main Street, Timberville, Virginia 22853.  At December 31, 2023, the Bank 
operated fourteen branches and a dealer finance division in the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia. See Note 1 “Nature of 
Banking Activities and Significant Accounting Policies” and Note 5 “Bank Premises and Equipment” and Note 6 
"Leases" in the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this Form 10-K for information with respect to 
the amounts at which bank premises and equipment are carried and commitments under long-term leases. 
 
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings. 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company may become involved in litigation arising from banking, financial, or 
other activities of the Company. Management, after consultation with legal counsel, does not anticipate that the ultimate 
outcome in such legal proceedings, in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, or results of operations. 
 
Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures. 
 
None. 
 
PART II 
 
Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities. 
 
Information on Common Stock, Market Prices and Dividends. 
 
The Company’s Common Stock is quoted on the OTC Markets Group’s OTCQX Market under the symbol “FMBM.”  
As of March 11, 2024, the Company had approximately 2,583 shareholders of record.  
 
During 2023 and 2022, the Company declared four quarterly dividends of $0.26 per share for an annual total of  $1.04 
per share. The Company’s Board of Directors determines the payment of dividends based on a number of factors, 
including the Company’s historic and projected financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, capital levels and 
needs, tax considerations, any acquisitions or potential acquisitions, statutory and regulatory prohibitions and other 
limitations, the terms of contractual arrangements that restrict the ability to pay cash dividends, general economic 
conditions, and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. The Company is not obligated to pay dividends 
on its common stock, and is subject to certain regulatory restrictions on paying dividends. 
 
Because the Company is a financial holding company and does not engage directly in business activities of a material 
nature, the ability to pay dividends to shareholders depends, in large part, upon the receipt of dividends from the Bank, 
which is also subject to numerous limitations on the payment of dividends under federal banking laws, regulations and 
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policies. Regulatory restrictions on the ability of the Bank to transfer funds to the Company at December 31, 2023 are 
set forth in Note 20 “Parent Company Financial Information,” of this Form 10-K. 
 
There were no repurchases of the Company's common stock during 2023. 
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar 
Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions 
PO Box 1342 
Brentwood, NY 11717 
 
Stock Performance 
The following graph compares the cumulative total return to the shareholders of the Company for the last five fiscal years 
with the total return of the Russell 2000 Index and the S&P U.S. BMI Banks Index, as reported by SNL Financial, LC, 
assuming an investment of $100 in the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2018, and the reinvestment of 
dividends. 
 

 
Item 6. [Reserved] 
 
Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
Certain information contained in this report may include “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act.  These forward-looking 
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statements are generally identified by phrases such as “we expect,” “we believe” or words of similar import. Such 
forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks including, but not limited to: 
 
• Changes in the quality or composition of our loan or investment portfolios, including adverse developments in 

borrower industries, declines in real estate values in our markets, or in the repayment ability of individual 
borrowers or issuers; 

• The strength of the economy in our market area, as well as general economic, market, or business conditions; 
• An insufficient allowance for credit losses as a result of inaccurate assumptions; 
• Our ability to maintain our “well-capitalized” regulatory status; 
• Changes in the interest rates affecting our deposits, loans and investment portfolio; 
• Changes in our competitive position, competitive actions by other financial institutions, financial technology firms 

and others, the competitive nature of the financial services industry and our ability to compete effectively in our 
banking markets; 

• Our ability to manage growth; 
• Our potential growth, including our entrance or expansion into new markets, the need for sufficient capital to 

support that growth, difficulties or disruptions expanding into new markets or integrating the operations of acquired 
branches or business, and the inability to obtain the expected benefits of such growth; 

• Our exposure to operational risk; 
• Our ability to raise capital as needed by our business; 
• Changes in laws, regulations and the policies of federal or state regulators and agencies; 
• The effect of changes in accounting policies and practices, as may be adopted from time to time by bank regulatory 

agencies, the SEC, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the FASB, or other accounting standards 
setting bodies; 

• Geopolitical conditions, including acts or threats of terrorism, international hostilities, or actions taken by the U.S. 
or other governments in response to acts or threats of terrorism and/or military conflicts, which could impact 
business and economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad; 

• The Company’s potential exposure to fraud, negligence, computer theft, and cyber-crime;  
• Other factors identified in reports the Company files with the SEC from time to time; and  
• Other circumstances, many of which are beyond our control. 

Although the Company believes that our expectations with respect to the forward-looking statements are based upon 
reliable assumptions within the bounds of our knowledge of our business and operations, there can be no assurance 
that our actual results, performance or achievements will not differ materially from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
 
The following discussion provides information about the major components of the results of operations and financial 
condition, liquidity and capital resources of F&M Bank Corp. and its subsidiaries. This discussion and analysis should 
be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements presented in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Information, of this Form 10-K. 

Lending Policies 

Credit Policies  
 
The principal risk associated with each of the segments of loans in our portfolio is the creditworthiness of our 
borrowers. Within each segment, such risk is increased or decreased, depending on prevailing economic conditions. 
To manage the risk, the Bank Credit Administration Department supervises that the underwriting process follows the 
written policies and procedures approved by the Board of Directors. The loan policy gives loan amount approval limits 
to individual loan officers based on their position and level of experience and to our loan committees based on the 
size of the lending relationship. The risk associated with real estate and construction loans, commercial loans and 
consumer loans varies, based on market employment levels, fluctuations in the value of real estate and other conditions 
that affect the ability of borrowers to repay indebtedness. The risk associated with real estate construction loans varies, 
based on the supply and demand for the type of real estate under construction.  
 
The Bank has a loan review process to monitor and manage the portfolio, identify concentrations and credit 
deterioration, establish loss exposure and assess compliance with the loan policy.  
 
The Bank uses a management loan committee and a directors’ loan committee to approve loans. The management 
loan committee is comprised of members of senior management, credit administration and senior lenders; the 
directors’ loan committee is comprised of any six directors. Both committees approve new, renewed and or modified 
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loans that exceed officer loan authorities. The directors’ loan committee also reviews any changes to the lending 
policies, which are then approved by the Board of Directors.  
 
Construction and Development Lending 
  
The Bank makes construction loans, primarily residential, and land acquisition and development loans. The residential 
construction loans are secured by residential houses under construction and the underlying land for which the loan 
was obtained. The land acquisition and development loans are secured by the land for which the loan was obtained. 
The average life of a construction loan is approximately 12 months, and it is typically re-priced as the prime rate of 
interest changes. Construction lending entails significant additional risks, compared with residential mortgage lending. 
Construction loans often involve larger loan balances concentrated with single borrowers or groups of related 
borrowers. Another risk involved in construction lending is attributable to the fact that loan funds are advanced upon 
the security of the land or home under construction, which value is estimated prior to the completion of construction. 
Thus, it is more difficult to evaluate accurately the total loan funds required to complete a project and related loan-to-
value ratios. To mitigate the risks associated with construction lending, loan amounts are limited to 75% to 90% of 
appraised value, in addition to analyzing the creditworthiness of the borrower. In addition, a first lien on the property 
is obtained as security for construction loans and typically requires personal guarantees from the borrower’s principal 
owners.  
 
Commercial Real Estate Lending  
 
Commercial real estate loans are secured by various types of commercial real estate in our market area, including 
multi-family residential buildings, commercial buildings and offices, shopping centers and churches. Commercial real 
estate lending entails significant additional risks, compared with residential mortgage lending. Commercial real estate 
loans typically involve larger loan balances concentrated with single borrowers or groups of related borrowers. 
Additionally, the payment experience on loans secured by income producing properties is typically dependent on the 
successful operation of a business or a real estate project and thus may be subject, to a greater extent, to adverse 
conditions in the real estate market or in the economy in general. The Bank’s commercial real estate loan underwriting 
criteria require an examination of debt service coverage ratios and the borrower’s creditworthiness, prior credit history 
and reputation; as well as an evaluation of the location of the property securing the loan and personal guarantees or 
endorsements of the borrower’s principal owners.  
 
Commercial & Industry – Non-Real Estate 
 
Business loans generally have a higher degree of risk than residential mortgage loans but have higher yields. To 
manage these risks, the Bank obtains appropriate collateral and personal guarantees from the borrower’s principal 
owners and monitors the financial condition of business borrowers. Residential mortgage loans generally are made 
based on the borrower’s ability to repay from employment and other income and are secured by real estate whose 
value tends to be readily ascertainable. In contrast, business loans typically are made based on the borrower’s ability 
to make repayment from cash flow from its business and are secured by business assets, such as real estate, accounts 
receivable, equipment and inventory. As a result, the availability of funds for the repayment of business loans is 
substantially dependent on the success of the business itself. Furthermore, the collateral for business loans may 
depreciate over time and generally cannot be appraised with as much precision as residential real estate.  
 
Consumer Lending  
 
The Bank offers various consumer loans, including personal loans, automobile loans, deposit account loans, 
installment and demand loans, and home equity loans.  
 
The underwriting standards for consumer loans include a determination of the applicant’s payment history on other 
debts and an assessment of their ability to meet existing obligations and payments on the proposed loan. The stability 
of the applicant’s monthly income may be determined by verification of gross monthly income from primary 
employment and additionally from any verifiable secondary income. Although creditworthiness of the applicant is of 
primary consideration, the underwriting process also includes an analysis of the value of the security in relation to the 
proposed loan amount. For home equity lines of credit and loans the Bank requires title insurance, hazard insurance 
and, if required, flood insurance.  
 
Residential Mortgage Lending  
 
The Bank makes residential mortgage loans for the purchase or refinance of existing loans with loan-to-value limits 
generally ranging between 80% and 90% depending on the age of the property, the borrower’s income, and the 
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borrower’s credit worthiness. Loans that are retained in our portfolio generally carry adjustable rates that can change 
every one, three or five years, based on amortization periods of twenty to thirty years.  
 
Loans Held for Sale 
 
The Bank makes fixed rate mortgage loans with terms of typically fifteen or thirty years through its subsidiary F&M 
Mortgage.  These loans are funded by F&M Mortgage utilizing a line of credit at the Bank until sold to investors in 
the secondary market or transferred to the Bank and held in the loan portfolio.   
 
Dealer Finance Division 

 
The Dealer Finance Division specializes in providing automobile financing through a network of automobile dealers 
in the Shenandoah Valley.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 
General 
 
The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“GAAP”). The financial information contained within the statements is, to a significant 
extent, financial information that is based on measures of the financial effects of transactions and events that have 
already occurred. The Company’s financial position and results of operations are affected by management’s 
application of accounting policies, including estimates, assumptions and judgments made to arrive at the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities and amounts reported for revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Different 
assumptions in the application of these policies could result in material changes in the Company’s consolidated 
financial position and/or results of operations. 
 
In addition, GAAP itself may change from one previously acceptable method to another method. Although the 
economics of these transactions would be the same, the timing of events that would impact these transactions could 
change. Following is a summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies that are highly dependent on 
estimates, assumptions and judgments. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans 

The Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans (“ACLL”) represents the estimated balance that management considers 
adequate to absorb expected credit losses over the expected contractual life of the loan portfolio. The ACLL uses a 
remaining life methodology for all loans. 

Effective January 1, 2023, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13 Financial 
Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments “ASC 326”. This 
standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current 
expected credit loss (“CECL”) methodology.  

Determining the appropriateness of the ACLL is complex and requires judgment by management about the effect of 
matters that are inherently uncertain. Subsequent evaluations of the then-existing loan portfolio, in light of the factors 
then prevailing, may result in significant changes in the ACLL in future periods. There are both internal factors (i.e., 
loan balances, credit quality, and the contractual lives of loans) and external factors (i.e., economic conditions such as 
trends in housing prices, interest rates, gross domestic product, inflation, and unemployment) that can impact the 
ACLL estimate. 

Management considers the national unemployment rate, national gross domestic product, and the core inflation index 
as external economic variables in developing the ACLL and utilizes economic projections published by The Federal 
Reserve of St. Louis for reasonable and supportable forecasts. The qualitative estimate of the ACLL is sensitive to 
these forecasts as economic conditions are the most influential qualitative factor. 

Because current economic conditions and forecasts can change and future events are inherently difficult to predict, 
the anticipated amount of estimated credit losses on loans, and therefore the appropriateness of the ACLL, could 
change significantly. It is difficult to estimate how potential changes in any one economic factor or input might affect 
the overall ACLL because we consider a wide variety of factors and inputs  in estimating the ACLL and changes in 
those factors and inputs may not occur at the same rate and may not be consistent across all loan types. Additionally, 
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changes in factors and inputs may be directionally inconsistent, such that an improvement in one factor may offset 
deterioration in others. 

Management reviews the ACLL estimation process regularly for appropriateness as the economic and internal 
environment are constantly changing. While the ACLL estimate represents our current estimate of expected credit 
losses, due to uncertainty surrounding internal and external factors, there is potential that the estimate may not be 
adequate over time to cover credit losses in the portfolio. Although available information is used to estimate expected 
losses on loans, future changes in the ACLL may be necessary based on changes in portfolio composition, portfolio 
credit quality, economic conditions and/or other factors. 

Fair Value Measurements 
 
Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, including securities and derivative 
instruments. Fair value estimates are inherently subjective and involve significant assumptions, adjustments, and 
judgment including, among others, discount rates, rates of return on assets, cash flows, default rates, loss rates, 
terminal values and liquidation values. A significant change in assumptions may result in a significant change in fair 
value, which in turn, may result in a higher degree of financial statement volatility and could result in a significant 
impact on results of operations, financial condition, or disclosures of fair value information. 
 
Under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, there is a three-level fair value hierarchy that requires the use of inputs 
that are observable or unobservable, when observable inputs are not available. Observable inputs reflect market data 
obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect management’s market assumptions. As such, 
fair value measurements, particularly in level 2 and level 3 of the hierarchy, may require management to use significant 
assumptions that are subject to change. A change in one assumption could have a significant impact on the fair value 
estimate and certain assumptions may have offsetting impacts to one another. Changes in significant assumptions 
could have a significant impact on the Balance Sheet, Statements of Income, and/or fair value disclosures. For more 
information on financial instruments and fair value assessment, refer to Note 15 “Fair Value Measurements” in this 
Form 10-K. 
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 Five Year Summary of Selected Financial Data  
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data) 

 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Income Statement Data:      
Interest and Dividend Income $       56,326 $       42,139 $       35,576 $       36,792 $       38,210        
Interest Expense         24,665            7,245            4,302            5,728            6,818 
Net Interest Income 31,661 34,894 31,274 31,064 31,392 
Provision for (Recovery of) Credit Losses            1,025              866          (2,821)            3,300            7,405 
Net Interest Income After Provision for (Recovery of) Credit 
Losses 30,636 34,028 34,095 27,764 23,987 
Noninterest Income 10,154 11,292 13,261 13,941 10,963 
Noninterest Expenses          38,765          36,522          35,295          31,670          30,561 
Income before income taxes  2,025 8,798 12,061 10,035 4,389 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) (746) 480 1,323 1,142 (250) 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest                    -                    -                    -            (105)             (130) 
Net Income attributable to F & M Bank Corp. $         2,771 $         8,318 $       10,738 $         8,788 $         4,509          
Per Common Share Data:      
Net Income - basic $           0.80 $           2.41 $           3.25 $           2.66 $           1.32            
Net Income  - diluted 0.80 2.41 3.12 2.56            1.30            
Dividends Declared 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.04 1.02 
Book Value per Common Share 22.47 20.48 29.42 28.43          27.11 
Balance Sheet Data:      
Assets $  1,294,596 $  1,245,902 $  1,219,342 $     966,930 $     813,999     
Loans Held for Investment 822,092 743,604 662,421 661,329 603,425 
Loans Held for Sale 1,119 1,373 4,887 58,679 66,798 
Securities 379,557 403,537 413,217 117,898 18,015 
Deposits 1,133,236 1,083,377 1,080,295 818,582 641,709 
Short-Term Debt 60,000 70,000 - - 10,000 
Long-Term Debt 6,932 6,890 21,772 33,202 53,201 
Shareholders’ Equity 78,323 70,792 100,456 95,629 91,575 
Average Common Shares Outstanding – basic            3,476            3,449            3,245            3,200 3,189 
Average Common Shares Outstanding – diluted 3,476 3,449 3,442 3,429 3,460 
Financial Ratios:      
Return on Average Assets1 0.22% 0.67% 0.98% 0.95%           0.57% 
Return on Average Equity1 3.85% 10.48% 10.84% 9.46% 4.93% 
Net Interest Margin 2.67% 3.03% 3.00% 3.61% 4.33% 
Dividend Payout Ratio - Common 131.65% 43.15% 32.00% 39.10% 77.27% 
Capital and Credit Quality Ratios:      
Average Equity to Average Assets1 5.66% 6.43% 9.05% 10.08% 11.48% 
Allowance for Credit Losses to Loans2 1.01% 1.07% 1.17% 1.58% 1.39% 
Nonperforming Loans to Total Loans3 0.79% 0.30% 0.83% 0.99% 0.95% 
Nonperforming Assets to Total Assets4 0.50% 0.18% 0.45% 0.68% 0.89% 
Net Charge-offs to Total Loans3 0.18% 0.09% (0.01)% 0.18% 0.71% 
      

1 Ratios are primarily based on daily average balances. 
2 Calculated based on Loans Held for Investment, excludes Loans Held for Sale. 
3 Calculated based on 90 day past due loans and non-accrual loans to Total Loans.  
4 Calculated based on 90 day past due loans, non-accrual loans and OREO to Total Assets. 
 
Overview 
 
The Company’s net income for 2023 totaled $2.8 million or $0.79 per common share, a decrease of 66.69% from $8.3 
million, or $2.41 per share, in 2022. Return on average equity decreased in 2023 to 3.85% from 10.48% in 2022, and the 
return on average assets decreased from 0.67% in 2022 to 0.22% in 2023.  The Company’s net income per common share 
totaled $0.79 in 2023, a decrease from $2.41 in 2022.  
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At year-end 2023, the Company had total assets of $1.29 billion, total loans held for investment of $822.1 million, and 
total deposits of $1.13 billion, compared to year-end balances for 2022 of total assets of $1.25 billion, total loans held for 
investment of $743.6 million, and total deposits of $1.08 billion. 
Changes in Net Income per Common Share: 

 From 2022 to 2023 From 2021 to 2022 
Prior Year Net Income Per Common Share $                       2.41 $                 3.25 
Change from differences in:   
   Net interest income  (0.94) 1.06 
   Provision for credit losses (0.05) (1.07) 
   Noninterest income, excluding securities gains 0.42 (0.91) 
   Security gains (0.27) 0.42 
   Noninterest expenses (1.11) (0.45) 
   Income taxes 0.35 0.24 
   Effect of preferred stock dividend                      -                   0.06 
   Change in average shares outstanding                        (0.02)                  (0.19) 
      Total Change                       (1.62)                 (0.84) 
Net Income Per Common Share $                       0.79 $                 2.41 

 
 
Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

This report refers to certain financial measures that are computed under a basis other than GAAP (“non-GAAP”).  The 
Company uses certain non-GAAP financial measures to provide meaningful supplemental information regarding the 
Company's operating performance and to enhance investors' overall understanding of such financial performance.  The 
methodology for determining these non-GAAP measures may differ among companies and are supplementary to our 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows computed in accordance with GAAP. Details on non-GAAP 
measures follow. 
 
In this discussion and in the tabular analysis of net interest income performance, entitled “Consolidated Average 
Balances, Yields and Rates,” the interest earned on tax exempt loans and investment securities has been adjusted to reflect 
the amount that would have been earned had these investments been subject to normal income taxation. This is referred 
to as tax-equivalent net interest income.   
 
The following table reconciles tax equivalent net interest income, which is not a measurement under GAAP, to net interest 
income (dollars in thousands): 
 
 

GAAP Financial Measurements: 2023 2022 
         Interest Income – Loans $  48,045 $  34,374 

Interest Income - Securities and Other Interest-Earnings Assets 8,281 7,765 
         Interest Expense – Deposits 21,177 5,735 
         Interest Expense - Other Borrowings       3,488       1,510 
Total Net Interest Income 31,661 34,894 
   
Non-GAAP Financial Measurements:   

Add: Tax Benefit on Tax-Exempt Interest Income – Loans and Securities          156           143 
Total Tax Benefit on Tax-Exempt Interest Income          156           143 
Tax-Equivalent Net Interest Income $  31,817 $  35,037 

 
Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin 
 
In 2022 and 2023, short term interest rates rose significantly due to eleven Federal Reserve interest rate hikes totaling 
525 basis points. This directly impacted the Bank’s cost of deposits and short-term borrowings, while the longer-term 
rates used to price loans have not increased to the same extent. For the year 2023, tax-equivalent net interest income 
totaled $31.8 million, a decrease of $3.2 million from 2022, as the $14.2 million increase in interest income was outpaced 
by a $17.4 million increase in interest expense. These factors also contributed to a 35 basis point decline in Net Interest 
Margin to 2.67% in 2023 from 3.02% in 2022. Tax-equivalent net income is a non-GAAP measure. See “Non-GAAP 
Financial Measures” above for additional information. 
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Interest Income 
 
Tax-equivalent income on earning assets totaled $56.5 million for 2023, an increase of $14.2 million from the prior year.  
The increase resulted from both a shift in the mix of earning assets and a higher earning asset yield.  
 
Loans held for investment, expressed as a percentage of total earning assets, increased in 2023 to 65.3% as compared to 
59.3% in 2022.   Average loans held for investment increased by $92.1 million to $778.6 million. Average balances on 
commercial loans increased 25.01%, real estate loans increased 2.60%, and consumer installment loans increased 
15.22%. Meanwhile, average investment securities decreased 9.8%, with average securities outstanding declining from 
$445.6 million to $402.1 million.  Proceeds from bond maturities and paydowns were used to fund new loan originations 
during 2023. 
 
The taxable-equivalent yield on earning assets increased 109 basis points from 3.65% in 2022 to 4.74% in 2023 due to 
the rising interest rate environment experienced in 2023. Interest income and fees on loans were $13.7 million higher and 
income from cash equivalents and securities was $535,000 higher due to higher rates on variable rate loans, interest 
bearing cash and Federal Funds Sold. 
 
Interest Expense 
 
Interest expense increased $17.4 million or 240.44% during 2023. Higher rates on interest bearing deposits, specifically 
money market and time deposit accounts, coupled with interest paid on short-term borrowings increased the Bank’s 
interest expense. The average cost of interest-bearing liabilities was 2.73%, an increase of 187 basis points from 2022 
while average balances of interest-bearing liabilities increased $57.3 million or 6.76% during the same period. During 
2023, there was a shift in deposits from non-interest bearing demand to interest-bearing deposits and the average balance 
of interest-bearing deposits rose by $30.1 million to $838.4 million. Interest expense on deposits increased $15.4 million 
or 269.26%  due to the higher balances and an increase of 182 basis points in the cost of interest-bearing deposits to 
2.53%.  Interest expense was also impacted by an increase of $27.2 million in the average balance of other interest-
bearing liabilities.  The cost of those liabilities also increased by 140 basis points from 3.88% in 2022 to 5.28% in 2023. 
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Consolidated Average Balances, Yields and Rates (dollars in thousands)1 

 
 2023 2022 
 Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate 
ASSETS       
Loans2       

     Commercial   $    318,163  $    20,852 6.55% $    254,506  $    12,437 4.89% 
     Real estate    303,203 16,682 5.50% 295,524 13,733 4.65% 
     Consumer        157,265       10,468    6,66%       136,495         8,149    5.97% 
     Loans held for investment4 778,631 48,002 6.16% 686,525 34,319 5.00% 
     Loans held for sale   1,246 88 7.06% 3,130 106 3.39% 
       
Investment securities3       

     Taxable   386,958 7,266 1.88% 433,242 7,233 1.67% 
     Tax exempt         15,172            532    3.51%         12,365            434    3.51% 
     Total investment securities   402,130 7,798 1.94% 445,607 7,667 1.72% 
       
Interest bearing deposits in banks   5,202 348 6.69% 1,390 37 2.66% 
Federal funds sold            4,800            246    5.13%          21,763            153    0.70% 
     Total Earning Assets     1,192,009       56,482    4.74%     1,158,415       42,282    3.65% 
       
Allowance for credit losses   (8,570)   (7,677)   
Nonearning assets          86,920            83,604   
     Total Assets  $  1,270,359   $  1,234,342   
       
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
Deposits       
     Demand-interest bearing   $    166,425 $       3,119 1.87%  $    183,882 $          868 0.47% 
     Savings   507,811 13,372 2.63% 502,913 3,904 0.78% 
     Time deposits      164,202         4,686      2.85%      121,585         963      0.79% 
     Total interest-bearing deposits  838,438 21,177 2.53% 808,380 5,735 0.71% 
       
Federal funds purchased 755 42 5.56% 883 28 3.17% 
Short-term debt  58,430 2,987 5.11% 25,241 732 2.90% 
Long-term debt            6,912             459      6.64%          12,748          750      5.88% 
     Total interest-bearing liabilities        904,535        24,665      2.73%        847,252          7,245      0.86% 
       
Noninterest bearing deposits   267,030   292,252   
Other liabilities          26,858            15,457   
     Total liabilities   1,198,423   1,154,961   
Shareholders’ equity          71,936            79,381   
     Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $  1,270,359   $  1,234,342   
       
     Net interest earnings   $    31,817   $    35,037  
       
     Net yield on interest earning assets (NIM)     2.67%   3.02% 
       

 1 Income and yields are presented on a tax-equivalent basis using the applicable federal income tax rate of 21%. 
 2 Interest income on loans includes loan fees. 
 3 Average balance information is reflective of historical cost and has not been adjusted for changes in market value. 
 4 Includes nonaccrual loans.  
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Changes in the cost of funds attributable to rate and volume variances are reflected in the following table (dollars in 
thousands), which illustrates the effect of changes in interest income and interest expense, on a tax equivalent basis, and 
distinguishes between the changes resulting from the increases or decreases in the outstanding balances of interest-
earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities (volume), and the changes resulting from increases or decreases in average 
interest rates on such assets and liabilities (rate). Changes related to both volume and rate have been allocated 
proportionally. 
 

 2023 Compared to 2022 
 Increase (Decrease) 
       Due to Change Increase 
  in Average: Or 
 Volume Rate (Decrease) 
    
Interest income    
Loans held for investment  $    4,605                $    9,078            $     13,683                   
Loans held for sale  (64) 46 (18) 
Investment securities:    
  Taxable    (773) 806 33 
  Tax exempt 99 (1) 98 
Interest bearing deposits in banks 101 210 311 
Federal funds sold       (118)          211                93 
Total Interest Income        3,850     10,350         14,200 
    
Interest expense    
Deposits:    
  Demand - interest bearing  (82) 2,333 2,251 
  Savings   38 9,430 9,468 
  Time deposits   337 3,386 3,723 
    
Federal funds purchased (4) 18 14 
Short-term debt   962 1,293 2,255 
Long-term debt        (343)            52          (291) 
Total Interest Expense           908     16,512        17,420 

Net Interest Income  $    2,942                 $  (6,162)           $     (3,220)                 
    

Noninterest Income 
 
Noninterest income totaled $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $1.1 million from the year 
ended December 31, 2022. The primary reasons for this decrease were reductions of $33,000 in service charges on deposit 
accounts, $1.1 million in mortgage banking income, and $244,000 in title insurance income. The declines in mortgage 
banking and title insurance income are due to the overall decrease in mortgage banking volume and a shift from loans 
being sold on the secondary market to portfolio adjustable rate mortgages (ARMs) and construction products. These 
decreases were partially offset by a $459,000 increase in income from BOLI resulting from a one-time gain received in 
the second quarter, an increase of $260,000 in investment services and insurance income, higher ATM and check card 
fees which grew by $174,000, and a $2,000 increase in other operating income. In 2022, there was a $2.9 million loss on 
the sale of investment securities compared to no loss in 2023. Also in 2022, the Company sold its partnership interest in 
Infinex Financial Holdings, Inc., resulting in a $3.8 million gain in 2022 and a second smaller milestone gain of $232,000 
in December 2023. 
 
Noninterest Expense 
 
Noninterest expenses totaled $38.8 million in 2023, compared to $36.5 million in 2022, an increase of $2.2 million. A 
primary driver for this increase was the $2.3 million in pre-tax severance expenses related to the early retirement program 
accrued in the fourth quarter and severance accruals for two former executives earlier in 2023. These accruals contributed 
to the $1.9 million increase in salary expense to $18.9 million. Other significant year-over-year increases include higher 
equipment expense which increased $252,000, FDIC Insurance expense which increased $226,000, legal and 
professional fees which were $85,000 higher than last year, and higher other operating expenses, which were up 
$853,000. These higher expenses were partially offset by decreases in employee benefits expense and 
telecommunications and data processing expenses which were down $676,000 and $253,000, respectively, as well as 
smaller decreases in other expense categories. 
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Balance Sheet 
 
Total assets increased 3.91% during the year to $1.29 billion at December 31, 2023, an increase of $48.7 million from 
$1.25 billion at December 31, 2022.  The increase was fueled by strong growth in loans held for investment that 
increased by $78.5 million to $822.1 million. Cash and cash equivalents decreased $11.2 million as excess funds were 
used to fund loan growth. Investment securities decreased by $24.0 million due to paydowns on U.S. Agency 
mortgage-backed securities and expected bond maturities that were partially offset by an improvement in the 
unrealized loss on the bond portfolio. During 2023, the net unrealized loss declined by $11.0 million to $40.2 million 
from $51.2 million at December 31, 2022. 
 
Total deposits at December 31, 2023, were $1.13 billion, an increase of $49.9 million from the end of 2022, as the 
Bank was able to attract deposits by offering higher rates on money market and time deposit accounts, and by opening 
insured cash sweep accounts for new and existing customers. The additional deposits allowed us to reduce Federal 
Home Loan Bank (FHLB) advances by $10.0 million. At December 31, 2023, 11.60% of the Bank’s total deposits 
were uninsured.  
 
Shareholders’ Equity increased by $7.5 million to $78.3 million due to net income of $2.8 million and other 
comprehensive income of $9.0 million, offset by a $1.2 million adjustment to retained earnings upon the adoption of 
the Current Expected Credit Loss (CECL) accounting standard on January 1, 2023, and dividends to shareholders of 
$3.6 million. Other comprehensive income includes an $8.7 million improvement in unrealized losses in the bond 
portfolio and a $318,000 adjustment to the pension liability.  
 
Investment Securities 
 
Total securities decreased $24.0 million or 5.94% in 2023 to $379.6 million at December 31, 2023 from $403.5 million 
at December 31, 2022.  Average balances in investment securities decreased 9.76% in 2023 to $402.1 million.  At year 
end, 33.7% of average earning assets of the Company were held as investment securities compared to 38.5% at year-end 
2022. The Company has securities with a par value of $220.8 million and a market value of $196.0 million pledged to 
the Federal Reserve Discount Window Bank Term Funding Program (“BTFP”) as of December 31, 2023. Additionally, 
the Company has securities with a par value of $20.0 million and a market value of $19.5 million pledged to the Federal 
Reserve Discount Window. The BTFP was created in  March 2023 to support American businesses and households by 
making additional funding available to eligible depository institutions to help assure banks have the ability to meet the 
needs of all their depositors. The Discount Window provides access to funding to help depository institutions manage 
their liquidity risks. The Bank did not borrow from the BTFP or discount window during 2023. 
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 on January 1, 2023. Management evaluates all investments in an unrealized loss position 
quarterly. The Company has the intent and the ability to hold securities in the portfolio to maturity and an allowance for 
credit losses has not been recorded as of December 31, 2023. 
 
Maturities and weighted average yields of securities at December 31, 2023 are presented in the table below (dollars in 
thousands). Amounts are shown by contractual maturity; expected maturities will differ as issuers may have the right to 
call or prepay obligations. Maturities of other investments are not readily determinable due to the nature of the 
investment; see Note 2 “Securities” of this Form 10-K for a description of these investments.  
 

  Less One to Five to Over   
 Than one Year Five Years Ten Years Ten Years   
  Amount Yield1 Amount Yield1 Amount Yield1 Amount Yield1 Total Yield1 
Securities Available for Sale: 
U.S. Treasuries $ 14,629 1.15% $ 18,252 1.41% $          - - $           - - $ 32,881 1.29% 
U.S. Government sponsored 
enterprises 

    58,370 0.97%          57,186     1.43% 9,147 1.69%            - -                124,703 1.23% 

Securities issued by States & 
political subdivisions of the U.S. 

484 1.72% 18,455 1.57% 5,542 2.11% 14,280 2.74% 38,761 2.08% 

Mortgage-backed obligations of 
federal agencies  

- - 20,749 1.38% 18,145 0.41% 106,179 1.91% 145,073 1.65% 

Corporate debt securities              - -              - -   27,256 4.08%              - -     27,256 4.08% 
 Total  $  73,483   1.01% $114,642     1.44% $ 60,090        2.43% $120,459 2.01% $368,674         1.94% 
           

1Tax equivalent yield to the earlier of the call or the maturity date. On securities without a call date, it is the stated yield. 
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Loan Portfolio 
 
Loans held for investment, net of deferred fees and costs, totaled $822.1 million at December 31, 2023 compared with 
$743.6 million at December 31, 2022. One-to-four family residential real estate and automobile loans represent the 
Company’s largest categories at December 31, 2023. The largest areas of growth in 2023 occurred in the farmland, real 
estate, and automobile portfolios. The Company is committed to solid growth by originating soundly underwritten loans 
to qualified borrowers. Nearly 73% of the commercial portfolio is comprised of adjustable interest rate loans.  When 
interest rates fluctuate, these loans will reprice accordingly, giving customers an advantage when rates trend down and 
providing protection for the Bank if rates trend up.  
 
 
The following table shows the maturity of loans and leases, outstanding as of December 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 1 Year or less 1-5 Years 5-15 Years 
After 15 
Years Total 

1-4 Family residential construction $         18,886 $        11,252 $                350 $                   - $                30,488 
Other construction, land development and land           22,557           14,879               10,290             23                 47,749 
Secured by farmland 33,540 21,886 26,231 - 81,657 
Home equity – open end 45,607 - 142 - 45,749 
Real Estate 23,064 88,748 85,326 3,491 200,629 
Home equity – closed end 634 1,273 2,928 - 4,835 
Multi-Family 1,235 4,634 2,334 - 8,203 
Owner occupied commercial real estate 38,376 33,975 20,011 - 92,362 
Other commercial real estate 50,279 31,919 23,983 - 106,181 
Agricultural loans 8,002 3,764 2,639 - 14,405 
Commercial and industrial 20,540 11,305 12,484 - 44,329 
Credit cards 3,252 - - - 3,252 
Automobile loans 1,377 38,806 82,741 - 122,924 
Other consumer loans 1,415 8,780 4,181 - 14,376 
Municipal loans               964               1,414 3,247                                                 -                      5,625 
Less: Deferred loan fees, net of costs                       -                       -                           -                       -                      (672) 
Total $        269,728 $        272,635 $            276,887 $            3,514 $               822,092 
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At December 31, 2023, for loans and leases due after one year, interest rate information is as follows (dollars in 
thousands): 

 1-5 Years 5-15 Years 
After 15 

Years Total 
1-4 Family residential construction     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $          11,145 $                   - $                 - $          11,145 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates                  107                 350                   -                 457 
   Total 1-4 Family residential construction 11,252 350 - 11,602 
Other construction, land development and land     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $           6,601 $             2,750 $              23 $            9,374 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates             8,278                7,540                  -             15,818 
   Total Other construction, land development & land 14,879 10,290 23 25,192 
Secured by farmland     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $               154 $             6,582 $                 - $            6,736 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates             21,732               19,649                   -             41,381 
   Total Secured by farmland 21,886 26,231 - 48,117 
Home Equity – open end     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $                    - $                    - $                 - $                   - 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates                     -                   142                   -                 142 
   Total Home Equity – open end - 142 - 142 
Real estate     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $               862 $            1,264 $         3,491 $           5,617 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates           87,886             84,062                   -        171,948 
   Total Real estate 88,748 85,326 3,491 177,565 
Home Equity – closed end     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $               123 $             2,292 $                 - $           2,415 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates             1,150                  636                   -             1,786 
   Total Home Equity – closed end 1,273 2,928 - 4,201 
Multifamily     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $                    - $                      - $                 - $                  - 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates             4,634                2,334                   -             6,968 
   Total Multifamily 4,634 2,334 - 6,968 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $               431 $              5,581 $                 - $          6,012 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates            33,544              14,430                   -          47,974 
   Total Owner-occupied commercial real estate 33,975 20,011 - 53,986 
Other commercial real estate     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $                   - $              5,391 $                 - $           5,391 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates           31,919 18,592                   -          50,511 
   Total Other commercial real estate 31,919 23,983 - 55,902 
Agricultural loans     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $            3,597 $              2,399 $                 - $            5,996 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates                 167                   240                   -               407 
   Total Agricultural loans 3,764 2,639 - 6,403 
Commercial and industrial     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $            9,975 $            12,014 $                 - $          21,989 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates               1,330                   470                   -            1,800 
Total Commercial and industrial 11,305 12,484 - 23,789 
Automobile loans     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $          38,806 $            82,741 $                 - $       121,547 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates                      -                       -                   -                    - 

Total Automobile loans 38,806 82,741 - 121,547 
Other consumer loans     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $            8,768 $              4,181 $                 - $         12,949 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates                    12                        -                   -                  12 
   Total Other consumer loans 8,780 4,181 - 12,961 
Municipal loans     
   Outstanding with fixed interest rates $              840 $                 923 $                 - $           1,763 
   Outstanding with adjustable rates                  574                2,324                   -               2,898 
   Total Municipal loans 1,414 3,247 - 4,461 
Total outstanding with fixed interest rates $          81,302 $          126,118 $          3,514 $        210,934 
Total outstanding with adjustable interest rates $        191,333 $          150,769 $                  - $        342,102 
Total $        272,635 $          276,887 $          3,514 $        553,036 
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Asset Quality 
 
Management evaluates the loan portfolio considering national and local economic trends, changes in the nature and 
volume of the portfolio, changes in underlying collateral values and trends in past due, nonperforming and criticized 
loans. Loans past due 30-89 days and on accrual increased, while loans greater than 90 days and on accrual decreased. 
 
Nonperforming Loans and Past Due Loans 
 
At December 31, 2023, the Company experienced an increase of $4.3 million in nonperforming assets compared to 
December 31, 2022. The increase is primarily due to two commercial loans to one borrower. Approximately 85.15% 
of the nonperforming assets are secured by real estate and 63% have an allowance for credit losses. The Bank believes 
that adequate reserves have been established on nonperforming loans and continues to actively work with its customers 
to effect payment.  As of December 31, 2023, the Company holds $55,000 of real estate acquired through foreclosure; 
no real estate acquired through foreclosure was held on December 31, 2022. 
 
Past due loans on accrual increased from $5.6 million at December 31, 2022 to $7.7 million at December 31, 2023. 
Of the $7.7 million total past due loans still accruing interest, $31,000 or 0.004% of the total loans held for investment 
were loans past due 90 days or more at December 31, 2023, compared to $38,000 or 0.005% at December 31, 2022. 
 
A summary of credit ratios for nonaccrual loans is as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 

 2023 2022 
Allowance for credit losses $            8,321 $            7,936 
Nonaccrual loans $            6,438 $            2,224 
Nonperforming loans $            6,469 $            2,262 
Nonperforming assets $            6,524 $            2,262 
Total Loans $        822,092 $        743,604 
   
Allowance for loan losses to Total Loans 1.01% 1.07% 
Nonaccrual Loans to Total Loans 0.78% 0.30% 
Allowance for loan losses to Nonaccrual loans 129.25% 356.83% 

 
Net Charge-offs 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, net charge-offs of loans totaled $1.5 million or 0.18% of loans held for 
investment, compared to net charge-offs of $678,000 or 0.09% for the year ended December 31, 2022. Charge-offs 
occur primarily in the automobile loan segment of the portfolio. The following table summarizes the net charge-off 
activity by loan segment for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, (dollars in thousands). Under adoption of 
ASC 326, there were changes to certain loan segments to better differentiate credit characteristics and align with our 
ACL model, see Note 3 “Loans and Credit Quality” for additional information. 
 

As of December 31, 2023 Charge-offs Recoveries 
Net 

Charge-offs 
Net charge-offs 
to average loans 

1-4 Family residential construction $              (70) $                    1 $            (69) -0.21% 
Other construction, land development and 
land 

- - - - 

Secured by farmland - - - - 
Home equity – open end - 3 3 0.01% 
Real estate (19) 2 (17) -0.01% 
Home Equity – closed end - - - - 
Multifamily - - - - 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate - - - - 
Other commercial real estate - - - - 
Agricultural loans - - - - 
Commercial and industrial (33) 2 (31) -0.07% 
Credit Cards (69) 37 (32) -0.97% 
Automobile loans (1,804) 514 (1,290) -1.04% 
Other consumer loans (93) 55 (38) -0.26% 
Municipal loans                      -                      -                    -                    - 
Total $         (2,088) $                614 $       (1,474) -0.19% 
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As of December 31, 2022 Charge-offs Recoveries 
Net 

Charge-offs 
Net charge-offs 
to average loans 

Construction/Land Development $                  - $                   - $                 - - 
Farmland - - - - 
Real Estate (17) - (17) -0.01% 
Multi-Family - - - - 
Commercial Real Estate - - - - 
Home Equity – closed end - - - - 
Home Equity – open end (84) 130 46 0.10% 
Commercial & Industrial – Non-Real Estate (46) 49 3 0.01% 
Consumer (153) 84 (69) -1.07% 
Dealer Finance (1,280) 691 (589) -0.48% 
Credit Cards                 (66)                   14               (52)            -1.62% 
Total $         (1,646) $               968 $          (678)            -0.10% 

 
Allowance and Provision for Credit Losses 
 
At December 31, 2023, the allowance for credit losses was $8.3 million or 1.01% of total loans held for investment, 
compared to an allowance of $7.9 million or 1.07% of total loans at December 31, 2022.  At December 31, 2023, the 
allowance for credit losses on loans (“ACLL”) reflected a day one CECL impact of $777,000 which was charged to 
retained earnings net of taxes, $1.5 million in net charge-offs, and a provision for credit losses on loans of $1.1 million. 
The provision was primarily due to loan growth of $78.5 million and charge-offs in the automobile portfolio. 
Additionally, the provision for credit losses includes a recovery of $57,000 on the reserve for unfunded commitments. 
The provision for credit losses on loans and for unfunded commitments net together as reflected in the provision for 
credit losses on the consolidated statements of income for a provision of $1.0 million.  
 
The following table summarizes the ACLL by loan segment and percentage of the loan portfolio that the related ALLL 
covers as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, (dollars in thousands): 
 

As of December 31, 2023 
ACLL by 
Segment 

Segment as a 
% of Total 

Loans 
1-4 Family residential construction $                   714 3.71% 
Other construction, land development and land 1,287 5.80% 
Secured by farmland 815 9.92% 
Home equity – open end 180 5.56% 
Real estate 810 24.39% 
Home Equity – closed end 77 0.59% 
Multifamily 181 1.00% 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate 1,221 11.23% 
Other commercial real estate 166 12.90% 
Agricultural loans 20 1.75% 
Commercial and industrial 1,034 5.39% 
Credit Cards 81 0.40% 
Automobile loans 1,443 14.94% 
Other consumer loans 292 1.75% 
Municipal loans                          -               0.68% 
Total $                8,321                100% 
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As of December 31, 2022 
ACLL by 
Segment 

Segment as a 
% of Total 

Loans 
Construction/Land Development $                  790 9.23% 
Farmland 570 9.99% 
Real Estate 1,296 20.60% 
Multi-Family 71 1.29% 
Commercial Real Estate 2,004 26.23% 
Home Equity – closed end 38 0.63% 
Home Equity – open end 445 6.31% 
Commercial & Industrial – Non-Real Estate 450 7.61% 
Consumer 81 0.87% 
Dealer Finance 1,779   16.81% 
Credit Cards                      68               0.44% 
Total $               7,592           100.00% 

 
 
See “Critical Accounting Policies” on page 15, Note 1 “Nature of Banking Activities and Significant Accounting 
Policies” of this Form 10-K for an overview of the methodology management employs on a quarterly basis to assess 
the adequacy of the allowance and the provisions charged to expense. See Note 4 “Allowance for Credit Losses” of 
this Form 10-K for a summary of the activity in the allowance for credit losses for years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022. 
 
Deposits 
 
Core deposits are the Company’s primary source of funding. Demand deposits, money market accounts, savings 
accounts, and time deposits provide a source of fee income and opportunities to build customer relationships. 
 
The following table shows the composition of deposits as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollars in thousands): 
 

  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

 Balance 
% of total 
deposits Balance 

% of total 
deposits 

Noninterest-bearing demand $                   264,254       23.3% $               293,596       27.1% 
Interest Checking                    153,308       13.5%                  176,677       16.3% 
Savings Accounts 501,151 44.2% 493,912 45.6% 
Time Deposits                      214,523 18.9%                  119,192 11.0% 
Total deposits $                1,133,236        $            1,083,377        

 
As market rates and competition for deposits increased in 2023, total deposits increased $50.0 million due to attractive  
rates on money market and time deposit accounts and offering insured cash sweep accounts for new and existing 
customers. Noninterest-bearing demand deposits decreased by $29.3 million as customers moved funds into interest 
bearing savings and time deposit accounts. 
 
The average deposit balances and average rates paid for 2023 and 2022 were as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 

 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 
 Average Balance Rate Average Balance Rate 
Noninterest-bearing $                    267,030       - $               292,252       - 
Interest-bearing:     
   Interest Checking  $                    166,425       1.87%  $              183,882       0.47% 
   Savings Accounts 507,811 2.63% 502,913 0.78% 
   Time Deposits                       164,202 2.85%                  121,585 0.79% 
Total interest-bearing deposits                       838,438 2.53%                  808,380 0.71% 
Total average deposits $                 1,105,468       1.92% $            1,100,632       0.64% 
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The maturity distribution of time deposits of $250 thousand or greater outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are 
summarized as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Maturing in:   
   3 months or less $      1,168 $            - 
   Over 3 months through 6 months 20,984 592 
   Over 6 months through 12 months 9,732 8,553 
   Over 12 months      5,922      3,523 
 $  37,806 $  12,668 

 
Total uninsured deposits in excess of $250 thousand were $131.9 million and $157.4 million at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. 
 
Borrowings 
 
Short-term debt totaled $60.0 million at December 31, 2023, and consisted of Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) 
advances which were used to fund loan growth. Long-term debt remained at $6.9 million from December 31, 2022 to 
December 31, 2023 and consists solely of subordinated debt. See Note 9 “Short-Term Debt” and Note 10 “Long-Term 
Debt” in this Form 10-K for a discussion of the rates, terms, and conversion features on these advances. 
 
Shareholders’ Equity 
 
Total Shareholders’ Equity increased by $7.5 million to $78.3 million due to net income of $2.8 million and other 
comprehensive income of $9.0 million, offset by dividends to shareholders of $3.6 million. Other comprehensive income 
includes $8.7 million improvement in unrealized losses in the bond portfolio and a $318,000 adjustment to the pension 
liability.  
 
Market Risk Management 
 
Market risk is the sensitivity of a financial institution’s earnings or the economic value of its capital to adverse changes 
in interest rates, exchange rates, and equity prices. The Company’s primary component of market risk is interest rate 
volatility. Interest rate fluctuations impact the amount of interest income and expense the Bank pays or receives on the 
majority of its assets. Rapid changes in short-term interest rates may lead to volatility in net interest income resulting in 
additional interest rate risk to the extent that imbalances exist between the maturities or repricing of interest-bearing 
liabilities and interest earning assets.  
 
The Company manages interest rate risk through an asset and liability committee (“ALCO”) composed of members of 
its Board of Directors and executive management. The ALCO is responsible for monitoring and managing the 
Company’s interest rate risk and establishing policies to monitor and limit exposure to this risk. The Company’s Board 
of Directors reviews and approves the guidelines established by ALCO. 
 
Management uses simulation analysis to measure the sensitivity of net interest income to changes in interest rates. The 
model calculates an earnings estimate based on current and projected balances and rates. This method is subject to the 
accuracy of the assumptions that underlie the process, but it provides an additional analysis of the sensitivity of the 
earnings to changes in interest rates to static gap analysis. Assumptions used in the model rates are derived from historical 
trends,  peer analysis, and management’s outlook, and include loans and deposit growth rates and projected yields and 
rates. All maturities, calls, and prepayments in the securities portfolio are assumed to be reinvested in like instruments. 
Mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities prepayment assumptions are based on industry estimates of prepayment 
speeds for portfolios with similar coupon ranges and seasoning. Different interest rate scenarios and yield curves are used 
to measure the sensitivity of earnings to changing interest rates. Interest rates on different assets and liability accounts 
move differently when the prime rate changes and is reflected in different rate scenarios.  
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The following table represents interest rate sensitivity on the Company’s net interest income using different rate 
scenarios: 

Change in Prime Rate % Change in Net Interest Income 
+ 400 basis points -20.32% 
+ 300 basis points -13.64% 
+ 200 basis points -8.51% 
+ 100 basis points -3.82% 
- 100 basis points 3.21% 
-200 basis points 7.43% 
-300 basis points 11.19% 
-400 basis points 10.60% 

 
Economic  value simulation is used to calculate the estimated fair value of assets and liabilities over different interest rate 
environments. Market values are calculated based on discounted cash flow analysis. The net economic  value is the 
market value of all assets minus the market value of all liabilities. The change in net economic value over different rate 
environments is an indication of the longer- term repricing risk in the balance sheet. The same assumptions are used in 
the market value simulation as in the earnings simulation.  
 
The following table reflects the change in net economic value over different rate environments: 
 

Change in Prime Rate % Change in Net Economic Value 
+400 basis points -14.35% 
+ 300 basis points -9.50% 
+ 200 basis points -5.39% 
+ 100 basis points -2.24% 
- 100 basis points 0.23% 
-200 basis points -1.03% 
-300 basis points -9.72% 
-400 basis points -15.36% 

 
Prudent balance sheet management requires processes that monitor and protect the Company against unanticipated or 
significant changes in the level of market interest rates. Net interest income stability should be maintained in changing 
rate environments by ensuring that interest rate risk is kept to an acceptable level. The ability to reprice our interest-
sensitive assets and liabilities over various time intervals is of critical importance. 
 
The Company uses a variety of traditional and on-balance-sheet tools to manage our interest rate risk. Gap analysis, 
which monitors the “gap” between interest-sensitive assets and liabilities, is one such tool. In addition, we use simulation 
modeling to forecast future balance sheet and income statement behavior. By studying the effects on net interest income 
of rising, stable, and falling interest rate scenarios, the Company can position itself to take advantage of anticipated 
interest rate movement, and protect us from unanticipated rate movements, by understanding the dynamic nature of our 
balance sheet components. 
 
An asset-sensitive balance sheet structure implies that assets, such as loans and securities, will reprice faster than 
liabilities; consequently, net interest income should be positively affected in an increasing interest rate environment. 
Conversely, a liability-sensitive balance sheet structure implies that liabilities, such as deposits, will reprice faster than 
assets; consequently, net interest income should be positively affected in a decreasing interest rate environment. At 
December 31, 2023, the Company had $151.7 million more in liabilities repricing than assets subject to repricing in one 
year. This is a one-day position that is continually changing and is not necessarily indicative of our position at any other 
time. 
 
Liquidity 
 
Liquidity represents an institution’s ability to meet present and future financial obligations through either the sale or 
maturity of existing assets or the acquisition of additional funds through liability management. Liquid assets include 
cash, interest-bearing deposits with banks, money market investments, federal funds sold, LHFS, and securities and 
loans maturing or re-pricing within one year. Additional sources of liquidity available to the Company include its 
capacity to borrow additional funds when necessary through federal funds lines with several correspondent banks, a 
line of credit with the FHLB, credit availability at the Federal Reserve Bank, the purchase of brokered certificates of 
deposit, corporate line of credit with a large correspondent bank, and debt and capital issuances. Management believes 
the Company’s current overall liquidity is sufficient to satisfy its depositors’ requirements and to meet its customers’ 
credit needs. 
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The Company closely monitors changes in the industry and market conditions that may impact the Company’s 
liquidity. Deposits have remained a steady source of liquidity from 2022 to 2023. The Company may use other means 
of borrowings or other liquidity sources to fund any liquidity needs based on declines in deposit balances. The 
Company is also closely tracking the potential impacts on the Company’s liquidity of declines in fair value of the 
Company’s securities portfolio due to rising market interest rates. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, liquid assets totaled $97.2 million, or 7.5% of total assets, and liquid earning assets totaled 
$77.4 million, or 6.5% of total earning assets. Asset liquidity is also provided by managing loan and securities 
maturities and cash flows. The Bank is scheduled to receive $93.7 million from bond paydowns and maturities by the 
end of 2024 which can be used to fund future loan growth and for other purposes. 
 
In 2023 the Bank pledged investment securities with a par value totaling $220.8 million to the Federal Reserve 
System’s BTFP. In March 2023, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System established the BTFP to 
provide any U.S. federally insured depository institution, including the Bank, with a line of credit equal to the par 
value of securities pledged to the BTFP. Advances from the BTFP may be requested by the Bank for up to one year 
until March 31, 2024. The Bank also pledged securities with a market value of $19.5 million to the Federal Reserve 
Discount Window. The Bank did not borrow from the BTFP or the Federal Reserve Discount Window during 2023.  
 
In addition to the BTFP, the Bank has access to off-balance sheet liquidity through unsecured Federal funds lines 
totaling $90.0 million December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022. The Bank also has a secured line of credit with 
the FHLB with available credit of $90.1 million and $39.1 million as of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, 
respectively. The FHLB line of credit is secured by a blanket lien on qualifying loans in the residential, commercial, 
agricultural real estate, and home equity portfolios. 
 
The Bank has a Funding and Liquidity Risk Management policy that limits the amount of short-term and long-term 
alternative funding to no more than 25% of total assets. 
 
Capital Resources 
 
The Company continues to maintain capital ratios intended to support its asset growth. The federal bank regulatory 
agencies have implemented regulatory capital rules known as “Basel III.” The Basel III rules require a common equity 
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets minimum ratio of 4.50%, a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted 
assets of 6.00%, a minimum ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.00%, and a minimum Tier 1 leverage 
ratio of 4.00%. There is also a capital conservation buffer that requires banks to hold common equity Tier 1 capital in 
excess of minimum risk-based capital ratios by at least 2.50% to avoid limits on capital distributions and certain 
discretionary bonus payments to executive officers and similar employees. The Company’s accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss, resulting from unrealized gains and losses, net of income tax, on investment securities 
available for sale, is excluded from regulatory capital. 
 
Pursuant to the Federal Reserve’s Small Bank Holding Company Policy Statement, the Company is not required to 
comply with Basel III on a parent-only basis. As of December 31, 2023, the Company and its subsidiary bank continue 
to exceed minimum capital standards and remain well-capitalized under applicable capital adequacy rules. The 
Company currently expects to continue to exceed required minimum capital ratios. See Note 14 “Regulatory Matters” 
of this Form 10-K for more information regarding the Company’s and its subsidiary bank’s capital ratios. 
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 
 
Not Applicable. 
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 
 
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of F&M Bank Corp. 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of F&M Bank Corp. and its subsidiaries (the Company) 
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), changes 
in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements (collectively, the financial statements).  In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard 
As discussed in Notes 1 and 4 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for credit 
losses in 2023 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses 
(Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, including all related amendments.  
 
Basis for Opinion 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect 
to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of internal 
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no opinion. 
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.  Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  Our audits also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
Critical Audit Matters 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements 
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 
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Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans Collectively Evaluated for Credit Losses 
 
Description of the Matter 
As discussed in Note 1 (Nature of Banking Activities and Significant Accounting Policies) and Note 4 (Allowance for 
Credit Losses) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for credit losses 
on January 1, 2023, due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses 
(Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended. The allowance for credit losses on 
loans (ACLL) is a valuation allowance that represents management’s best estimate of expected credit losses on loans 
measured at amortized cost considering available information, from internal and external sources, relevant to assessing 
collectability over the loans’ contractual terms. Loans which share common risk characteristics are pooled and 
collectively evaluated by the Company using historical data, as well as assessments of current conditions and reasonable 
and supportable forecasts of future conditions. The Company’s ACLL related to collectively evaluated loans represented 
$7.3 million of the total recorded ACLL of $8.3 million as of December 31, 2023. The collectively evaluated ACLL 
consists of quantitative and qualitative components.   
 
The Company uses a weighted average remaining life methodology to determine the quantitative component of the 
collectively evaluated ACLL.  Under this methodology, the Company determines future expectations of the pool balances 
by using a remaining life calculator. A quarterly expected loss rate based on historical information is applied to an 
expected remaining balance for each period to determine the unadjusted expected loss for each loan pool segment.  
 
In addition to the quantitative component, the collectively evaluated ACLL also includes a qualitative component which 
aggregates management’s assessment of available information relevant to assessing collectability that is not captured in 
the quantitative loss estimation process. Factors considered by management in developing its qualitative estimates 
include: changes in lending policies and procedures; the nature and volume of the portfolio; experience and ability of 
management and staff; the volume and severity of delinquencies and adversely classified loan balances; concentrations 
of credit; the value of underlying collateral; forecasted economic conditions; loan review system; and legal or regulatory 
requirements and competition. This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to 
significant revision as more information becomes available. 
 
Management exercised significant judgment when estimating the ACLL on collectively evaluated loans. We identified 
the estimation of the collectively evaluated ACLL as a critical audit matter as auditing the collectively evaluated ACLL 
involved especially complex and subjective auditor judgment in evaluating management’s assessment of the inherently 
subjective estimates.   
 
The primary audit procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: 
 
• Obtaining an understanding of the Company’s process for determining its ACLL, including the underlying 
methodology and significant inputs to the calculation. 
• Substantively testing management’s process for measuring the collectively evaluated ACLL, including: 
o Evaluating conceptual soundness, assumptions, and key data inputs of the Company’s weighted average remaining 
life methodology, including the identification of loan pools, inputs for the attrition rate calculation, and the historical loss 
information utilized to determine the quarterly expected loss rate. 
o Evaluating the methodology and testing the accuracy of incorporating reasonable and supportable forecasts in the 
collectively evaluated ACLL estimate. 
o Evaluating the completeness and accuracy of data inputs used as a basis for the qualitative factors. 
o Evaluating the qualitative factors for directional consistency in comparison to prior periods and for reasonableness 
in comparison to underlying supporting data. 
o Testing the mathematical accuracy of the ACLL for collectively evaluated loans including both the discounted 
cashflow and qualitative factor components of the calculations. 
/s/ Yount, Hyde & Barbour, P.C.  
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016. 
 
Roanoke, Virginia 
March 27, 2024 
 
 



 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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F & M Bank Corp. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets (dollars in thousands) 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

 2023 2022 
Assets   
Cash and due from banks  $            19,790                     $            17,926                     
Money market funds and interest-bearing deposits in other banks 178 687 
Federal funds sold               3,749                16,340  
      Cash and cash equivalents 23,717 34,953 
   
Securities:   
Held to maturity, at amortized cost-fair value of $112 in 2022 - 125 
Available for sale, at fair value 368,674 392,095 
Other investments  10,883 11,317 
   
Loans held for sale, at fair value 1,119 1,373 
   
Loans held for investment, net of deferred fees and costs  822,092 743,604 

Less: allowance for credit losses               (8,321)              (7,936) 
Net loans held for investment 813,771 735,668 

   
Bank premises and equipment, net  23,635 19,587 
Other real estate owned 55 - 
Interest receivable 5,034 3,995 
Goodwill  3,082 3,082 
Bank owned life insurance  22,878 23,554 
Other assets               21,748                                20,153                  
           Total Assets $       1,294,596 $       1,245,902 
   
Liabilities   
Deposits:    

Noninterest bearing $          264,254 $          293,596 
Interest bearing             868,982             789,781 

          Total deposits          1,133,236          1,083,377 
   
Short-term debt 60,000 70,000 
Long-term debt 6,932 6,890 
Other liabilities               16,105                             14,843               
          Total Liabilities          1,216,273          1,175,110 
   
Commitments and contingencies   
   
Shareholders’ Equity   
Common stock $5 par value, 6,000,000 shares authorized, 3,485,570 and    
   3,456,237 shares issued and outstanding  17,263 17,149 
Additional paid in capital 11,043 10,577 
Retained earnings 81,034 83,078 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss            (31,017)            (40,012) 

Total Shareholders’ Equity               78,323               70,792 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $       1,294,596 $       1,245,902 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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F & M Bank Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Income (dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
For the years ended 2023 and 2022 

 2023 2022 
Interest and Dividend Income   
Interest and fees on loans held for investment $            47,957                       $            34,268                       
Interest from loans held for sale 88 106 
Interest from money market funds and federal funds sold 594 190 
Interest from debt securities                 7,687                 7,575 
Total interest and dividend income               56,326               42,139 
   
Interest Expense   
Total interest on deposits 21,177 5,735 
Interest from short-term debt 3,029 760 
Interest from long-term debt                    459                    750 
Total interest expense               24,665                 7,245 
   
Net Interest Income               31,661               34,894 
   
Provision for Credit Losses                  1,025                    866 
Net Interest Income After Provision for Credit Losses               30,636               34,028 
   
Noninterest Income    
Service charges on deposit accounts 1,029 1,062 
Investment services and insurance income 1,732 1,472 
Mortgage banking income 1,973 3,024 
Title insurance income 1,334 1,578 
Income on bank owned life insurance 1,160 701 
Low-income housing partnership losses (821) (817) 
ATM and check card fees 2,636 2,462 
Net investment securities losses - (2,852) 
Gain on sale of limited partnership investment 232 3,785 
Other operating income                    879                                             877                          
Total noninterest income               10,154               11,292 
   
Noninterest Expense   
Salaries 18,889 16,967 
Employee benefits  4,111 4,787 
Occupancy expense 1,431 1,402 
Equipment expense 1,332 1,080 
FDIC insurance assessment 789 563 
Other real estate owned, net - 59 
Marketing expense 962 925 
Legal and professional expense 1,667 1,582 
ATM and check card fees 1,260 1,308 
Telecommunication and data processing expense 2,863 3,116 
Directors’ fees 530 580 
Bank franchise tax 629 704 
Other operating expenses                 4,302                 3,449 
Total noninterest expense               38,765               36,522 
   
Income before income taxes 2,025 8,798 
Income tax (benefit) expense                 (746)                    480 
Net income  $              2,771 $              8,318 
   
Per Common Share Data   
Net income (basic and diluted) $                0.80 $                2.41 
Cash dividends on common stock $                1.04 $                1.04 
Weighted average common shares outstanding (basic and diluted) 3,476,326 3,449,343 

  
 
 
 
 
 



 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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F & M Bank Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (dollars in thousands) 
For the years ended 2023 and 2022 
 

 Years Ended December 31, 
 2023 2022 
   
Net Income $            2,771                    $            8,318                    
   
Other comprehensive income (loss):   
Pension plan adjustment 403 4,722 
Tax effect                    85                    992 
Pension plan adjustment, net of tax                   318                                 3,730 
   
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities 10,984 (51,776) 
Tax effect               2,307               10,873 
Unrealized holding gains (losses), net of tax               8,677            (40,903) 
   
Less:   
Reclassifications adjustment for losses included in net income - 2,852 
Tax effect                        -                    599 
Realized losses on sale of available-for-sale securities, net                        -                 2,253 
   
Total other comprehensive income (loss)                8,995            (34,920) 
   
Total comprehensive income (loss) $           11,766 $         (26,602) 
   
   

 
 
 



 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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F & M Bank Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (dollars in thousands, except per 
share data) 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022  
 

 
Common 

Stock 

Additional 
Paid in 
Capital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensi
ve Loss 

Total 

      

Balance, December 31, 2021 $      17,071 $        10,127 $       78,350 $           (5,092) $          100,456 
Net Income - - 8,318 - 8,318 
Other comprehensive loss - - - (34,920) (34,920) 

Dividends on common stock ($1.04 per share) - - (3,590) - (3,590) 
Common stock issued  52 227 - - 279 
Vesting of time based stock awards issued at date of grant, net 
of shares withheld for payroll taxes 26 30 - - 56 
Stock-based compensation expense                  -            193                   -                       -                    193 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $     17,149               $   10,577                     $      83,078                 $       (40,012)                        $          70,792             
Net Income - - 2,771 - 2,771 
Cumulative effect adjustment due to the adoption of ASC 326, 
net of tax - - (1,203) - (1,203) 
Other comprehensive income - - - 8,995 8,995 
Dividends on common stock ($1.04 per share) - - (3,612) - (3,612) 

Common stock issued  73 219 - - 292 

Vesting of time based stock awards issued at date of grant, net 
of shares withheld for payroll taxes 41 (12) - - 29 

Stock-based compensation expense                   -           259                    -                        -                   259 

Balance, December 31, 2023 $     17,263               $   11,043                     $     81,034                 $       (31,017)                        $          78,323            
 



 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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F & M Bank Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (dollars in thousands) 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022  

                                                                                                                         2023 2022 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities   
Net income $                2,771                      $          8,318                      
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:   
      Depreciation and amortization 1,317 1,101 
      Amortization of intangibles 31 37 
      Amortization of securities 772 903 
      Proceeds from loans held for sale 125,528 147,053 
      Gain on sale of loans held for sale (2,530) (2,528) 
      Loans held for sale originated (122,744) (141,011) 
      Provision for credit losses 1,025 866 
      Deferred tax expense (benefit) 200 (91) 
      Increase in interest receivable (1,039) (878) 
      (Decrease) increase in other assets (3,624) 1,495 
      Decrease in accrued liabilities 798 2,763 
      Loss on sale of investment securities - 2,852 
      Gain on sale of limited partnership investment (232) (3,785) 
      Amortization of limited partnership investments 821 817 
      Amortization of debt issuance costs 42 118 
      (Gain) loss on sale of fixed assets, net (15) (10) 
      Loss on sale and valuation adjustments of other real estate owned - 59 
      Purchase of other real estate owned (55) - 
      Income from life insurance investment                     (790)             (701) 
      Gain on life insurance investment (370) - 
      Share based compensation expense                       259                193 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities                    2,397           17,571 
   
Cash Flows from Investing Activities   
     Proceeds from maturities of securities available for sale 19,825 4,000 
     Proceeds from paydowns of mortgage-backed securities 13,934 22,317 
     Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale - 40,847 
     Purchases of securities available for sale and other investments - (108,057) 
     Purchases of restricted stock, net (137) (2,741) 
     Proceeds from sale of limited partnership investments 232 3,823 
     Investment in limited partnership investment (250) (220) 
     Net increase in loans held for investment (79,962) (82,058) 
     Net purchase of property and equipment (5,453) (3,642) 
     Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned                     -                138 
     Proceeds from life insurance benefits 1,739 - 
     Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment                       103                  27 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities               (50,201)      (125,566) 
   
Cash Flows from Financing Activities   
     Net change in deposits 49,859 3,082 
     Net change in short-term debt (10,000) 70,000 
     Dividends paid in cash (3,612) (3,590) 
     Proceeds from sale of common stock 292 279 
     Proceeds from issuance of common stock 29 56 
     Repayments of long-term debt                           -        (15,000) 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities                       36,568           54,827 
   
Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (11,236) (53,168) 
   
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year                 34,953           88,121 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $               23,717                   $        34,953                   
   
Supplemental Cash Flow information:   
     Cash paid for:   

Interest $               23,367  $        7,441  
Income taxes $                    360 $             32 



 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Supplemental non-cash disclosures:   
    Change in unrealized loss on securities available for sale, net $              10,984 $    (48,924) 
    Cumulative effect of the adoption of ASC 326 $                1,524 $                 - 
    Minimum pension liability adjustment, net 
     
      

$                   318 $         3,730 
    Transfer Held to Maturity security from subsidiary to Bank available for sale portfolio $                   125 $                 - 
    Transfer from loans to other real estate owned  $                        -  $            197 
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F & M Bank Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 
NOTE 1  NATURE OF BANKING ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Nature of Operations - F&M Bank Corp. (the “Company”), through its subsidiary Farmers & Merchants Bank (the 
“Bank”), operates under a charter issued by the Commonwealth of Virginia and provides financial products and services 
to consumers and businesses.  As a state-chartered bank, the Bank is subject to regulation by the Virginia Bureau of 
Financial Institutions and the Federal Reserve Bank.  The Bank provides services to customers located primarily in the 
counties of Rockingham, Shenandoah, and Augusta, and the cities of Harrisonburg, Staunton, Waynesboro and 
Winchester in Virginia.  Services are provided at fourteen branch offices and a Dealer Finance Division loan production 
office.  The Company offers mortgage lending, title insurance and financial services through its subsidiaries, Farmers & 
Merchants Financial Services, Inc, (“FMFS”), VBS Mortgage, LLC (dba “F&M Mortgage”) and VSTitle, LLC (“VST”). 
TEB Life Insurance Company (“TEB”) was dissolved on November 8, 2023. 
 
Basis of Financial Information - The accounting and reporting policies of the Company and its subsidiaries conform to 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United State of America (“GAAP’) and to accepted practices within the 
banking industry.   
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change 
in the near term are the determination of the allowance for credit losses and the fair value of financial instruments. 
 
Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, Bank, FMFS, 
F&M Mortgage, and VST. Significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents include cash, cash due from banks, money market funds and  
interest-bearing deposits in other banks, and federal funds sold.  
 
Securities - At the time of purchase, debt securities are classified as held to maturity, available for sale or trading.  Debt 
securities that the Company has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity.  
Held to maturity securities are stated at amortized cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts 
on purchase using a method that approximates the effective interest method.  Investments classified as trading or available 
for sale are stated at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of available for sale investments are excluded from current 
earnings and reported, net of taxes, as a separate component of other comprehensive income (loss).   
 
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on securities are reported as adjustments to interest income 
using the effective interest method. Realized gains and losses on dispositions are based on the net proceeds and the 
adjusted book value of the securities sold using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses on 
investment securities available for sale are based on the difference between book value and fair value of each security. 
These gains and losses are credited or charged to shareholders’ equity, whereas realized gains and losses flow through 
the Company’s current earnings. 
 
The fair value of investment securities available for sale is estimated based on quoted prices for similar assets determined 
by bid quotations received from independent pricing services.  Declines in the fair value of securities below their 
amortized cost that are other than temporary are reflected in earnings or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. For 
those debt securities whose fair value is less than their amortized cost basis, the Company considers our intent to sell the 
security, whether it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery and if we do not 
expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security.  In analyzing an issuer’s financial condition, the Company 
may consider whether the securities are issued by the federal government or its agencies, whether downgrades by bond 
rating agencies have occurred and the results of reviews of the issuer’s financial condition. 
 
Other Investments - The Company has investments in low-income housing partnerships whose primary benefit is the 
distribution of federal income tax credits to partners.  The Company recognizes these benefits and the cost of the 
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investments over the life of the partnership. Amortization of these investments is prorated based on the amount of benefits 
received in each year to the total estimated benefits over the life of the projects.   
 
Due to restrictions on the Company’s investments in the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond (“FRB”), 
these securities are considered restricted and carried at cost. The FHLB requires the Bank to maintain stock in an amount 
equal to 3.75% of outstanding borrowings. The FRB requires the Company to maintain stock with a par value equal 
to 6% of its outstanding capital and surplus. 
 
Accounting Standards Adopted in 2023 - On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2016-13 Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments (“ASC 326”). This standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that 
is referred to as the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) methodology. CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for 
the remaining estimated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts and generally applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loan receivables and 
held-to-maturity debt securities, and some off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded commitments to extend 
credit. Financial assets measured at amortized cost will be presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using 
an allowance for credit losses.  
 
In addition, CECL made changes to the accounting for available for sale debt securities. One such change is to require 
credit losses to be presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down on available for sale debt securities if 
management does not intend to sell and does not believe that it is more likely than not, they will be required to sell. 
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 and all related subsequent amendments thereto effective January 1, 2023 using the 
modified retrospective approach for all financial assets measured at amortized cost and off-balance sheet credit exposures. 
The transition adjustment of the adoption of CECL included an increase in the allowance for credit losses on loans of 
$777,000, which is presented as a reduction to net loans outstanding, and an increase in the allowance for credit losses on 
unfunded loan commitments of $747,000, which is recorded within Other Liabilities. The Company recorded a net 
decrease to retained earnings of $1.2 million as of January 1, 2023 for the cumulative effect of adopting CECL, which 
reflects the transition adjustments noted above, net of the applicable deferred tax assets recorded. Results for reporting 
periods beginning after January 1, 2023 are presented under CECL while prior period amounts continue to be reported in 
accordance with previously applicable accounting standards (“Incurred Loss”). 
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 using the prospective transition approach for debt securities for which other-than-
temporary impairment had been recognized prior to January 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not 
have any other-than-temporarily impaired investment securities. Therefore, upon adoption of ASC 326, the Company 
determined there was no allowance for credit losses on available for sale securities. 
 
The Company elected not to measure an allowance for credit losses for accrued interest receivable and instead elected to 
reverse interest income on loans or securities that are placed on nonaccrual status, which is generally when the instrument 
is 90 days past due, or earlier if the Company believes the collection of interest is doubtful. The Company has concluded 
that this policy results in the timely reversal of uncollectible interest. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Available for Sale Securities - For available for sale securities, management evaluates all 
investments in an unrealized loss position on a quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions 
warrant such evaluation. If the Company has the intent to sell the security or it is more likely than not that the Company 
will be required to sell the security, the security is written down to fair value and the entire loss is recorded in earnings. 
 
If either of the above criteria is not met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair value is the result of credit 
losses or other factors. In making the assessment, the Company may consider various factors including the extent to which 
fair value is less than amortized cost, performance on any underlying collateral, downgrades in the ratings of the security 
by a rating agency, the failure of the issuer to make scheduled interest or principal payments and adverse conditions 
specifically related to the security. If the assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows 
expected to be collected are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security and any excess is recorded as an 
allowance for credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any amount of 
unrealized loss that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit loss is recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
Changes in the allowance for credit loss are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss expense. Losses are 
charged against the allowance for credit loss when management believes an available for sale security is confirmed to be 
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uncollectible or when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. As of December 31, 2023, there 
was no allowance for credit loss related to the available for sale portfolio. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on available for sale debt securities totaled $1.5 million at December, 2023 and was excluded 
from the estimate of credit losses. 
 
Loans - Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are 
reported at amortized cost. Amortized cost is the principal balance outstanding, net of discounts and deferred fees and 
costs. Accrued interest receivable related to loans totaled $3.6 million at December 31, 2023 and was reported in accrued 
interest receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan 
origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and recognized in interest income using methods that 
approximate a level yield without anticipating prepayments. 
 
Nonaccruals, Past Dues, and Charge-offs - The policy for placing commercial and consumer loans on nonaccrual status 
is generally when the loan is 90 days delinquent unless the credit is well secured and in process of collection. Consumer 
loans are typically charged-off when management judges the loan to be uncollectible. Commercial loans are typically 
written down to net realizable value when it is determined that the Company will be unable to collect the principal amount 
in full and the amount is a confirmed loss. Loans in all segments of portfolios are considered past due or delinquent when 
a contractual payment has not been satisfied. Loans are placed on nonaccrual status or charged off at an earlier date if 
collection of principal and interest is considered doubtful and in accordance with regulatory requirements.  
 
For both the commercial and consumer loan portfolio segments, all interest accrued but not collected for loans placed on 
nonaccrual status or charged-off is reversed against interest income and accrual of interest income is terminated. Payments 
and interest on these loans are accounted for using the cost-recovery method by applying all payments received as a 
reduction to the outstanding principal balance until qualifying for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status 
when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably 
assured. The determination of future payments being reasonably assured varies depending on the circumstances present 
with the loan; however, the timely payment of contractual amounts owed for six consecutive months is a primary 
indicator.  
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans - The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the 
loans' amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected on the loans. Loans are charged off against 
the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Expected recoveries do not 
exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be charged-off. Accrued interest receivable is 
excluded from the estimate of credit losses. The allowance for credit losses represents management’s estimate of lifetime 
credit losses inherent in loans as of the balance sheet date. The allowance for credit losses is estimated by management 
using relevant available information, from both internal and external sources relating to past events, current conditions, 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts. 
 
The allowance for credit losses is measured on a pool basis when similar risk characteristics exist. The Company measures 
the allowance for credit losses using the weighted average remaining life methodology. Under this methodology, the 
Company uses a loss rate for each loan pool segment using historical information. Future expectations of the pool balances 
are determined by using a remaining life calculator. A quarterly expected loss rate is applied to an expected remaining 
balance for each period to determine the unadjusted expected loss for each loan pool segment. 
 
The Company utilizes a Qualitative Scorecard (“Scorecard”) to adjust the historical loss information, as necessary, to 
reflect the Company’s expectations about the future. For each segment, the Scorecard calculates the difference between 
the quantitative expected credit loss and the high watermark average remaining maturity loss rates. This difference is the 
maximum qualitative adjustment that can be applied to that segment. Due to the low number of losses in the Company’s 
portfolio, in particular during the great financial crisis from 2008-2012, a number of pool sets will leverage peer data to 
calculate the overall loss rate. The Company believes that to provide a reasonable and supportable loss rate, data 
representative of losses during a financial downturn will provide a better representation of the perceived risk in the 
portfolio. In determining how to apply the weightings for the various qualitative factors, management assessed which 
factors would have the highest impact on potential loan losses. The economy and problem loan trends were determined 
to have the most significant effect on the estimated losses. The most influential factor on potential loan losses is economic 
conditions, with a weighting of 20%-25%. The Company will evaluate the weighting applied to each pool on an annual 
basis. 
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The Company measures expected credit losses for loans on a pooled basis when similar risk characteristics exist. The 
Company has identified the following portfolio segments and calculates the allowance for credit losses for each using a 
remaining life methodology: 
 
1-4 family residential construction. Construction loans are subject to general risks from changing housing market trends 
and economic conditions that may impact demand for completed properties, availability of building materials, and the 
costs of completion. Changes in construction costs and interest rates may impact the borrower’s ability to service the debt.  
These risks are measured by market-area unemployment rates, bankruptcy rates, housing and commercial building market 
trends, and interest rates. Risks specific to the borrower are also evaluated, including previous repayment history, debt 
service ability, and current and projected loan-to-value ratios for the collateral. 
 
Other construction, land development and land. Construction and land development loans are subject to general risks 
from changing commercial building and housing market trends and economic conditions that may impact demand for 
completed properties and the costs of completion.  Completed properties that do not sell or become leased within 
originally expected timeframes may impact the borrower’s ability to service the debt.  These risks are measured by market-
area unemployment rates, bankruptcy rates, housing and commercial building market trends, and interest rates. Risks 
specific to the borrower are also evaluated, including previous repayment history, debt service ability, and current and 
projected loan-to-value ratios for the collateral. 
 
Secured by farmland. Farmland loans are loans secured by agricultural property.  These loans are subject to risks 
associated with the value of the underlying farmland and the cash flows of the borrower’s farming operations. 
 
Home equity - open end. The home-equity loan portfolio carries risks associated with the creditworthiness of the 
borrower and changes in loan-to-value ratios.  The Company manages these risks through policies and procedures 
such as limiting loan-to-value at origination, experienced underwriting, and requiring standards for appraisers. 
 
Real estate. Real estate loans are for consumer residential 1-4 family real estate where the credit quality is subject to 
risks associated with the borrower’s repayment ability and collateral value, measured generally by analyzing local 
unemployment and bankruptcy trends, and local housing market trends and interest rates. Risks specific to a borrower 
are determined by previous repayment history, loan-to-value ratios, and debt-to-income ratios.  
 
Home equity - closed end. The home-equity closed-end loan portfolio carries risks associated with the creditworthiness 
of the borrower, changes in loan-to-value ratios, and subordinate lien positions.  The Company manages these risks 
through policies and procedures such as limiting loan-to-value at origination, experienced underwriting, and requiring 
standards for appraisers. 
 
Multifamily. Multifamily loans are loans secured by multi-unit residential property.  These loans are subject to risks 
associated with the value of the underlying property, availability of rental units, as well as the successful operation 
and management of the property. 
 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate. The commercial real estate segment includes loans secured by commercial 
real estate occupied by the owner/borrower. Loans in this segment are impacted by economic risks from changing 
commercial real estate markets, business bankruptcy rates, local unemployment rates and interest rate trends that 
would impact the businesses occupying the commercial real estate.   
 
Other commercial real estate. The other commercial real estate segment includes loans secured by commercial real 
estate leased to non-owners. Loans in the commercial real estate segment are impacted by economic risks from 
changing commercial real estate markets, rental markets for commercial buildings, business bankruptcy rates, local 
unemployment rates and interest rate trends that would impact the businesses housed by the commercial real estate.   
 
Agriculture loans. Agriculture loans are secured by agricultural equipment or are unsecured. Credit risk for these loans 
is subject to economic conditions, generally monitored by local agricultural/farming trends, interest rates, and 
borrower repayment ability and collateral value (if secured). 
 
Commercial and industrial. Commercial and industrial loans are secured by collateral other than real estate or are 
unsecured.  Credit risk for these loans is subject to economic conditions, generally monitored by local business 
bankruptcy trends, interest rates, and borrower repayment ability and collateral value (if secured). 
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Credit cards. Credit card loan portfolios carry risks associated with the creditworthiness of the borrower and changes 
in the economic environment.  The Company manages these risks through policies and procedures such as experienced 
underwriting, maximum debt-to-income ratios, and minimum borrower credit scores. 
 
Automobile loans. Automobile loans generally carry certain risks associated with the values of the collateral and 
borrower’s ability to repay the loan.  Lending on new and used vehicles is subject to the risk of changing values in the 
availability of vehicles and the resale value. 
 
Other consumer loans. Other consumer loans may be secured or unsecured. Credit risk stems primarily from the 
borrower’s ability to repay.  If the loan is secured, the Company analyzes loan-to-value ratios.  All consumer non-real 
estate loans are analyzed for debt-to-income ratios and previous credit history, as well as for general risks for the 
portfolio, including local unemployment rates, personal bankruptcy rates and interest rates. 
 
Municipal loans. Municipal loans are unsecured loans generally made to local towns within the Bank’s trade area. Credit 
risk is based on the cash flow and management of the local town’s budgets. 
 
Additionally, the allowance for credit losses calculation includes subjective adjustments for qualitative risk factors 
that are likely to cause estimated credit losses to differ from historical experience. These qualitative adjustments may 
increase or reduce reserve levels and include adjustments for lending management experience and risk tolerance, loan 
review and audit results, asset quality and portfolio trends, loan portfolio growth, industry concentrations, trends in 
underlying collateral, external factors and economic conditions not already captured. 
 
Loans that do not share risk characteristics are evaluated on an individual basis. Management evaluates loans on 
nonaccrual status over $250,000 on an individual basis. When management determines that foreclosure is probable 
and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, the expected credit losses are based on the fair value of collateral 
at the reporting date adjusted for selling costs as appropriate. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Unfunded Commitments - Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit 
instruments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial letters of credit issued to meet customer financing 
needs. The Company’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial 
instrument for off-balance sheet loan commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. 
Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. 
 
The Company records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures, unless the commitments 
to extend credit are unconditionally cancelable, through a charge to provision for credit losses in the Company’s 
income statements. The allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is estimated by loan segment 
at each balance sheet date under the current expected credit loss model using the same methodologies as portfolio 
loans, taking into consideration the likelihood that funding will occur as well as any third-party guarantees. The 
allowance for unfunded commitments is included in other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Earnings per Share - Basic Earnings per Share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income available to common 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.   Nonvested restricted shares are 
included in the computation of basic earnings per share as the holder is entitled to full shareholder benefits during the 
vesting period, including voting rights and sharing in nonforfeitable dividends. Diluted earnings per share includes all 
convertible securities, such as convertible preferred stock, convertible debt, equity options, and warrants. The 
Company does not have any convertible securities that would dilute the earnings per share. 
 
Other Real Estate Owned (“OREO”) - OREO is held for sale and represents real estate acquired through, or in lieu of, 
foreclosure. OREO is initially recorded at fair value less costs to sell when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. 
Physical possession of residential real estate property collateralizing a consumer mortgage loan occurs when legal title is 
obtained upon completion of foreclosure or when the borrower conveys all interest in the property to satisfy the loan 
through completion of a deed in lieu of foreclosure or through a similar legal agreement. The Company’s policy is to 
carry OREO on its balance sheet at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell.  If fair value declines 
subsequent to foreclosure, a valuation allowance is recorded through expense.  Operating costs after acquisition are 
expensed.  
 
Bank Premises and Equipment - Land is carried at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is charged to income over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a combination of the 
straight-line and accelerated methods.  Estimated useful lives range from 10 to 39 years for buildings, and 5 to 10 years 
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for furniture and equipment. Maintenance, repairs, and minor improvements are charged to operations as incurred; major 
improvements are capitalized. Gains and losses on dispositions are reflected in other income or expense. 
 
Goodwill and Intangible Assets - Goodwill, the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets acquired, is evaluated for impairment by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. 
Impairment testing is performed annually as of December 31, as well as when management reasonably believes an 
impairment-triggering event may have occurred. The Company performed the internal evaluation of goodwill for 
December 31, 2023, and based on the results, no impairment was deemed necessary.  
 
Acquired intangible assets are separately recognized if the benefit of the assets can be sold, transferred, licensed, 
rented, or exchanged, and amortized over their useful lives. 
 
Bank Owned Life Insurance - The Company has purchased life insurance on certain key employees and directors. 
These policies are recorded at their cash surrender value and are included in a separate line item on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Income generated from policies is recorded as noninterest income. The Company is 
exposed to credit risk to the extent an insurance company is unable to fulfill its financial obligations under a policy. 

Loans Held for Sale - Loans held for sale consist of one-to-four family conforming residential real estate loans originated 
for sale in the secondary market by F&M Mortgage. Credit risk associated with these loans is mitigated by entering sales 
commitments with third party investors to purchase the loans after they are originated; the Company does not service 
these loans after they are sold. 

The Company records loans held for sale via the fair value option; see Note 15 “Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities, Mortgage Banking Derivatives” for additional information. The change in the fair value of loans held for sale 
is included in “Mortgage banking income” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. 
 
Pension Plan - The Bank has a qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plan which covers all full-time 
employees hired prior to April 1, 2012.  The benefits are primarily based on years of service and earnings.  The 
Company recognizes the over-funded or under-funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit plans on the 
balance sheet. Gains and losses, prior service costs and credits, and any remaining transition amounts that have not 
yet been recognized through net periodic benefit cost will be recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
net of tax effects, until they are amortized as a component of net periodic cost. As of February 15, 2023, the Virginia 
Bankers Association Defined Benefit Plan for Farmers & Merchants Bank was amended to stop the accrual of future 
benefits.  
 
Income Taxes - Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the liability (or balance 
sheet) method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on the tax effects of the temporary 
differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities and gives current recognition to changes in tax rates 
and laws. 

When the Company’s federal tax returns are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained 
upon examination by the taxing authorities, while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position 
taken or the amount of the position that would ultimately be sustained. The benefit of a tax position is recognized in 
the financial statements in the period during which, based on all available evidence, management believes it is more 
likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation 
processes, if any. Tax positions taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that meet the 
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than 
not to be realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing authority. The portion of the benefits associated with tax 
positions taken that exceeds the amount measured as described above is reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax 
benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets along with any associated interest and penalties that would 
be payable to the taxing authorities upon examination. Interest and penalties, if any, associated with unrecognized tax 
benefits are classified as additional income taxes in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Advertising Costs - The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred.  

Transfers of Financial Assets - Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets 
has been surrendered.  Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when the assets have been isolated 
from the Company, the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that 
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right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and the Company does not maintain effective control over the 
transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity. 
 
Loss Contingencies - Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, 
are recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable, and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably 
estimated. Management does not believe there are any such matters that will have a material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Reclassifications - The accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes reflect certain immaterial 
reclassifications in prior periods to conform to the current presentation. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Accounting Standards adopted in 2023: 
 
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments 
– Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.”  The ASU, as amended, 
requires an entity to measure expected credit losses for financial assets carried at amortized cost based on historical 
experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Among other things, the ASU also amended 
the impairment model for available for sale securities and addressed purchased financial assets with deterioration.   
ASU 2016-13 was effective for the Company on January 1, 2023. The adjustment recorded at adoption to the overall 
allowance for credit losses, which consisted of adjustments to the allowance for credit losses on loans, as well as an 
adjustment to the Company’s reserve for unfunded loan commitments, was $1.5 million. The adjustment net of tax 
recorded to shareholders’ equity totaled $1.2 million. See “Accounting Standards Adopted in 2023” on page 43 for 
additional details of adoption of this standard.   
 
In March 2022, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2022-02, “Financial Instruments-Credit 
Losses (Topic 326), Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures.” ASU 2022-02 addresses areas identified 
by the FASB as part of its post-implementation review of the credit losses standard (ASU 2016-13) that introduced 
the CECL model. The amendments eliminate the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors 
that have adopted the CECL model and enhance the disclosure requirements for loan refinancings and restructurings 
made with borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. In addition, the amendments require a public business entity 
to disclose current-period gross write-offs for financing receivables and net investment in leases by year of origination 
in the vintage disclosures. The amendments in this ASU should be applied prospectively, except for the transition 
method related to the recognition and measurement of troubled debt restructurings, an entity has the option to apply a 
modified retrospective transition method, resulting in a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings in the period 
of adoption. ASU 2022-02 was effective for the Company on January 1, 2023.  The adoption of ASU 2022-02 did not 
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
Accounting Standards Pending Adoption: 
 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures.” The amendments in this ASU require an entity to disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation 
and provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, which is greater than five 
percent of the amount computed by multiplying pretax income by the entity’s applicable statutory rate, on an annual 
basis. Additionally, the amendments in this ASU require an entity to disclose the amount of income taxes paid (net of 
refunds received) disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign taxes and the amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds 
received) disaggregated by individual jurisdictions that are equal to or greater than five percent of total income taxes 
paid (net of refunds received). Lastly, the amendments in this ASU require an entity to disclose income (or loss) from 
continuing operations before income tax expense (or benefit) disaggregated between domestic and foreign and income 
tax expense (or benefit) from continuing operations disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign. This ASU is effective 
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied 
on a prospective basis; however, retrospective application is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of 
ASU 2023-09 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures.” The amendments in this ASU are intended to improve reportable segment disclosure 
requirements primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. This ASU requires 
disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”), an amount for other segment items by reportable segment and a description of its composition, all annual 
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disclosures required by FASB ASU Topic 280 in interim periods as well, and the title and position of the CODM and 
how the CODM uses the reported measures. Additionally, this ASU requires that at least one of the reported segment 
profit and loss measures should be the measure that is most consistent with the measurement principles used in an 
entity’s consolidated financial statements. Lastly, this ASU requires public business entities with a single reportable 
segment to provide all disclosures required by these amendments in this ASU and all existing segment disclosures in 
Topic 280. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied 
retrospectively. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-07 to have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, “Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response 
to the SEC’s Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative.” This ASU incorporates certain U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) disclosure requirements into the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The 
amendments in the ASU are expected to clarify or improve disclosure and presentation requirements of a variety of 
Codification Topics, allow users to more easily compare entities subject to the SEC’s existing disclosures with those 
entities that were not previously subject to the requirements, and align the requirements in the Codification with the 
SEC’s regulations. For entities subject to the SEC’s existing disclosure requirements and for entities required to file 
or furnish financial statements with or to the SEC in preparation for the sale of or for purposes of issuing securities 
that are not subject to contractual restrictions on transfer, the effective date for each amendment will be the date on 
which the SEC removes that related disclosure from its rules. For all other entities, the amendments will be effective 
two years later. However, if by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not removed the related disclosure from its regulations, 
the amendments will be removed from the Codification and not become effective for any entity. The Company does 
not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-06 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In August 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-05, “Business Combinations – Joint Venture Formations (Subtopic 805-
60): Recognition and Initial Measurement.” This ASU applies to the formation of entities that meet the definition of 
a joint venture (or a corporate joint venture) as defined in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification Master 
Glossary. While joint ventures are defined in the Master Glossary, there has been no specific guidance in the 
Codification that applies to the formation accounting by a joint venture in its separate financial statements. The 
amendments in the ASU require that a joint venture apply a new basis of accounting upon formation. As a result, a 
newly formed joint venture, upon formation, would initially measure its assets and liabilities at fair value (with 
exceptions to fair value measurement that are consistent with the business combinations guidance). This ASU is 
effective on a prospective basis for all joint ventures with a formation date on or after January 1, 2025. Early adoption 
of ASU No. 2023-05 is permitted in any interim or annual period in which financial statements have not yet been 
issued (or made available for issuance). A joint venture that elects to early adopt may apply ASU No. 2023-05 either 
prospectively or retrospectively. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-05 to have a material impact 
on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In July 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-03, “Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205), Income Statement—
Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (Topic 480), Equity (Topic 
505), and Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718).” This ASU amends the FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification for SEC paragraphs pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 120, SEC Staff Announcement at 
the March 24, 2022 EITF Meeting, and Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 6.B, Accounting Series Release 280—General 
Revision of Regulation S-X: Income or Loss Applicable to Common Stock. ASU 2023-03 is effective upon addition 
to the FASB Codification. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-03 to have a material impact on 
its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-02, “Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): 
Accounting for Investments in Tax Credit Structures Using the Proportional Amortization Method.” These 
amendments allow reporting entities to elect to account for qualifying tax equity investments using the proportional 
amortization method, regardless of the program giving rise to the related income tax credits. The ASU is effective for 
public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those 
fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for all entities in any interim period. The Company does not expect the 
adoption of ASU 2023-02 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-01, “Leases (Topic 842): Common Control Arrangements.” These 
amendments require entities to amortize leasehold improvements associated with common control leases over the 
useful life to the common control group. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. If an entity adopts the amendments in 
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an interim period, it must adopt them as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes that interim period. Transition 
can be done either retrospectively or prospectively. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-01 to 
have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date 
of Topic 848.” ASU 2022-06 extends the period of time preparers can utilize the reference rate reform relief guidance 
in Topic 848. The objective of the guidance in Topic 848 is to provide relief during the temporary transition period, 
so the FASB included a sunset provision within Topic 848 based on expectations of when the London Interbank 
Offered Rate (LIBOR) would cease being published. In 2021, the UK Financial Conduct Authority delayed the 
intended cessation date of certain tenors of USD LIBOR to June 30, 2023.  
 
To ensure the relief in Topic 848 covers the period of time during which a significant number of modifications may 
take place, the ASU defers the sunset date of Topic 848 from December 31, 2022, to December 31, 2024, after which 
entities will no longer be permitted to apply the relief in Topic 848. The ASU is effective for all entities upon issuance.  
The Company transitioned all loan agreements, other than SWAP loans, away from LIBOR during 2022. The SWAP 
loans have amended Rate Protection Agreements executed by the borrower in preparation of transition away from 
LIBOR by the swap holder. 
 
In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of 
Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions.” ASU 2022-03 clarifies that a contractual restriction on the 
sale of an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity security and, therefore, is not 
considered in measuring fair value. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, including interim periods within those fiscal 
years, beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption 
of ASU 2022-03 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In March 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2020-04 “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 
848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” These amendments provide 
temporary optional guidance to ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. The ASU provides 
optional expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contract modifications 
and hedging relationships, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected 
to be discontinued. It is intended to help stakeholders during the global market-wide reference rate transition period. 
The guidance is effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. Subsequently, in January 
2021, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2021-01 “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): 
Scope.” This ASU clarifies that certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract modifications 
and hedge accounting apply to derivatives that are affected by the discounting transition. The ASU also amends the 
expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 to capture the incremental consequences of the scope clarification and to tailor 
the existing guidance to derivative instruments affected by the discounting transition. An entity may elect to apply 
ASU No. 2021-01 on contract modifications that change the interest rate used for margining, discounting, or contract 
price alignment retrospectively as of any date from the beginning of the interim period that includes March 12, 2020, 
or prospectively to new modifications from any date within the interim period that includes or is subsequent to January 
7, 2021, up to the date that financial statements are available to be issued. An entity may elect to apply ASU No. 2021-
01 to eligible hedging relationships existing as of the beginning of the interim period that includes March 12, 2020, 
and to new eligible hedging relationships entered into after the beginning of the interim period that includes March 
12, 2020. The Company transitioned all loan agreements, other than SWAP loans, away from LIBOR during 2022. 
The SWAP loans have amended Rate Protection Agreements executed by the borrower in preparation of transition 
away from LIBOR by the swap holder. 
 
Other accounting standards that have been issued by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to have 
a material effect on the Company’s financial position, result of operations or cash flows. 
 
NOTE 2 SECURITIES 
 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities held to maturity along with gross unrealized gains and losses 
are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 
Amortized 

Cost Unrealized Gains Unrealized Losses Fair Value 
December 31, 2023         
U. S. Treasuries   $                    - $                         -    $                          - $                      -         
December 31, 2022         
U. S. Treasuries $                125  $                         -     $                       13  $                 112 
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities available for sale along with gross unrealized gains and losses 
are summarized are as follows (dollars in thousands):  

December 31, 2023 
Amortized 

Cost 
Unrealized 

Gains 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value 
U. S. Treasuries $           35,048 $                     - $             2,167 $         32,881 
U. S. Government sponsored enterprises            133,487 - 8,784 124,703 
Securities issued by States and political subdivisions of the U.S. 41,341 145 2,725 38,761 
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal agencies 168,468 173 23,568 145,073 
Corporate debt securities              30,550                     25                3,319            27,256 
Total Securities Available for Sale $         408,894 $                343             $           40,563                 $       368,674 

 
There was no allowance for credit losses on available for sale securities. 
 

December 31, 2022 
Amortized 

Cost 
Unrealized 

Gains 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value 
U. S. Treasuries $           39,902 $                     - $             3,259 $         36,643 
U. S. Government sponsored enterprises            143,473 - 13,725 129,748 
Securities issued by States and political subdivisions of the U.S. 46,331 27 4,160 42,198 
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal agencies 183,044 77 26,246 156,875 
Corporate debt securities              30,550                        -                3,919            26,631 
Total Securities Available for Sale $         443,300 $                104             $           51,309                 $       392,095 

 
The amortized cost and fair value of securities at December 31, 2023, by contractual maturity are shown below (dollars 
in thousands).  Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to 
call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. 
 

  Securities Available for Sale 
  Amortized Cost Fair Value 
Due in one year or less $               75,981 $               73,483 
Due after one year through five years 124,229 114,642 
Due after five years through ten years 67,894 60,090 
Due after ten years                140,790                120,459 
Total $              408,894 $             368,674 

 
The following table presents the gross realized gains and losses on and the proceeds from the sale of securities during the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Realized gains (losses):  
   Gross realized gains $                     - $                     - 
   Gross realized (losses)                      -            (2,852) 
Net realized (losses) $                     - $          (2,852) 
Proceeds from sales of securities $                     -   $            40,847 

 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and estimated fair value of available sale securities for which an  
allowance for credit losses has not been recorded aggregated by category and length of time that securities have been in 
a continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2023: (dollars in thousands): 

  Less than 12 Months More than 12 Months Total 

December 31, 2023 
Fair 

Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 
Fair 

Value 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 
U. S. Treasuries $    125 $            - $    32,756 $        2,167 $     32,881 $      2,167 
U. S. Government sponsored enterprises - - 124,703 8,784 124,703 8,784 
Securities issued by State and political       
   subdivisions in the U.S. 484 11 32,597 2,714 33,081 2,725 
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal agencies - -        140,041 23,568                  140,041 23,568                 
Corporate debt securities    1,729          271       25,002           3,048        26,731         3,319 
Total $2,338 $       282 $  355,099 $      40,281 $    357,437 $    40,563 
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Unrealized losses at December 31, 2023 were generally attributable to changes in market interest rates and interest 
spread relationships since the investment securities were originally purchased, and not due to the credit quality 
concerns on the investment securities. Issuers continue to make timely principal and interest payments and the 
Company currently has no plans to sell the investments and it is likely that management will not be required to sell 
the securities prior to their anticipated recovery. The fair value is expected to recover as the bonds approach maturity. 
 
At December 31, 2023, there were $355.1 million or 110 instances of individual available for sale securities that had 
been in a continuous loss position for more than 12 months and had an aggregate unrealized loss of $40.3 million. At 
December 31, 2022 there were $291.8 million or 74 instances of individual available for sale securities that had been in 
a continuous loss position for more than 12 months and had an aggregate unrealized loss of $43.8 million.  

 
 

Less than 12 Months 
 

More than 12 Months Total 

December 31, 2022 
Fair 

Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 
Fair 

Value 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 
U. S. Treasuries $   9,657 $         362 $    26,987 $        2,897 $     36,644 $      3,259 
U. S. Government sponsored enterprises 13,914 1,083 115,835 12,642 129,749 13,725 
Securities issued by State and political       
   subdivisions in the U.S. 21,805 1,426 18,710 2,734 40,515 4,160 
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal agencies 32,823 2,429        119,892 23,817                  152,715 26,246                 
Corporate debt securities    16,252         2,198       10,379           1,721        26,631         3,919 
Total $  94,451 $      7,498 $  291,803 $      43,811 $    386,254 $    51,309 

 
 
The Company has pledged securities with a par value of $220.8 million and market value of $196.0 million to the 
Federal Reserve Discount Window Bank Term Funding Program (“BTFP”) as of December 31, 2023. The BTFP was 
established in March 2023 to offer loans of up to one year in length to banks, savings associations, credit unions, and 
other eligible depository institutions pledging U.S. Treasuries, agency debt and mortgage-backed securities, and other 
qualifying assets as collateral. These assets will be valued at par. The BTFP was created to support American 
businesses and households by making additional funding available to eligible depository institutions to help ensure 
banks have the ability to meet the needs of all their depositors. The Bank did not borrow from the BTFP during 2023. 
The Company also has securities pledged to the Federal Reserve Discount Window with a par value of $20.0 million 
and market value of $19.5 million. The Discount Window provides access to funding to help depository institutions 
manage their liquidity risks. The Company did not have any pledged securities at December 31, 2022. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, other investments consist of investments in twelve low-income housing and historic equity 
partnerships (carrying basis of $5.1 million), stock in the FHLB (carrying basis of $3.7 million), and various other 
investments (carrying basis of $2.0 million).  The interests in the low-income housing and historic equity partnerships 
have limited transferability and the interests in the other stocks are restricted to sales.  The market values of these 
securities are estimated to approximate their carrying values as of December 31, 2023.   At December 31, 2023, the 
Company was committed to invest an additional $607 thousand in three low-income housing limited partnerships.  These 
funds will be paid as requested by the general partner to complete the projects.  This additional investment has been 
reflected in the above carrying basis and in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
The primary purpose of the investment portfolio is to generate income and meet liquidity needs of the Company through 
readily saleable financial instruments.  The portfolio includes fixed rate bonds, whose prices move inversely with rates 
and variable rate bonds.  At the end of any accounting period, the investment portfolio has unrealized gains and losses.  
The Company monitors the portfolio, which is subject to liquidity needs, market rate changes and credit risk changes for 
any indication of credit losses.  The primary concern in a loss situation is the credit quality of the issuer behind the 
instrument. Bonds deteriorate in value due to credit quality of the individual issuer and changes in market conditions.   
 
NOTE 3 LOANS AND CREDIT QUALITY 
 
Under adoption of ASC 326, there were changes to certain loan segments to better differentiate credit characteristics and 
align with our ACL model. Construction/land development was split into two segments: 1-4 family residential 
construction and other construction, land development and land. Commercial real estate was also split into two segments: 
owner-occupied commercial real estate and other commercial real estate. Commercial and industrial – non-real estate 
was divided into agricultural loans, commercial and industrial loans, and municipal loans. Dealer finance was 
consolidated with other automobile loans. 
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The following is a summary of the major categories of total loans held for investment outstanding at December 31, 
2023 (dollars in thousands): 

 December 31, 2023 
1-4 Family residential construction $                  30,488 
Other construction, land development and land 47,749 
Secured by farmland 81,657 
Home equity – open end 45,749 
Real estate 200,629 
Home Equity – closed end 4,835 
Multifamily 8,203 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate 92,362 
Other commercial real estate 106,181 
Agricultural loans 14,405 
Commercial and industrial 44,329 
Credit Cards                     3,252 
Automobile loans 122,924 
Other consumer loans 14,376 
Municipal loans                     5,625 
Gross loans 822,764 
Unamortized net deferred loan fees                 (672) 
Less allowance for credit losses                      8,321 
Net loans $                813,771 

 
The table above does not include loans held for sale of $1.1 million and $1.4 million and at December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, respectively. Loans held for sale consist of single-family residential real estate loans originated for 
sale in the secondary market. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on loans held for investment totaled $3.6 million at December 31, 2023. For the year ended 
December 31, 2023, accrued interest receivable write-offs were not material to the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
The Company has pledged loans held for investment as collateral for borrowings with the FHLB totaling $289.1 million 
and $209.8 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  The Company maintains a blanket lien on certain 
loans in its residential real estate, commercial, agricultural farmland, and home equity portfolios.  
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The following is a summary of the major categories of total loans held for investment outstanding at December 31, 
2022 (dollars in thousands): 

 December 31, 2022 
Construction/Land Development $                  68,671 
Farmland 74,322 
Real Estate 153,281 
Multi-Family 9,622 
Commercial Real Estate 195,163 
Home Equity – closed end 4,707 
Home Equity – open end 46,928 
Commercial & Industrial – Non-Real Estate 56,625 
Consumer 6,488 
Dealer Finance 125,125 
Credit Cards                     3,242 
Gross loans             744,174 
Unamortized net deferred loan fees                 (570) 
Less allowance for credit losses                      7,936 
Net loans $                735,668 

 
Nonaccrual and Past Due Loans 
 
The following table shows the aging of the Company’s loans held for investment, by segment (dollars in thousands): 
 

Age Analysis of Past Due Loans and Leases 
As of December 31, 2023 

 

Accruing 
Loans 30-59 

Days Past due 

Accruing 
Loans 60-89 

Days Past due 

Accruing Loans 
90 Days or More 

Past due  
Nonaccrual 

Loans 

Accruing 
Current 
Loans Total Loans 

1-4 Family residential 
construction 

$                    -               $                    - $                         - $             440 $          30,048 $          30,488 

Other construction, land 
development and land 

- - - 528 47,221 47,749 

Secured by farmland - - - 596 81,061 81,657 
Home equity – open end 595 74 - 217 44,863 45,749 
Real estate 2,125 425 - 701 197,378 200,629 
Home Equity – closed end 41 - - - 4,794 4,835 
Multifamily - - - - 8,203 8,203 
Owner-occupied 
commercial real estate 

1,482 - - - 90,880 92,362 

Other commercial real 
estate 

92 887 - 3,000 102,202 106,181 

Agricultural loans 10 - - 73 14,322 14,405 
Commercial and industrial 75 39 25 622 43,568 44,329 
Credit Cards 35 7 6 - 3,204 3,252 
Automobile loans   1,137 481 - 237 121,069 122,924 
Other consumer loans 151 14 - 24 14,187 14,376 
Municipal loans                    -                      -                            -                    -               5,625             5,625 
Gross loans 5,743 1,927 31 6,438 808,625 822,764 
Less: Unamortized net 
deferred loan fees                    -                      -                            -                    -              (672)              (672) 
Loans held for investment $          5,743 $              1,927 $                       31 $          6,438 $      807,953 $      822,092 
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The following table shows the aging of the Company’s loans held for investment, by segment (dollars in thousands): 
Age Analysis of Past Due Loans and Leases 

As of December 31, 2022 

 

Accruing 
Loans 30-59 
Days Past 

due 

Accruing 
Loans 60-
89 Days 
Past due 

Accruing 
Loans 90 Days 
or More Past 

Due 
Nonaccrual 

Loans 

Accruing 
Current 
Loans Total Loans  

Construction/Land 
Development 

$             477 $        539 $                      - $               21 $        67,634 $              68,671 

Farmland 85 18 - 1,458 72,761 74,322 
Real Estate 1,807 226 - 419 150,829 153,281 
Multi-Family - - - - 9,622 9,622 
Commercial Real Estate 234 82 - - 194,847 195,163 
Home Equity – closed end 3 - - - 4,704 4,707 
Home Equity – open end 385 177 - - 46,366 46,928 
Commercial & Industrial – 
Non- Real Estate 

104 - 31 101 56,389 56,625 

Consumer 11 11 - 15 6,451 6,488 
Dealer Finance 1,117 225 5 210 123,568 125,125 
Credit Cards             51               9                2               -             3,180                    3,242 
Less: Unamortized net 
deferred loan fees                 -               -                     -                  -             (570)                     (570) 
Loans held for investment $        4,274 $     1,287 $                38 $         2,224 $      735,781 $           743,604 

 
There were $6.4 million and $2.2 million in nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.  
There was no income recognized on nonaccrual loans during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
The following table shows the Company’s amortized cost basis of loans on nonaccrual status (dollars in thousands). 
Information for December 31, 2023 is presented under CECL, while information for December 31, 2022 is presented 
in accordance with the previously applicable incurred loss methodology. 
 

 CECL Incurred Loss 
 

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 
 Nonaccrual 

loans with No 
Allowance 

Nonaccrual 
Loans with an 

Allowance 

Total 
Nonaccrual 

Loans Nonaccrual Loans 
1-4 Family residential construction $                   - $              440 $           440 $                             - 
Other construction, land development 
and land 

528 - 528 21 

Secured by farmland 596 - 596 1,458 
Home equity – open end 217 - 217 - 
Real estate 701 - 701 419 
Other commercial real estate - 3,000 3,000 - 
Agricultural loans 73 - 73 88 
Commercial and industrial 25 597 622 13 
Automobile loans 237 - 237 210 
Other consumer loans                  24                    -               24                           15 
Total loans $           2,401 $           4,037 $        6,438 $                     2,224 

 
Troubled Loan Modifications 
 
Effective January 1, 2023, the Company refers to loan modifications where the borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty and the modification is in the form of principal forgiveness, interest rate reductions, term extensions, other-
than-insignificant payment delays, or a combination of the above modifications, as troubled loan modifications. The 
ACLL on troubled loan modifications is measured using the same method as all other loans held for investment. 
 
The Company evaluates all loan modifications according to the accounting guidance for loan refinancing and 
restructuring to determine whether the modification should be accounted for as a new loan or a continuation of the 
existing loan. If the modification meets the criteria to be accounted for as a new loan, any deferred fees and costs 
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remaining prior to the modification are recognized in income and any new deferred fees and costs are recorded on the 
loan as part of the modification. If the modification does not meet the criteria to be accounted for as a new loan, any 
new deferred fees and costs resulting from the modification are added to the existing amortized cost basis of the loan.   
 
The following table presents the amortized cost of loans and leases to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty 
modified on or after January 1, 2023, the date the Company adopted ASU 2022-02, through December 31, 2023, by 
class of financing receivable, type of modification, financial effect of the modification, and percentage of the 
amortized cost basis of modifications as compared to the amortized cost basis of each loan segment (dollars in 
thousands). 
 

Amortized Cost of Basis of Loan Modifications Made to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 
Term 

Extension 
Weighted Average Term 

Extension (in months) 
% of Total 
Loan Type 

 

Owner-occupied commercial real estate   45 13.0 0.05%  
Automobile loans                   68                                  4.5        0.06%  
Total Term Extension $               113                                  7.9        0.05%  

 
The Company closely monitors the performance of the loans that are modified to borrowers experiencing financial 
difficulty to understand the effectiveness of its modification efforts. The Company considers a default on a troubled 
loan modification to occur when the borrower is 90 days past due following the modification or a foreclosure and 
repossession of the applicable collateral occurs. No loan or lease modifications completed on or after January 1, 2023 
through December 31, 2023 to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty had a payment default during the year 
ended December 31, 2023. Additionally, the Company did not have any troubled loan modifications that were past 
due. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any unfunded commitments on loans modified and designated 
as troubled loan modifications since January 1, 2023. 
 
The following table shows, by modification type, TDRs that occurred during 2022 (dollars in thousands):  
  

 December 31, 2022 

 Number of Contracts 

Pre-Modification 
Outstanding Recorded 

Investment 

Post-Modification 
Outstanding Recorded 

Investment 
Extended maturity 3 $                             44 $                             44 
Change in terms                                      1                              162                              162 

Total                                      4 $                           206 $                           206 
 
 
Collateral Dependent Disclosures 
 
The collateral method is applied to individually evaluated loans for which foreclosure is probable. The collateral 
method is also applied to individually evaluated loans when borrowers are experiencing financial difficulty and 
repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral. Collateral dependent 
loans are loans for which the repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the 
collateral and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. These loans do not share common risk characteristics 
and are not included within the collectively evaluated loans for determining the allowance for credit losses. Under 
CECL, for collateral dependent loans, the Company has adopted the practical expedient to measure the allowance for 
credit losses based on the fair value of collateral. The allowance for credit losses is calculated on an individual loan 
basis based on the shortfall between the fair value of the loan's collateral, which is adjusted for liquidation 
costs/discounts, and amortized cost. If the fair value of the collateral exceeds the amortized cost, no allowance is 
required. 
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The following table presents an analysis of collateral-dependent loans of the Company as of December 31, 2023 
(dollars in thousands): 

 Collateral Dependent Loans and Leases 
 December 31, 2023 
 Real Estate Business/Other Assets 
1-4 Family residential construction $                          440 $                                   - 
Other construction, land development and land 511 - 
Secured by farmland 596 - 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate 3,000 - 
Commercial and industrial                               -                                 597 
Total loans $                       4,547 $                                597 

 
The following tables presents, as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 segregated by loan portfolio segment, 
details of the loan portfolio and the ACLL calculated in accordance with our credit loss accounting methodology for 
loans described above (dollars in thousands). 
 

 December 31, 2023 
 Loan Balances Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans 
 Loans 

Individually 
Evaluated 

Loans 
Collectively 
Evaluated Total 

Loans 
Individually 
Evaluated 

Loans 
Collectively 
Evaluated Total 

1-4 Family residential 
construction 

$                440                $       30,048              $    30,488 $             363 $             351 $       714 

Other construction, land 
development and land 

511 47,238 47,749 - 1,287 1,287 

Secured by farmland 596 81,061 81,657 - 815 815 
Home equity – open end - 45,749 45,749 - 180 180 
Real estate - 200,629 200,629 - 810 810 
Home Equity – closed end - 4,835 4,835 - 77 77 
Multifamily - 8,203 8,203 - 181 181 
Owner-occupied commercial real 
estate 

3,000 89,362 92,362 263 958 1,221 

Other commercial real estate - 106,181 106,181 - 166 166 
Agricultural loans - 14,405 14,405 - 20 20 
Commercial and industrial 597 43,732 44,329 351 683 1,034 
Credit Cards - 3,252           3,252 - 81 81 
Automobile loans - 122,924 122,924 - 1,443 1,443 
Other consumer loans - 14,376 14,376 - 292 292 
Municipal loans                   -                                                              5,625           5,625                -                 -              - 

Total loans $          5,144 $      817,620 $  822,764 $           977 $        7,344 $    8,321 
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 December 31, 2022 

 
Loan 

Receivable 

Individually 
Evaluated for 
Impairment 

Collectively 
Evaluated for 
Impairment 

Construction/Land Development $           68,671 $                    853 $           67,818 
Farmland 74,322 2,079 72,243 
Real Estate 153,281 3,260 150,021 
Multi-Family 9,622 - 9,622 
Commercial Real Estate 195,163 9,111 186,052 
Home Equity – closed end 4,707 - 4,707 
Home Equity –open end 46,928 - 46,928 
Commercial & Industrial – Non-Real Estate 56,625 - 56,625 
Consumer 6,488 - 6,488 
Dealer Finance 125,125 62 125,063 
Credit Cards                3,242                           -                3,242 
Gross Loans            744,174                 15,365            728,809 
Less: Unamortized net deferred loan fees                 (570)                           -                (570) 
Total $         743,604 $               15,365 $         728,239 

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-13, loans were considered impaired when, based on current information and events, 
it was probable the Company would be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the original contractual 
terms of the loan agreements. Impaired loans include loans on nonaccrual status and accruing troubled debt 
restructurings. When determining if the Company would be unable to collect all principal and interest payments due 
in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement, the Company considered the borrower’s capacity to 
pay, which included such factors as the borrower’s current financial statements, an analysis of global cash flow 
sufficient to pay all debt obligations and an evaluation of secondary sources of repayment, such as guarantor support 
and collateral value. The Company individually assessed for impairment all substandard loans greater than $500,000 
and all troubled debt restructurings. The tables below include all loans deemed impaired, whether or not individually 
assessed for impairment. If a loan was deemed impaired, a specific valuation allowance was allocated, if necessary, 
so that the loan was reported net, at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s existing rate or 
at the fair value of collateral if repayment was expected solely from the collateral. Interest payments on impaired loans 
were typically applied to principal unless collectability of the principal amount was reasonably assured, in which case 
interest was recognized on a cash basis. 
 
The following table presents loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans as of December 31, 2022 
(dollars in thousands). The Recorded Investment is defined as the original principal balance less principal payments, 
charge-offs and nonaccrual payments applied to principal.   
 

 December 31, 2022 
   Unpaid   Average Interest 
 Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income 
 Investment Balance Allowance Investment Recognized 
Impaired loans with no related allowance 
recorded:    

  

     Construction/Land Development $           332 $              332 $              -            $           474 $             19 
     Farmland 2,535 2,079 - 2,137 161 
     Real Estate 1,882 1,882 - 2,107 101 
     Commercial Real Estate 8,131 8,131 - 8,851 393 
     Dealer Finance                   7                     7                 -                11                  1  

12,887 12,431 - 13,580 675 
Impaired loans with an allowance recorded:      
     Construction/Land Development 521 521 228 261 24 
     Real Estate 1,378 1,378 92 1,466 71 
     Commercial Real Estate 980 980 11 1,935 47 
     Dealer Finance                 55                   55               13                62                  6 
            2,934              2,934             344           3,724              148 

Total impaired loans $         15,821 $         15,365 $           344 $      17,304 $           823 
 



 

 
59 

Credit Quality Indicators 
 
The Company presents loan and lease portfolio segments and classes by credit quality indicator and vintage year. The 
Company defines the vintage date for the purpose of this disclosure as the date of the most recent credit decision. 
Renewals are categorized as new credit decisions and reflect the renewal date as the vintage date, except for renewals 
of loans modified for borrowers experiencing financial difficulty which are presented in the original vintage. 
 
Upon adoption of ASC 326, the Company consolidated its internal risk ratings 1 through 5 into a "pass” category. The 
credit quality indicators for watch and substandard remain unchanged. Doubtful loans are charged off; dealer finance 
loans utilize the updated credit quality indicators. Credit cards are classified as pass or substandard. 
 
Description of the Company’s credit quality indicators under CECL: 
 
Pass: Loans in all classes that are part of the commercial and consumer portfolio segments that are not adversely rated, 
are contractually current as to principal and interest, and are otherwise in compliance with the contractual terms of the 
loan agreement. Management believes that there is a low likelihood of loss related to those loans that are considered 
pass. 
 
Grade 6 – Watch:  Loans are currently protected but are weak due to negative balance sheet or income statement 
trends.  There may be a lack of effective control over collateral or the existence of documentation deficiencies.  These 
loans have potential weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention.  Other reasons supporting this 
classification include adverse economic or market conditions, pending litigation or any other material weakness.  
Existing loans that become 60 or more days past due are placed in this category pending a return to current status. 
 
Grade 7 – Substandard: Loans having well-defined weaknesses where a payment default and or loss is possible, but 
not yet probable.  Cash flow is inadequate to service the debt under the current payment, or terms, with prospects that 
the condition is permanent.  Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and 
paying capacity of the borrower and there is the likelihood that collateral will have to be liquidated and/or guarantor(s) 
called upon to repay the debt.  Generally, the loan is considered collectible as to both principal and interest, primarily 
because of collateral coverage, however, if the deficiencies are not corrected quickly; there is a probability of loss. 
 
Credit cards are classified as pass or substandard.  A credit card is substandard when payments of principal and interest 
are past due 90 days or more.  
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The following table presents the Company’s recorded investment in loans by credit quality indicators by year of 
origination as of December 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands): 
  

Term Loans by Year of Origination 
  

 
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Revolving Total 

1-4 Family residential construction 
Pass        $       162            $        -              $        -           $       -           $       -             $     108         $   29,214    $29,484  
Watch      -             -               -    -          -               -               564      564  
Substandard           -               -               -             -             -               -               440         440  
Total 1-4 Family residential construction       162             -               -             -             -           108         30,218    30,488  
Current period gross write-offs          -             70               -             -             -               -                  -             70             
Other construction, land development and land 
Pass   5,123      9,138      4,983    1,831    2,847  5,456       17,770    47,148 
Watch         -               -               -             -            -           67            -         67 
Substandard        511               -             -             -             -             23               -           534  
Total Other construction, land development 
and land 

  5,634      9,138      4,983    1,831    2,847      5,546       17,770    47,749  

Current period gross write-offs          -               -               -            -            -               -                -               -             
Secured by farmland 
Pass  7,503    15,834    13,688  27,020    2,509      7,842         5,869    80,265  
Watch          -               -               -            -         781           -               -        781  
Substandard          -               -           333           -             -           263               15         611  
Total Secured by farmland  7,503    15,834    14,021  27,020    3,290      8,105          5,884    81,657  
Current period gross write-offs          -               -               -             -             -               -                  -               -             
Home equity – open end 
Pass      370            -               -             -             -           141        44,089   44,600  
Watch          -               -               -             -             -               -            883      883  
Substandard          -              -               -             -             -               -              266         266  
Total Home equity - open end      370             -               -             -             -           141       45,238    45,749  
Current period gross write-offs           -               -               -             -             -               -                  -               -             
Real estate 
Pass 53,413    47,785    15,211  12,192    6,490    55,665             386    191,142  
Watch         -               45               -         499       155      4,893                -        5,592  
Substandard           -             88           539          -      1,212      2,056                -        3,895  
Total Real estate 53,413    47,918    15,750  12,691    7,857    62,614             386    200,629  
Current period gross write-offs           -               -               -            -             -              19                  -             19             
Home Equity – closed end 
Pass     1,126         382         117    1,044       464     1,690                -        4,823  
Watch         -              -               -            -            -           -                -           -  
Substandard           -               -               -             -           12             -                 -             12  
Total Home Equity - closed end   1,126         382         117    1,044       476      1,690               -        4,835  
Current period gross write-offs           -               -                -              -             -               -                 -               -             
Multifamily 
Pass          -        2,712      1,395       906          -        1,567  1,524      8,104  
Watch         -               -               -            -             -           99                -           99  
Substandard         -            -            -           -          -             -                -            -    
Total Multifamily         -        2,712      1,395       906           -        1,666          1,524     8,203  
Current period gross write-offs         -            -            -          -          -             -               -            -          
Owner-occupied commercial real estate 
Pass   2,820    18,049   17,775    7,109    3,586    22,301         7,821    79,461  
Watch - - - -        40      2,097                -        2,137  
Substandard          -           -            -          -   6,283      1,183        3,298    10,764  
Total Owner-occupied commercial real estate   2,820   18,049    17,775    7,109    9,909    25,581      11,119    92,362  
Current period gross write-offs           -           -            -          -          -            -              -            - 
Other commercial real estate 
Pass   10,193   29,317   12,744   4,990    3,739  32,666         3,206    96,855  
Watch - - - - -     9,239            -    9,239  
Substandard           -            -            -           -           -          87                -             87  
Total Other commercial real estate  10,193    29,317    12,744    4,990    3,739    41,992         3,206  106,181  
Current period gross write-offs           -            -            -           -           -            -                -             - 
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 Term Loans by Year of Origination   
 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Revolving Total 
Agricultural loans 
Pass      4,626      2,548        534       340         -        38         6,066    14,152  
Watch - - - 31 - - 149 180 
Substandard           -             48          14         11           -               -                  -           73  
Total Agricultural loans    4,626      2,596        548       382           -          38         6,215    14,405  
Current period gross write-offs           -            -            -          -          -            -                -             -          
Commercial and industrial 
Pass   7,396    9,373  5,359    1,691    674         272       17,408    42,173  
Watch - 44          91          -            -               -         1,363      1,498  
Substandard           -            -        632         25           -               1                -           658  
Total Commercial and industrial   7,396      9,417      6,082    1,716      674         273       18,771    44,329  
Current period gross write-offs          -          31           -          -          -            2                -            33          
Credit Cards 
Pass - - - - - -        3,246      3,246  
Substandard          -           -           -          -          -             -               6             6  
Total Credit cards          -           -           -          -          -             -         3,252      3,252  
Current period gross write-offs          -           -           -          -          -             -              69           69           
Automobile loans 
Pass 52,471  38,375   19,193  7,301   2,145  2,367              -    121,852  
Watch         179           323         158        106         36           32                -           834  
Substandard          98             48           63            6          18             5               -             238  
Total Automobile loans   52,748    38,746    19,414     7,413     2,199      2,404                -      122,924  
Current period gross write-offs        334           669         560        149          53           39               -          1,804          
Other consumer loans 
Pass  5,169      4,983      2,230    843  194        367            530    14,316  
Watch         17            4             7           -           1             2  1           32  
Substandard          12            7            2          -          6            1               -          28 
Total Other consumer loans   5,198      4,994      2,239       843       201         370            531    14,376  
Current period gross write-offs           -             77              3             3           6             4               -          93           
Municipal loans 
Pass          -         118     923    1,096    1,228      2,260                -      5,625  
Watch - - - - - - - - 
Substandard             -             -              -          -           -             -                -              - 
Total Municipal loans              -            118          923     1,096     1,228       2,260                 -         5,625  
Current period gross write-offs              -                          -              -            -            -              -                -              -          
Total loans $151,189  $179,221  $  95,991  $67,041  $32,420  $152,788  $  144,114  $822,764  
Less: Unamortized net deferred loan fees       (672) 
Loans held for investment 

       
$822,092           

Current period gross write-offs $       334    $       847 $       563 $     152 $       59 $         64 $           69 $    2,088 
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The following table shows the Company’s loan portfolio broken down by internal loan grade as of December 31, 2022 
(dollars in thousands): 
 

   

Grade 1 
Minimal 

Risk 

Grade 2 
Modest 

Risk 

Grade 3 
Average 

Risk 

Grade 4 
Acceptable 

Risk 

Grade 5 
Marginally 
Acceptable 

Grade 6 
Watch 

Grade 7 
Substandard 

Grade 8 
Doubtful Total 

Construction/Land 
Development 

$            - $        4 $  11,112 $    42,684 $      13,116 $  1,213 $            542 $           - $    68,671 

Farmland 155 269 11,373 38,051 22,069 947 1,458 - 74,322 
Real Estate - 553 27,003 86,269 28,560 6,950 3,946 - 153,281 
Multi-Family  - - 963 5,116 3,430 113 - - 9,622 
Commercial Real Estate - 3,097 55,662 72,779 41,749 13,878 7,998 - 195,163 
Home Equity – closed 
end 

- 48 1,065 2,560 639 382 13 - 4,707 

Home Equity – open 
end 

27 1,272 18,671 23,207 2,091 1,611 49 - 46,928 

Commercial & 
Industrial - Non-Real 
Estate 

10 516 12,934 26,310 15,613 911 331 - 56,625 

Consumer (excluding 
dealer) 

         33       286       2,965         3,105               68          16                 15              -         6,488 

Gross loans $       225 $  6,045 $141,748 $  300,081 $    127,335 $26,021 $       14,352 $            - $  615,807 
Less: Unamortized net 
deferred loan fees 

                (570) 

Total         $  615,237 

 
         Credit Cards Dealer Finance 
Performing                      $              3,240 $          124,910 
Nonperforming                               2                   215 
Total                     $               3,242 $          125,125 

 
Description of internal loan grades under Incurred Loss: 

 
Grade 1 – Minimal Risk:   Excellent credit, superior asset quality, excellent debt capacity and coverage, and recognized 
management capabilities. 

 
Grade 2 – Modest Risk:  Borrower consistently generates sufficient cash flow to fund debt service, excellent credit, 
above average asset quality and liquidity. 

 
Grade 3 – Average Risk:  Borrower generates sufficient cash flow to fund debt service.  Employment (or business) is 
stable with good future trends.  Credit is very good. 

 
Grade 4 – Acceptable Risk:  Borrower’s cash flow is adequate to cover debt service; however, unusual expenses or 
capital expenses must by covered through additional long-term debt.  Employment (or business) stability is reasonable, 
but future trends may exhibit slight weakness. Credit history is good. No unpaid judgments or collection items 
appearing on credit report. 

 
Grade 5 – Marginally acceptable:  Credit to borrowers who may exhibit declining earnings, may have leverage that is 
materially above industry averages, liquidity may be marginally acceptable.  Employment or business stability may 
be weak or deteriorating.  May be currently performing as agreed but would be adversely affected by developing 
factors such as layoffs, illness, reduced hours or declining business prospects.  Credit history shows weaknesses, past 
dues, paid or disputed collections and judgments, but does not include borrowers that are currently past due on 
obligations or with unpaid, undisputed judgments. 
 
Grade 6 – Watch:  Loans are currently protected but are weak due to negative balance sheet or income statement 
trends.  There may be a lack of effective control over collateral or the existence of documentation deficiencies.  These 
loans have potential weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention.  Other reasons supporting this 
classification include adverse economic or market conditions, pending litigation or any other material weakness.  
Existing loans that become 60 or more days past due are placed in this category pending a return to current status. 
 



 

 
63 

Grade 7 – Substandard: Loans having well-defined weaknesses where a payment default and or loss is possible, but 
not yet probable.  Cash flow is inadequate to service the debt under the current payment, or terms, with prospects that 
the condition is permanent.  Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and 
paying capacity of the borrower and there is the likelihood that collateral will have to be liquidated and/or guarantor(s) 
called upon to repay the debt.  Generally, the loan is considered collectible as to both principal and interest, primarily 
because of collateral coverage. However, if the deficiencies are not corrected quickly, there is a probability of loss. 
 
Grade 8 – Doubtful:  Loans having all the characteristics of a substandard credit, but available information indicates 
it is unlikely the loan will be repaid in its entirety.  Cash flow is insufficient to service the debt.  It may be difficult to 
project the exact amount of loss, but the probability of some loss is great.  Loans are to be placed on non-accrual status 
when any portion is classified doubtful.   

 
Credit card and dealer finance loans are classified as performing or nonperforming.  A loan is nonperforming when 
payments of principal and interest are past due 90 days or more.  
 
NOTE 4 ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 
 
The allowance for credit losses consists of the allowance for credit losses on loans and the reserve for unfunded 
commitments. The Company’s ACL is governed by the Company’s ACL Committee, which reports to the Board of 
Directors and contains representatives from the Company’s finance, credit, and risk teams, and is responsible for 
calculating the Company’s estimate of expected credit losses and resulting ACL.  The ACL Committee considers the 
quantitative model results and qualitative factors when finalizing the ACL. The Company’s ACL model is subject to the 
Company’s models risk management program, which is overseen by the Director of Risk Management that reports to the 
Company’s Board Risk Committee.   
 
Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans 
 
The following tables show the allowance for credit losses activity by loan segment for the years ended December 31, 
2023, (dollars in thousands). 
 

Allowance for Credit Losses and Carrying Amount of Loans 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

Beginning 
Balance 

Adjustment 
for adoption 
of ASU 2016-

13 Charge-offs Recoveries 

Provision 
for loan 
credit 
losses 

Ending 
Balance 

1-4 Family residential construction $         324 $             109 $               70 $               1 $         350 $       714 
Other construction, land development 
and land 

694 602 - - (9) 1,287 

Secured by farmland 571 311 - - (67) 815 
Home equity – open end 446 (189) - 3 (80) 180 
Real estate 1,389 (184) 19 2 (378) 810 
Home Equity – closed end 39 96 - - (58) 77 
Multifamily 71 182 - - (72) 181 
Owner-occupied commercial real 
estate 

992 280 - - (51) 1,221 

Other commercial real estate 1,023 (582) - - (275) 166 
Agricultural loans 80 (58) - - (2) 20 
Commercial and industrial 368 338 33 2 359 1,034 
Credit Cards 68 26 69 37 19 81 
Automobile loans 1,790 (257) 1,804 514 1,200 1,443 
Other consumer loans 81 103 93 55 146 292 
Municipal loans               -                                                                   -                   -                 -              -                 - 

Total loans $      7,936 $            777 $             2,088 $           614 $         1,082 $    8,321 

 
 
Prior to the adoption of ASC 326 on January 1, 2023, the Company calculated the allowance for loan losses under the 
incurred loss methodology. The following tables are disclosures related to the allowance for loan losses in prior periods 
(dollars in thousands). 
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Allowance for Loan Losses and Carrying Amount of Loans and Leases 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

December 31, 2022 
 

Beginning 
Balance 

Charge-
offs Recoveries 

Provision for 
(Recovery of) 
Loan Losses 

Ending 
Balance 

Individually 
Evaluated 

for 
Impairment 

Collectively 
Evaluated 

for 
Impairment 

Allowance for loan losses:  
Construction/Land Development $      977       $               - $               - $           41 $      1,018 $               228 $          790 
Farmland 448 - - 122 570 - 570 
Real Estate 1,162 17 - 243 1,388 92 1,296 
Multi-Family 29 - - 42 71 - 71 
Commercial Real Estate 2,205 - - (190) 2,015 11 2,004 
Home Equity – closed end 41 - - (3) 38 - 38 
Home Equity – open end 407 84 130 (8) 445 - 445 
Commercial & Industrial – Non-                  
Real Estate 

288 46 49 159 450 - 450 

 Consumer 520 153 84 (370) 81 - 81 
Dealer Finance 1,601 1,280 691 780 1,792 13 1,779 
Credit Cards              70              66               14               50           68                    -                  68 
Total $       7.748       $        1,646 $          968 $          866 $   7,936 $             344 $           7,592 

 
Unfunded Commitments 
 
The Company maintains an allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded balances for existing lines 
of credit, commitments to extend future credit, as well as both standby and commercial letters of credit when there is a 
contractual obligation to extend credit and when this extension of credit is not unconditionally cancellable (i.e. 
commitment cannot be canceled at any time). The allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a 
provision for credit loss expense. The estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur, which is 
based on a historical funding study derived from internal information, and an estimate of expected credit losses on 
commitments expected to be funded over its estimated life, which are the same loss rates that are used in computing the 
allowance for credit losses on loans and are discussed above. The allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan 
commitments of $690 thousand at December 31, 2023 is separately classified on the balance sheet within Other liabilities. 
 
The following table presents the balance and activity in the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands). 

 Total Allowance for Credit 
Losses – Unfunded Commitments 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $                                                      - 
Adjustment to allowance for unfunded commitments for adoption of ASU 2016-13 747 
Recovery of credit losses – unfunded commitments                                                    (57) 
Balance, December 31, 2023 $                                                  690 

 
NOTE 5 BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Bank premises and equipment as of December 31 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Land $            4,728 $            4,115 
Buildings and improvements 18,387 16,040 
Furniture and equipment              13,518              13,483 
Total 36,633 33,638 
Accumulated depreciation           (12,998)           (14,051) 
Premises and equipment, net $          23,635 $          19,587 

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2002 was $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively. 
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NOTE 6         LEASES 
 
Lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments and are presented at each reporting date 
as the net present value of the remaining contractual cash flows.  Cash flows are discounted at the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate in effect at the commencement date of the lease.  Right-of-use assets represent the 
Company’s right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and are calculated as the sum of the lease liability and 
if applicable, prepaid rent, initial direct costs and any incentives received from the lessor.  

 
The Company’s long-term lease agreements are classified as operating leases.  Certain of these leases offer the option 
to extend the lease term and the Company has included such extensions in its calculation of the lease liabilities to the 
extent the options are reasonably assured of being exercised.  The lease agreements do not provide for residual value 
guarantees and have no restrictions or covenants that would impact dividends or require incurring additional financial 
obligations. The Company has five operating leases for office properties. 
 
The following tables present information about the Company’s leases (dollars in thousands): 
  

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 
Lease Liabilities (included in other liabilities)  $                            733   $                            886  
Right-of-use assets (included in other assets)  $                            712  $                            861 
Weighted average remaining lease term 1.53 years 2.54 years 
Weighted average discount rate 3.31% 3.22%  

2023 2022 
Lease cost  

 

Operating lease cost $                            164                                       $                          151                                       
Total lease cost $                            164                                       $                          151                                        

 
 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement 
of lease liabilities $                            182                                       $                          177                                       

 
A maturity analysis of operating lease liabilities and reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows to the total of 
operating lease liabilities is as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 
 Lease payments due  As of December 31, 2023 
 Twelve months ending December 31, 2024 $                                 159 
Twelve months ending December 31, 2025 121 
Twelve months ending December 31, 2026 70 
Twelve months ending December 31, 2027 56 
Twelve months ending December 31, 2028 57 
Thereafter                                   405 
Total undiscounted cash flows $                                 868 
Discount                                  (135) 
Lease liabilities $                                 733 

 
NOTE 7 OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED 
 
The table below reflects other real estate owned (OREO) activity for 2023 and 2022 (dollars in thousands).  
 

 2023 2022 
Balance as of January 1 $                                    - $                                       - 
     Purchase of foreclosed real estate 55 - 

Loans transferred to OREO - 197 
Sale of OREO - (138) 
Write down of OREO and losses on sale                                      -                                     (59) 

Balance as of December 31 $                                 55 $                                        - 
 

Expenses related to foreclosed assets include: 2023 2022 
Net loss on sales $                                     - $                                     59 

Expenses related to foreclosed assets $                                     - $                                     59 
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There was one residential real estate property in other real estate owned properties at December 31, 2023. The loan was 
charged off in 2022.  At December 31, 2023, the recorded investment of consumer mortgage loans secured by residential 
real estate properties for which formal foreclosure procedures are in process is $613 thousand.  
 
NOTE 8 DEPOSITS 
 
Time deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC insurance limit of $250 thousand at year end 2023 and 2022 were $12.5 
million and $12.7 million, respectively.  At December 31, 2023, the scheduled maturities of all time deposits are as 
follows (dollars in thousands): 

2024 $             165,760 
2025 41,336 
2026 3,696 
2027 2,013 
2028  1,718 
Thereafter                           - 
                 Total $             214,523 

 
NOTE 9 SHORT-TERM DEBT 
 
Short-term debt, all maturing within 12 months, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows (dollars in 
thousands).   

 
Highest Month-

End Balance 
Outstanding 
at Year End 

Average 
Balance  

Weighted 
Average Rate 

2023     
Federal funds purchased $                     54 $                     - $               755                   5.03% 
FHLB short-term 75,000              60,000            58,430                5.10% 
Totals  $           60,000 $          59,185                5.10% 
     
2022     
Federal funds purchased $                 1,989 $                      - $               883 2.99% 
FHLB short-term 70,000               70,000             25,241                   2.81% 
Totals  $            70,000 $          26,124                   2.82% 

 
The Company utilizes short-term debt such as Federal funds purchased and FHLB short-term borrowings to support loan 
growth and provide liquidity.  Federal funds purchased are unsecured overnight borrowings from other financial 
institutions. FHLB short-term debt can be a daily rate variable loan that acts as a line of credit or a fixed rate advance, 
depending on the needs of the Company. FHLB advances are secured by a blanket lien on the qualifying loans in the 
Company’s residential, commercial, agriculture, and home equity loan portfolios. Short-term debt totaled $60.0 million 
at December 31, 2023, and consisted of FHLB advances which were used to fund loan growth. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had unsecured lines of credit with correspondent banks totaling $90.0 million 
which may be used in the management of short-term liquidity, on which none was outstanding.  
 
NOTE 10 LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
On July 29, 2020, the Company sold and issued to an institutional accredited investor $7.0 million in aggregate 
principal amount of 6.00% fixed to floating rate subordinated note due July 31, 2030. The note initially bears interest 
at 6.00% per annum, beginning July 29, 2020 but excluding July 31, 2025, payable semi-annually in arrears. From 
and including July 31, 2025 through July 30, 2030, or up to an early redemption date, the interest rate will reset 
quarterly to an interest rate per annum equal to the then current three-month SOFR plus 593 basis points, payable 
quarterly in arrears. Beginning on July 31, 2025 through maturity, the note may be redeemed, at the Company’s option, 
on any scheduled interest payment date. The note will mature on July 31, 2030.  The subordinated note, net of issuance 
costs totaled $6.9 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
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NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company makes commitments to extend credit in the normal course of business and issues standby letters of credit 
to meet the financing needs of its customers.  The amount of the commitments represents the Company's exposure to 
credit loss that is not included in the consolidated balance sheet.  As of the December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company 
had the following commitments outstanding (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Commitments to extend credit $                253,816 $                265,976 
Standby letters of credit 2,911 2,696 

 
The Company uses the same credit policies in making commitments to extend credit and issue standby letters of credit 
as it does for the loans reflected in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer if there is no violation of any condition established 
in the contract.  Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment 
of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts 
do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  The Company evaluates each customer's creditworthiness on a 
case-by-case basis. Collateral required, if any, upon extension of credit is based on management's evaluation of the 
borrower’s ability to pay.  Collateral may include accounts receivable, inventory, property, plant and equipment. 
 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had cash deposits in other commercial banks in excess of FDIC 
insurance limits totaling $4.8 million and $4.6 million, respectively. The Bank has established procedures for measuring 
and monitoring the concentration risk in correspondent banks and performs quarterly reviews of the financial condition 
of correspondent banks to assess and monitor risks. 
 
The Company grants commercial, residential real estate and consumer loans to customers located primarily in the 
Shenandoah Valley of Virginia. There were no loan concentration areas greater than 25% of capital. Collateral required 
by the Company is determined on an individual basis depending on the purpose of the loan and the financial condition 
of the borrower. As of December 31, 2023, approximately 75% of the loan portfolio was secured by real estate. 
 
NOTE 12 DERIVATIVES 
 
Mortgage Banking Derivatives 
 
Loans Held for Sale (“LHFS”) - The Company, through the Bank’s mortgage banking subsidiary, F&M Mortgage 
Company, originates residential mortgage loans for sale in the secondary market. Residential mortgage loans held for 
sale are sold to the permanent investor with the mortgage servicing rights released. Fair value of the Company’s LHFS 
is based on observable market prices for the identical instruments traded in the secondary mortgage loan markets in which 
the Company conducts business, totaling $1.1 million as of December 31, 2023, of which $1.1 million is related to unpaid 
principal. The Company’s portfolio of LHFS is classified as Level 2.  
 
Interest Rate Lock Commitments and Forward Sales Commitments - The Company, through F&M Mortgage Company, 
enters commitments to originate residential mortgage loans in which the interest rate on the loan is determined prior to 
funding, termed interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”). Such rate lock commitments on mortgage loans to be sold in 
the secondary market are derivatives. Upon entering a commitment to originate a loan, the Company protects itself from 
changes in interest rates during the period prior to sale by requiring a firm purchase agreement from a permanent investor 
before a loan can be closed (forward sales commitment).  
 
The Company locks in the loan and rate with an investor and commits to deliver the loan if settlement occurs on a best-
efforts basis, thus limiting interest rate risk. Certain additional risks exist if the investor fails to meet its purchase 
obligation; however, based on historical performance and the size and nature of the investors, the Company does not 
expect them to fail to meet their obligation. The Company determines the fair value of the IRLCs based on the price of 
the underlying loans obtained from an investor for loans that will be delivered on a best-efforts basis while taking into 
consideration the probability that the rate loan commitments will close.  
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The fair value of these derivative instruments is reported in “Other assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 
31, 2023, and totaled $81 thousand, with a notional amount of $6.2 million and total positions of 22. The fair value of 
the IRLCs at December 31, 2022 totaled $92 thousand, with a notional amount of $12.2 million and total positions of 38. 
Changes in fair value are recorded as a component of “Mortgage banking income” in the Consolidated Income Statement 
for the period ended December 31, 2023. The Company’s IRLCs are classified as Level 2. At December 31, 2023 and 
2022, each IRLC and all LHFS were subject to a forward sales commitment on a best- efforts basis. 
 
The Company uses fair value accounting for its forward sales commitments related to IRLCs and LHFS under ASC 825-
10-15-4(b). The fair value of forward sales commitments was reported in “Other Liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet at December 31, 2023 totaled $22 thousand, with a notional amount of $7.3 million and total positions of 27.  The 
fair value of forward sales commitments was reported in “Other Assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 
31, 2022 totaled $186 thousand, with a notional amount of $13.6 million and total positions of 43.  
 
NOTE 13 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
 
The balances in accumulated other comprehensive loss are shown in the following table (dollars in thousands): 

 Unrealized 
Securities Gains 

(Losses) 

Adjustments 
Related to Pension 

Plan 

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Loss 
 
 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $       (1,801) $          (3,291) $              (5,092) 
   Change in unrealized securities gains (losses), net 

of tax benefit of $10,873 (40,903) - (40,903) 
Change in unfunded pension liability, net of tax of 

$992 - 3,730 3,730 
Reclassification for previously unrealized net losses 

realized in income, net of tax benefit of $599            2,253                      -                     2,253 
Balance at December, 31, 2022 $      (40,451) $               439 $            (40,012) 
  Change in unrealized securities gains (losses), net 

of tax benefit of $2,307 8,677 - 8,677 
  Change in unfunded pension liability, net of tax of 

$85                     -                  318                        318 
Balance at December, 31, 2023 $     (31,774) $                757 $              (31,017) 

 
During 2022, there were security losses of $2.9 million, net of tax of $599 thousand that were reclassified out of 
unrealized gains on available for sale securities and reclassified into net investment security losses on the consolidated 
statements of income. 
 
NOTE 14 REGULATORY MATTERS 
 
Banking regulators have established a uniform system to address the adequacy of capital for financial institutions.  The 
rules require minimum capital levels based on risk-adjusted assets.  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can 
initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a 
direct material impact on the Bank’s financial statements.  Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory 
framework for prompt corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative 
measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting 
practices. The Bank’s capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about 
components, risk weightings, and other factors. 
 
Under the Basel III rules, the Company must hold a capital conservation buffer above the adequately capitalized risk-
based capital ratios. The capital conservation buffer requirement is 2.50%. The Company’s capital conservation buffer 
for 2023 was 4.58% and for 2022 was 5.64%. The capital conservation buffer is designed to strengthen an institution’s 
financial resilience during economic cycles.  Financial institutions are required to maintain a minimum buffer as 
required by the Basel III final rules to avoid restrictions on capital distributions and other payments.   
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The minimum capital amounts and ratios are defined in the regulations and the amounts are set forth in the table below 
(dollars in thousands).  The Bank has maintained capital levels far above the minimum requirements throughout the year, 
and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Bank meets all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.  

 Actual 
Minimum Capital 

Requirement 

Minimum to be Well Capitalized 
Under Prompt Corrective Action 

Provisions 
December 31, 2023 Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount  Ratio 
Total risk-based ratio $116,787 12.58% $        74,292 8.00% $                 92,865 10.00% 
Tier 1 risk-based ratio 108,466 11.68% 55,719 6.00% 74,292 8.00% 
Common equity tier 1 108,466 11.68% 41,789 4.50% 60,362 6.50% 
Tier 1 leverage ratio 108,466 8.13% 53,392 4.00% 66,740 5.00% 

 

 Actual 
Minimum Capital 

Requirement 

Minimum to be Well Capitalized 
Under Prompt Corrective Action 

Provisions 
December 31, 2022 Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount  Ratio 
Total risk-based ratio $114,455 13.64% $        67,124 8.00% $                 83,905 10.00% 
Tier 1 risk-based ratio 106,519 12.70% 50,343 6.00% 67,124 8.00% 
Common equity tier 1 106,519 12.70% 37,757 4.50% 54,538 6.50% 
Tier 1 leverage ratio 106,519 8.22% 51,842 4.00% 64,802 5.00% 

 
 
NOTE 15 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in the 
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
on the measurement date.  There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values: 
 
  Level 1 –    Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 
  Level 2 –   Valuation is based on observable inputs including quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and 

liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in less active markets, and model-
based valuation techniques for which significant assumptions can be derived primarily from or 
corroborated by observable data in the market. 

  Level 3 –    Valuation is based on model-based techniques that use one or more significant inputs or assumptions that 
are unobservable in the market. 

 
The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure certain financial assets and 
liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the financial statements: 
 
Available for Sale Securities (“AFS Securities”) - AFS Securities are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. The 
Company’s investment portfolio is primarily valued using fair value measurements that are considered to be Level 2. 
The Company has contracted with a third-party portfolio accounting service vendor for valuation of its securities 
portfolio. No material differences were identified during the valuation for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022. The carrying value of restricted FRB and FHLB stock approximates fair value based upon the redemption 
provisions of each entity and is therefore excluded from the following table. 
 
Loans Held for Sale - Residential loans originated for sale in the open market are carried at fair value. Fair value is 
based on the price secondary markets are currently offering for similar loans using observable market data which is 
not materially different than cost due to the short duration between origination and sale (Level 2). Gains and losses on 
the sale of loans are recorded within mortgage banking income on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  
 
Derivative assets – IRLCs - The Company recognizes IRLCs at fair value based on the price of the underlying loans 
obtained from an investor for loans that will be delivered on a best-efforts basis while taking into consideration the 
probability that the rate lock commitments will close.  The Company’s IRLCs are classified as Level 2.   
 
Derivative Asset/Liability – Forward Sale Commitments - The Company uses the fair value accounting for its forward 
sales commitments related to IRLCs and LHFS. Best-efforts sales commitments are entered into for loans intended 
for sale in the secondary market at the time the borrower commitment is made. The best-efforts commitments are 
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valued using the committed price to the counterparty against the current market price of the interest rate lock 
commitment or mortgage loan held for sale. The Company’s forward sale commitments are classified Level 2.  
 
The following tables present the balances of financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 
31, 2023, and 2022 (dollars in thousands):  
 

 

 
 
Certain financial assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with GAAP. Adjustments to 
the fair value of these assets usually result from the application of lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write-downs 
of individual assets. 
  
The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Company to measure certain financial assets recorded 
at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in the financial statements: 
 
Collateral Dependent Loans with an ACL - In accordance with ASC 326, we may determine that an individual loan 
exhibits unique risk characteristics which differentiate it from other loans within our loan pools. In such cases, the 
loans are evaluated for expected credit losses on an individual basis and excluded from the collective evaluation. 
Specific allocations of the allowance for credit losses are determined by analyzing the borrower’s ability to repay 
amounts owed, collateral deficiencies, the relative risk grade of the loan and economic conditions affecting the 
borrower’s industry, among other things. A loan  is collateral dependent when, based upon management's assessment, 
the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the 
operation or sale of the collateral. In such cases, expected credit losses are based on the fair value of the collateral at 
the measurement date, adjusted for estimated selling costs if satisfaction of the loan depends on the sale of the 
collateral. We reevaluate the fair value of collateral supporting collateral dependent loans on a quarterly basis. The 

December 31, 2023 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Assets:  
Loans held for sale, F&M Mortgage $        1,119 $                  - $         1,119 $                  - 
U. S. Treasury securities 32,881 - 32,881 - 
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises 124,703                   -                     124,703                   -                     
Securities issued by States and political subdivisions of the US 38,761 - 38,761 - 
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal agencies 145,073 - 145,073 - 
Corporate debt securities 27,256                     - 27,256                     - 
IRLC                81                     -                 81                     - 
   Assets at Fair Value $     369,874    $                  -                   $      369,874   $                  -                   
     
Liabilities:     
Forward sales commitments $               22 $                  - $               22 $                  - 
   Liabilities at Fair Value $               22 $                  - $               22 $                  - 

December 31, 2022 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Assets:  
Loans held for sale, F&M Mortgage $        1,373 $                  - $         1,373 $                  - 
U. S. Treasury securities 36,643 - 36,643 - 
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises 129,748                   -                     129,748                   -                     
Securities issued by States and political subdivisions of the US 42,198 - 42,198 - 
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal agencies 156,875 - 156,875 - 
Corporate debt securities 26,631                     - 26,631                     - 
Forward sales commitments               186                     -                186                     - 
   Assets at Fair Value $     393,654    $                  -                   $      393,654   $                  -                   
     
Liabilities:     
IRLC $               92 $                  - $               92 $                  - 
   Liabilities at Fair Value $               92 $                  - $               92 $                  - 
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fair value of real estate collateral supporting collateral dependent loans is evaluated by appraisal services using a 
methodology that is consistent with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 
 
Other Real Estate Owned - Certain assets such as other real estate owned (OREO) are measured at fair value less cost 
to sell. Valuation of other real estate owned is determined using current appraisals from independent parties, a level 
two input. If current appraisals cannot be obtained prior to reporting dates, or if declines in value are identified after a 
recent appraisal is received, appraisal values are discounted, resulting in Level 3 estimates. If the Company markets 
the property with a realtor, estimated selling costs reduce the fair value, resulting in a valuation based on Level 3 
inputs. The Company had OREO with a carrying value of $55 thousand at December 31, 2023 and no OREO at 
December 31, 2022.  

The Company markets OREO independently and with local realtors. Properties marketed by realtors are discounted 
by selling costs. Properties that the Company markets independently are not discounted by selling costs. 

The following presents the carrying amount, fair value, and placement in the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s 
financial instruments as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollars in thousands).  Fair values for December 31, 2023 
and 2022 are estimated under the exit price notion in accordance with the adoption of ASU 2016-01, “Recognition 
and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” 
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring 
basis during the period (dollars in thousands): 

  Fair Value Measurements Using: 

Collateral dependent loans with an ACL 
Balance at 

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
1-4 family residential construction $                            77 $                 - $                 - $               77 
Owner-occupied commercial real estate 2,737 - - 2,737 
Commercial and industrial                             246                    -                    -               246 
Total collateral dependent loans with an ACL $                       3,060 $                  -                     $                  -         $          3,060 

OREO $                            55 $                  - $                  - $               55 
 
 

  Fair Value Measurements Using: 

Impaired Loans 
Balance at 

December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Construction/Land Development $                        293 $                 - $                  - $            293 
Real Estate           1,286              -                   -          1,286 
Commercial Real Estate 969 - - 969 
Dealer Finance                            42                     -                    -                 42 
Impaired loans $                     2,590 $                  -                     $                  -         $          2,590 

 
 
The following table presents information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements for December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 Fair Value at 
December 31, 2023 

Valuation 
Technique 

Significant Unobservable 
Inputs Range 

Collateral Dependent Loans $     3,060 thousand Discounted 
appraised value 

Discount for selling costs and 
marketability 

31% - 71% 
(Average 44%) 

OREO $           55 thousand Discounted 
appraised value 

Discount for selling costs and 
marketability 

29% 

     
 
 

Fair Value at 
December 31, 2022 

Valuation 
Technique 

Significant Unobservable 
Inputs Range 

Impaired Loans $      2,590 thousand                    Discounted 
appraised value 

Discount for selling costs and 
marketability 

10%-33% 
(Average 19%) 
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2023 Fair Value Measurements using 

  

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
Significant Other 

Observable Inputs 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
Total Fair 

Value 
 Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance 
Assets: 

     

Cash and cash equivalents $               23,717 $                    23,717                              $                           -                               $                         -                            $              23,717                    
Securities 368,674 - 368,674 - 368,674 
Loans held for sale 1,119 - 1,119 - 1,119 
Loans held for investment, net 822,092 - - 793,440 793,440 
Interest receivable 5,034 - 5,034 - 5,034 
Bank owned life insurance       22,878                                -                    22,878                            -                  22,878 
IRLC              81                                -                         81                            -                       81 
Liabilities: 

     

Deposits $          1,133,236  $                             -                                           $            1,131,747                $                    -                          $1,131,747                                   
Short-term debt 60,000 - - 60,000 60,000 
Long-term debt 6,932 - - 6,761 6,761 
Interest payable            1,592                                -                        1,592                            -                    1,592 
Forward sales commitments 22 - 22 - 22 
      

  
2022 Fair Value Measurements using 

  

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 

Significant Other 
Observable 

Inputs 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs Total Fair Value 
 Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance 
Assets: 

     

Cash and cash equivalents $               34,953 $                   34,953                              $                           -                               $                         -                            $                    34,953                    
Securities 392,220 - 392,220 - 392,220 
Loans held for sale 1,373 - 1,373 - 1,373 
Loans held for investment, net 743,604 - - 720,806 720,806 
Interest receivable 3,995 - 3,995 - 3,995 
Bank owned life insurance       23,554                               -                    23,554                            -                       23,554 
Forward sales commitments              186                               -                         186                            -                            186 
Liabilities: 

     

Deposits $          1,083,377  $                             -                                           $            1,080,909                $                    -                          $      1,080,909                                   
Short-term debt 70,000 - - 70,000 70,000 
Long-term debt 6,890 - - 6,778 6,778 
IRLC 92 - 92 - 92 
Interest payable            295                                -                          295                            -                            295 

 
 
NOTE 16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan - The Company has a qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plan which 
covers substantially all employees hired before April 1, 2012.  The plan was amended on February 15, 2023 to stop 
the accrual of future benefits. The Company uses December 31 as the measurement date for the defined benefit pension 
plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
73 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets for 
2023 and 2022 (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Change in Benefit Obligation  
Benefit obligation, beginning $         8,011 $         15,557 
Service cost - 759 
Interest cost 370 415 
Actuarial loss 56 (5,421) 
Benefits paid           (1,194)           (1,145) 
Decrease in Obligation due to Curtailment            -           (2,154) 
Settlement (gain)            (173)                    - 
Benefit obligation, ending $         7,070 $         8,011 
   
Change in Plan Assets   
Fair value of plan assets, beginning $         7,787          $         11,235          
Actual return on plan assets 909 (2,303) 
Benefits paid            (1,194)            (1,145) 
Fair value of plan assets, ending $           7,502 $           7,787 
Funded status at the end of the year $              432 $           (224) 

The fair value of plan assets is measured based on the fair value hierarchy as discussed in Note 15, “Fair Value 
Measurements” to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The valuations are based on third party data received as of 
the balance sheet date. All plan assets are considered Level 1 assets, as quoted prices exist in active markets for 
identical assets.  

 2023 2022 
Amount recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet  
Prepaid benefit cost $                  (526) $                  (780) 
Overfunded pension benefit obligation under ASC 325-960 959 556 
Deferred taxes (85) (995) 
   
Amount recognized in accumulated other   
comprehensive loss   
Net (gain) $                    (959)                  $                     (556)                  
Prior service cost                            -                            - 
Amount recognized (959) (556) 
Deferred taxes                       201                        117 
Amount recognized in accumulated comprehensive (loss) $                   (758) $                   (439) 
   
Accrued benefit detail   
Benefit obligation $                 (7,070) $                 (8,011) 
Fair value of assets 7,502 7,787 
Unrecognized net actuarial (income)                       (959)                       (556) 
Accrued benefits $                    (527) $                    (780) 
   
Components of net periodic benefit cost   
Service cost $                           - $                       758 
Interest cost 370 415 
Expected return on plan assets (520) (781) 
Recognized net gain due to settlement (104) - 
Recognized net actuarial loss                              -                          232 
Net periodic benefit cost $                     (254) $                       624 
   
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations   
  recognized in other comprehensive (income) loss   
Net gain $                 (403) $                 (4,722) 
Amortization of prior service cost                            -                            - 
Total recognized in other comprehensive income $                 (403) $                 (4,722) 
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Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other    
  Comprehensive (loss) income $                 (657) $                 (4,098) 
   
Additional disclosure information   
Accumulated benefit obligation $                    7,070 $                    8,011 
Vested benefit obligation $                    7,070 $                    8,011 
Discount rate used for net pension cost 5.00% 2.75% 
Discount rate used for disclosure 4.75% 5.00% 
Expected return on plan assets 7.25% 7.25% 
Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 3.00% 
Average remaining service (years) 10.71 10.89 

 
Funding Policy - Due to the current funding status of the plan, the Company did not make a contribution in 2023 or 2022.  
The net periodic pension cost of the plan for 2024 will be approximately ($150 thousand).  The Company was subject to 
settlement accounting in 2023 and may be subject to settlement accounting in 2024. As of February 15, 2023, the Virginia 
Bankers Association Defined Benefit Plan for Farmers & Merchants Bank was amended to stop the accrual of future 
benefits. 
 
Long-Term Rate of Return - The Company, as plan sponsor, selects the expected long-term rate of return on assets 
assumption in consultation with investment advisors and the plan actuary.  This rate is intended to reflect the average 
rate of earnings expected to be earned on the funds invested or to be invested to provide plan benefits. Historical 
performance is reviewed, especially with respect to real rates of return (net of inflation) for the major asset classes 
held or anticipated to be held by the trust. Undue weight is not given to recent experience, which may not continue 
over the measurement period, with higher significance placed on current forecasts of future long-term economic 
conditions. 
 
Because assets are held in a qualified trust, anticipated returns are not reduced for taxes.  Further, and solely for this 
purpose, the plan is assumed to continue in force and not terminate during the period during which the assets are invested.  
However, consideration is given to the potential impact of current and future investment policy, cash flow into and out 
of the trust, and expenses (both investment and non-investment) typically paid from plan assets (to the extent such 
expenses are not explicitly estimated within periodic cost). 
 
Asset Allocation - The trust fund is sufficiently diversified to maintain a reasonable level of risk without imprudently 
sacrificing return. The Investment Manager selects investment fund managers with demonstrated experience and 
expertise, and funds with demonstrated historical performance. Both actively and passively managed investment 
strategies will allocate funds across the asset classes to develop an efficient investment structure.  The pension plan’s 
weighted-average asset allocations as of December 31, 2023 was 40% fixed income and 60% equity; the weighted-
average asset allocations for December 31, 2022, was 38% fixed income and 62% equity. 
 
Estimated Future Benefit Payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, as of December 31, 2023, are 
as follows (dollars in thousands): 

2024 $                    809 
2025 551 
2026 957 
2027 1,124 
2028 619 
2029-2033                     1,859 
 $                  5,919 

 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) - The Company sponsors an ESOP, known as the F&M Bank Corp. Stock 
Bonus Plan (the “Plan”), which provides stock ownership to substantially all employees of the Company.  The Plan 
provides total vesting upon the attainment of five years of service.  Contributions to the plan are made at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors and are allocated based on the compensation of each employee relative to total compensation 
paid by the Company.  All shares issued and held by the Plan are considered outstanding in the computation of earnings 
per share. Dividends on Company stock are allocated and paid to participants at least annually. Shares of Company stock, 
when distributed, have restrictions on transferability.  The Company contributed $246 thousand in 2023 and $496 
thousand in 2022 to the Plan and charged this expense to operations.  The shares held by the ESOP totaled 170,905 and 
170,905 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
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401(k) Plan - The Company sponsors a 401(k) savings plan under which eligible employees may choose to save up to 
20 percent of their salary on a pretax basis, subject to certain IRS limits. Under the Federal Safe Harbor rules employees 
are automatically enrolled at 3% (this increases by 1% per year up to 6%) of their salary unless elected otherwise.  The 
Company matches one hundred percent of the first 1% contributed by the employee and fifty percent from 2% to 6% of 
employee contributions. Vesting in the contributions made by the Company is 100% after two years of service.  
Contributions under the plan amounted to $478 thousand and $475 thousand in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Deferred Compensation Plan - The Company has a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for its key employees and 
directors. The Company may make annual contributions to the plan, and the employee or director has the option to defer 
a portion of their salary or bonus based on qualifying annual elections. Contributions to the plan totaled $182 thousand 
in 2023 and $187 thousand in 2022.  A liability is accrued for the obligation under the plan and totaled $3.6 million and 
$3.4 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.    
 
Investments in Life Insurance Contracts - The Bank currently offers a variety of benefit plans to all full-time employees. 
The costs of these plans are generally tax deductible to the Bank; however, to help offset the benefit costs and to attract 
and retain qualified employees, the Bank purchased Bank Owned Life Insurance (“BOLI”) contracts that will provide 
benefits to employees during their lifetime. Dividends received on these policies are tax-deferred and the death benefits 
under the policies are tax exempt.  Rates of return on a tax-equivalent basis are favorable when compared to other long-
term investments which the Bank might make.  The accrued liability related to the BOLI contracts was $706 thousand 
and $729 thousand for December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Stock Incentive Plan - The Company has a Stock Incentive Plan was adopted by the Company’s Board, effective upon 
shareholder approval on May 2, 2020 and will expire on March 18, 2030. The plan provides for the granting of an 
option, restricted stock, restricted stock unit, stock appreciation right, or stock award to employees, directors, and 
consultants. It authorizes the issuance of up to 200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. 
 
The Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors administers the plan including designating 
employees, directors, or other recipients to whom awards are to be granted, the amount of the award or equity to be 
granted, and the terms and conditions applicable to each award. On March 7, 2024, the Company’s Compensation 
Committee awarded 33,568 shares with a fair value of $597 thousand from this plan to selected employees. These shares 
vest 25% over each of the next four years. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 the total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to the nonvested restricted stock awards were $573 thousand and $580 thousand, respectively. 
 
The following table summarizes the status of the Company’s nonvested awards for the year ended December 31, 2023: 
 

 
Shares 

Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair 
Value Per Share 

Nonvested at December 31, 2022 26,456 $                                                 29.24 
Granted 24,865 22.34 
Vested (8,283) 22.34 
Forfeited       (10,081) 26.38 
Nonvested at December 31, 2023          32,957 25.25 

 
 
NOTE 17 INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE 
 
The components of income tax expense were as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Current (benefit) expense $       (946) $             571 
Deferred expense (benefit)               200               (91) 
Total Income Tax (Benefit) Expense $          (746) $             480 
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The components of deferred taxes as of December 31, were as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 2023 2022 
Deferred Tax Assets:   
Allowance for credit losses $            1,747 $            1,667 
Allowance for unfunded commitments 146 - 
Split Dollar Life Insurance 3 3 
Nonqualified deferred compensation 804 580 
Low-income housing partnerships losses 444 375 
Core deposit amortization 30 29 
Lease Liability 148 170 
Prepaid pension 44 45 
Unvested restricted stock 61 19 
Net unrealized loss on securities available for sale             8,446             10,753 
Total Assets $          11,873 $          13,641 

 
The following table summarizes the differences between the actual income tax expense and the amounts computed using 
the federal statutory tax rates (dollars in thousands): 

 2023 2022 
Tax expense at federal statutory rates $           425                 $        1,848                 
Increases (decreases) in taxes resulting from:   
  Tax-exempt income (288) (228) 
  LIH and historic credits (853) (868) 
  Other              (30)            (272) 
Total Income Tax (Benefit) Expense $         (746) $            480 

 
The Company has analyzed the tax positions taken or expected to be taken in its tax returns and concluded it has no 
liability related to uncertain tax positions in accordance with accounting guidance related to income taxes. The 
Company and its subsidiaries file federal income tax returns and state income tax returns. With few exceptions, the 
Company is no longer subject to federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020. 
 
NOTE 18 REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
The majority of the Company’s noninterest income is generated from short-term contracts for fees on deposit accounts, 
ATM and check cards, and annuity and insurance commissions that is accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  
 
Service charges on deposit accounts consist of account maintenance charges and overdrawn account fees. The 
Company’s performance obligation is generally satisfied, and the related revenue recognized, immediately, when the 
transaction occurs, or by month-end. Investment services and insurance income consists primarily of commissions 
received on mutual funds and other investment sales that are recognized on the trade date, which is when the Company 
has satisfied its performance obligation. Title insurance and real estate settlement services revenue is recognized at 
the time the real estate transaction is completed. ATM and Check Card Fees are primarily comprised of debit and 
credit card income, ATM fees, merchant services income, and other service charges. The Company’s performance 
obligation is generally satisfied, and the related revenue recognized, immediately, when the transaction occurs, or by 
month-end. Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the underlying transaction value 
and are recognized no less than monthly. 

 2023 2022 
Deferred Tax Liabilities:              
Unearned low-income housing credits $                  15                  $                34                  
Depreciation 738 506 
Investment in limited liability companies 47 - 
Unfunded pension benefit obligation 201 117 
Goodwill tax amortization 589 583 
Right of Use Asset                  142                  165 
Total Liabilities               1,732               1,405 
Net Deferred Tax Asset (included in Other Assets on Balance Sheet) $           10,141 $          12,236 
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Noninterest income, segregated by revenue streams in-scope and out-of-scope of ASC 606, for December 31, 2023 
and 2022 consisted of the following (dollars in thousands).   

 Twelve Months Ended December 31, 
  2023 2022 
Noninterest income     

Service Charges on Deposits $                 1,029 $                 1,062 
Investment Services and Insurance Income 1,732 1,472 
Title Insurance Income 1,334 1,578 
ATM and check card fees 2,636 2,462 
Other                      783                      815 

Within scope of ASC 606                    7,514                    7,389 
Not within scope of ASC 606                   2,640                   3,903 

Total noninterest income $                 10,154 $               11,292 
 
NOTE 19 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company may have loans issued to its executive officers, directors, and principal 
shareholders. Pursuant to its policy, such loans are made in the ordinary course of business and do not involve more than 
the normal risk of collectability. 
 
The Company’s subsidiary bank has made loans, in the normal course of business, to the directors and officers of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, and to their associates. The aggregate dollar amount of these loans was $24.5 million and 
$24.9 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During 2023, $7.6 million of new loans were made and 
repayments totaled $4.4 million. There was a net decrease of $687 thousand due to changes in individuals classified as a 
related party. 
 
Deposits from related parties held by the Bank at December 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to $11.8 million and $9.2 
million respectively. 
 
NOTE 20 PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
The primary source of funds for the dividends paid by F&M Bank Corp. (for this note only, the “Parent Company”) is 
dividends received from its subsidiaries. The payments of dividends by the Bank to the Parent Company are subject to 
certain statutory limitations which contemplate that the current year earnings and earnings retained for the two preceding 
years may be paid to the Parent Company without regulatory approval. As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate amount 
of unrestricted funds that could be transferred from the Bank to the Parent Company without prior regulatory approval 
totaled approximately $14.8 million or 18.89% of the consolidated shareholders’ equity. No dividends were paid by the 
Bank to the Parent Company in 2023. 
 
Financial information for the Parent Company is as follows: 
 

PARENT COMPANY 
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023 and 2022 
(Dollars in thousands) 

 2023 2022 
Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents $                 1,781 $                 6,747 
Investment in subsidiaries 81,943 71,093 
Other assets                     1,763                       613 
   Total assets $                85,487 $                78,453 
   
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   
Long-term borrowings 6,932 6,890 
Other liabilities                       232                       771 
   Total liabilities                    7,164                    7,661 
   Total shareholders' equity                   78,323                   70,792 
      Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $                85,487 $                78,453 
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PARENT COMPANY 
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
YEARS ENDED December 31, 2023 and 2022 

(Dollars in thousands) 
 

 2023 2022 
Income  
Dividends received from subsidiaries $                      - $           6,000 
Other operating income                     45                   49 
   Total income                      45              6,049 
Expenses   
Interest expense 459 711 
Other operating expenses                      15                      - 
   Total expenses                    474                 711 
Net (loss) income before income taxes and equity in undistributed net income from 
subsidiaries 

(429) 5,338 

Income tax benefit                 (143)              (172) 
Equity in undistributed net income from subsidiaries                 3,057              2,808 
Net Income  $              2,771 $           8,318 

 
 
 
 
 

PARENT COMPANY 
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 and 2022 

(Dollars in thousands) 
 

 2023 2022 
Operating activities:  
Net income $            2,771 $        8,318 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:   
   Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries (3,057) (2,808) 
   Amortization of debt issuance costs 42 118 
   (Increase) decrease in other assets (1,150) 544 
   (Decrease) increase in other liabilities  (540)  33 
   Share based compensation expense                  259              193 
      Net cash (used) provided by operating activities            (1,425)           6,398 
   
Investing activities:   
   Purchase limited liability interest               (250)            (220) 
      Net cash used in investing activities               (250)            (220) 
   
Financing activities:   
   Repayments of long-term borrowings - (5,000) 
   Proceeds from the sale of common stock 292 279 
   Proceeds from issuance of common stock 29 56 
   Dividends paid in cash            (3,612)         (3,590) 
      Net cash used in financing activities            (3,291)         (8,255) 
   
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,966) (2,077) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year               6,747           8,824 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $            1,781 $        6,747 
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NOTE 21 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
 
On March 12, 2024, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the Virginia Bankers Association Defined 
Benefit Plan for Farmers & Merchants Bank to terminate the plan and fully vest all Participants effective June 1, 2024. 
The Plan was frozen to new participants effective April 1, 2012 and benefit accruals were frozen effective February 
15, 2023. All vested benefit liabilities under the Plan will be paid following receipt of Internal Revenue Service 
approval and the expiration of time required for the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to object. 
 
Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 
 
None. 
 
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures.  
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
The Company's management evaluated, with the participation of the Company's principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer, the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 
13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period 
covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 31, 2023 to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange 
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified by the Company's 
management, including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the 
Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, the Company believes that no system of controls, no matter 
how well designed and operated, can provide absolute assurance that all control issues have been detected. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
To the F&M Bank Corp.: 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements included 
in this annual report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and reflect management's judgments and estimates 
concerning effects of events and transactions that are accounted for or disclosed. 
 
Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. 
The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the 
Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report reliable financial data. Management recognizes that there 
are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility 
of human error and the circumvention or overriding of internal control. Accordingly, even effective internal control 
over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to consolidated financial statement 
preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
may vary over time. 
 
In order to ensure that the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective, management regularly 
assesses such controls and did so most recently for its financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. This assessment 
was based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal Control Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO, 2013) of the Treadway Commission. Based 
on this assessment, management believes the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2023. This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company's independent 
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registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not 
subject to attestation by the Company's registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management's report in its annual report. 
 
The Board of Directors, acting through its Audit Committee, is responsible for the oversight of the Company's 
accounting policies, financial reporting and internal control. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is 
comprised entirely of outside directors who are independent of management. The Audit Committee is responsible for 
the appointment and compensation of the independent registered public accounting firm and approves decisions 
regarding the appointment or removal of the Company's internal auditors.  
It meets periodically with management, the independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors to 
ensure that they are carrying out their responsibilities.  
 
The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing an oversight role by reviewing and monitoring the financial, 
accounting and auditing procedures of the Company in addition to reviewing the Company's financial reports. The 
independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors have full and unlimited access to the Audit 
Committee, with or without management, to discuss the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, and any 
other matter which they believe should be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee. 
 
Item 9B.  Other Information.  
 
None. 
 
Item 9C.   Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. 
 
None. 
 
PART III 
 
Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 
 
Information regarding directors, executive officers and the audit committee financial expert is incorporated by 
reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the Company’s 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
to be held on May 18, 2024 (“Proxy Statement”), under the captions “Corporate Governance and the Board of 
Directors – Committees of the Board – Audit Committee” and “Executive Officers who are not Directors.”  
 
Information on Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance for the directors and executive officers of the 
Company is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under the caption “Delinquent Section 16(a) 
Reports.”  
 
The Company has adopted a broad-based code of ethics for all employees and directors. The Company has also 
adopted a code of ethics tailored to senior officers who have financial responsibilities. A copy of the codes may be 
obtained without charge by request from the corporate secretary.  
 
Item 11.  Executive Compensation.  
 
This information is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under the caption “Executive Compensation.”  
 
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder 
Matters.  
 
This information is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under the captions “Security Ownership of 
Directors and Executive Officers,” “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Executive 
Compensation.”  
 
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  
 
This information is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under the caption “Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance and the Board of Directors – Independence of Directors.”  
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Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 
 
This information is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under the caption “Fees of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm.”  
 
 
PART IV 
 
Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 
 
The following financial statements are filed as a part of this report: 
 
(a)(1)  Financial Statements  
 
The following consolidated financial statements and reports of independent auditors of the Company are in Part II, 
Item 8 on pages 34 thru 41: 
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 613) ........................................................... 34 
Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2023 and 2022 ..................................................................................... 36 
Consolidated Statements of Income - Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 ...................................................... 37 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022................. 38 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity – Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022….…....39 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022……………………………….40 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements .......................................................................................................... 42 
 
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules 
 
All schedules are omitted since they are not required, are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the 
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto. 
 
(a)(3) Exhibits 
 
The following exhibits are filed as a part of this Form 10-K: 
Exhibit No.  
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of F&M Bank Corp., incorporated herein by reference from F & M Bank 

Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2013. 
3.2 Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of F&M Bank Corp. designating the Series A 

Preferred Stock, incorporated herein by reference from F&M Bank Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
December 4, 2014. 

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of F & M Bank Corp., incorporated herein by reference from F&M Bank Corp.’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 24, 2020. 

4.1       Description of Securities, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to F&M Bank Corp’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed March 16, 2020. 

4.3  Form of 2030 Subordinated Note, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to F&M Bank Corp.’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 31, 2020. 

10.2+ VBA Executives Deferred Compensation Plan for Farmers & Merchants Bank, incorporated herein by 
reference from F & M Bank Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 28, 2014.  

10.3+ VBA Directors Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan for Farmers & Merchants Bank, incorporated 
herein by reference from F & M Bank Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 28, 2014.  

10.5+  Employment Agreement, dated December 30, 2020, by and between F&M Bank Corp. and Barton E. 
Black, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to F&M Bank Corp.’s Current Report on Form 
8-K, filed January 6, 2021. 

10.6+ F&M Bank Corp. 2020 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to F&M 
Bank Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 11, 2020. 

10.7+ Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.7 from 
F&M Bank Corp.’s Form 10-K, filed March 22, 2023. 

10.8 Form of Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to F&M 
Bank Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 31, 2020. 
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10.10+ Employment Agreement, dated January 4, 2021, by and between F&M Bank Corp. and Aubrey Michael 
Wilkerson, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.10 from F&M Bank Corp.’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K, filed March 22, 2023. 

10.11+ Employment Agreement, dated October 18, 2022, by and between F&M Bank Corp. and Lisa F. Campbell, 
incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to F&M Bank Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 24, 2022. 

21.0 Subsidiaries of the Registrant  
23.1 Consent of Yount, Hyde & Barbour, P.C. 
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002. 
101 The following materials from F&M Bank Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 

31, 2023, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL), include: (i) Consolidated Balance 
Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(Loss), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows and (vi) related notes (furnished herewith).  

104 The cover page from F&M Bank Corp.’s Annual Report or Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2023, formatted in Inline XBRL (included with Exhibit 101) 

 
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan 
 
Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary. 
 
Registrants may voluntarily include a summary of information required by Form 10-K under this Item 16. We have 
elected not to include such summary information. 
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SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 F & M Bank Corp. 
 (Registrant) 
 
By: /s/ Aubrey M. Wilkerson   March 27, 2024  
 Aubrey M. Wilkerson  Date 
 Director and Chief Executive Officer 
 (Principal Executive Officer) 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and as of the date indicated. 
 
 Signature   Title   Date  
 
/s/ Aubrey M. Wilkerson  Director and Chief Executive Officer  March 27, 2024  
Aubrey M. Wilkerson (Principal Executive Officer) 
 
/s/ Lisa F. Campbell  Executive Vice President and   March 27, 2024  
Lisa F. Campbell Chief Financial Officer 
   (Principal Financial Officer and 
   Principal Accounting Officer)   
 
/s/ Michael W. Pugh  Director, Chair  March 27, 2024  
Michael W. Pugh  
 
/s/ E. Ray Burkholder  Director  March 27, 2024  
E. Ray Burkholder 
 
/s/ Larry A. Caplinger  Director  March 27, 2024  
Larry A. Caplinger 
 
/s/ Hannah Hutman  Director  March 27, 2024  
Hannah Hutman 
 
/s/ Anne Keeler  Director  March 27, 2024  
Anne Keeler 
 
/s/ Christopher S. Runion  Director  March 27, 2024  
Christopher S. Runion 
 
/s/ Daphyne Thomas  Director  March 27, 2024  
Daphyne Thomas 
 
/s/ John Willingham  Director  March 27, 2024  
John Willingham 
 
/s/ Dean W. Withers  Director  March 27, 2024  
Dean W. Withers 
 
/s/ Peter H. Wray  Director  March 27, 2024  
Peter H. Wray 
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Exhibit 21 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
 
Farmers & Merchants Bank (incorporated in Virginia) 
VSTitle, LLC (a Virginia Limited Liability Company) 
Farmers & Merchants Financial Services (incorporated in Virginia), a subsidiary of Farmers & Merchants Bank 
VBS Mortgage, LLC, DBA F&M Mortgage (a Virginia Limited Liability Company), a subsidiary of Farmers & 

Merchants Bank 
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Exhibit 23.1 

 

 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements No. 333-160715 on Form S-3 and No. 333-
244322 and No. 333-159074 on Form S-8 of F&M Bank Corp. and Subsidiaries of our report dated March 27, 2024, 
relating to the consolidated financial statements, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of F&M Bank Corp. 
and Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
/s/ Yount, Hyde & Barbour, P.C. 
 
Roanoke, Virginia 
March 27, 2024 
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Exhibit 31.1 
CERTIFICATION 

OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

(Chapter 63, Title 18 USC Section 1350 (A) and (B)) 
 
I, Aubrey M. Wilkerson, certify that:  
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of F & M Bank Corp.; 
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f), and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and 
have:  

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to 

be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including 
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the 
period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial    
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of 
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board 
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

   
Date: March 27, 2024     
  

  
/s/ Aubrey M. Wilkerson 

 
  

  
Aubrey M. Wilkerson 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been 
provided to F & M Bank Corp. and will be retained by F & M Bank Corp. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or its staff upon request. 

 



 

 
87 

Exhibit 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATION 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

Pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(Chapter 63, Title 18 USC Section 1350 (A) and (B)) 

 
I, Lisa F. Campbell, certify that:  
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of F & M Bank Corp.; 
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f), and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and 
have:  

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to 

be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including 
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the 
period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial    
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of 
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board 
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 

Date: March 27, 2024    
   
 

  
/s/ Lisa F. Campbell 

 
  

  
Lisa F. Campbell 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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A signed original of this written statement required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been 
provided to F & M Bank Corp. and will be retained by F & M Bank Corp. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or its staff upon request. 

 
Exhibit 32.1 

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted  
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

 
In connection with the Annual Report of F & M Bank Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending 
December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the 
undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
§1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that based on their knowledge and belief: 1) 
the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and 
2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company as of and for the periods covered in the Report.  
 
 
/s/ Aubrey M. Wilkerson  
Aubrey M. Wilkerson 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
/s/ Lisa F. Campbell  
Lisa F. Campbell 
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer 
 
March 27, 2024 
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